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(1)A has filed all reports required to be filed by SectionA 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2)A has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days.YesA A 4~A A A A NoA A &"Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required
to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (A§232 405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to submit such files).YesA A 4’A A A A NoA A 4"Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large
accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions
of a€celarge accelerated filer,a€ a€ceaccelerated filer,a€ &€cesmaller reporting companya€ and &€ceemerging growth companyéa€ in Rule 12b-2 of
the Exchange Act:A LargeA acceleratedA filera~Accelerated filerdA”Non-accelerated filerd™’SmallerA reportingA companya™Emerging growth
companya”’If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for
complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.A A 4"Indicate by check
mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes a” No a™’As of NovemberA 5, 2024, there were
86,214,225 shares of common stock, including 21,218,110A shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, 0 shares of Class B
common stock, par value $0.0001 per share and 64,996,115 shares of Class V common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, outstanding. Table of
ContentsPart I. Financial InformationItem 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited)Consolidated Balance Sheets2Consolidated Statements of
Operations4Consolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity5Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows7Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements9Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations27Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk45Item 4. Controls and Procedures45Part II. Other InformationItem 1. Legal Proceedings46Item 1A. Risk
Factors46Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds46Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities46Item 4. Mine Safety
Disclosures46Item 5. Other Information46Item 6. Exhibits47Signatures48iCAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT
FUTURE RESULTSThis Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes a€ceforward-looking statementsa€ within the meaning of the a€cesafe harbora€
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the a€ceExchange Acta€). All statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q including, without limitation, statements in &€ceManagementa€™ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operationsa€ regarding the Companya€™s financial position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for
future operations, are forward-looking statements. Words such as d€oeexpect,a€ a€ceestimate,a€ a€ceproject,a€ a€cebudget,a€ a€oeforecast,a€
a€ceanticipate,a€ a€meintend,a€ a€ceplan,a€ a€mwemay,a€ a€cewill,a€ a€cecould,a€ d€ceshould,a€ a€mwebelieves,a€ a€cepredicts,a€ a€cepotential,a€
d€mepossible,a€ d€mecontinue,a€ and variations and similar words and expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such
forward-looking statements relate to future events or future performance, but reflect managementa€™s current beliefs, based on information
currently available and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expected and projected.A
number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the impact of general economic conditions,
including economic slowdowns, inflation, interest rate changes, recessions, and tightening of credit markets on our business; the impact of
challenging macroeconomic and marketplace conditions; the impact of stimulus or other government programs; whether we will be successful in
obtaining declaratory relief against the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation for the State of California;
whether we will be subject to AB 539; whether our bank partners will continue to lend in California and whether our financing sources will
continue to finance the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners in California; our ability to scale and grow the
Bitty business; the impact that events involving financial institutions or the financial services industry generally, such as actual concerns or events
involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance, may have on our business; risks related to the material weakness in our internal controls over
financial reporting; our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and retain our key employees; risks related to new products; risks related to
evaluating and potentially consummating acquisitions; concentration risk; risks related to our ability to comply with various covenants in our
corporate and warehouse credit facilities; costs related to the business combination; changes in applicable laws or regulations; the possibility that
we may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; risks related to management transitions; risks related to
the restatement of our financial statements and any accounting deficiencies or weaknesses related thereto and other risks contained in the section
captioned a€ceRisk Factorsa€ in the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 27, 2024 (a€0e2023 Annual Reporta€). Except as expressly required by applicable securities law, the Company disclaims any intention or
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.1Table of
ContentsPART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATIONITEMA 1. A A A A FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesA A A A Consolidated
Balance Sheets (Unaudited)(in thousands, except share data)September 30,December 31,20242023AssetsCash(1)$44, 838A $31, 791A Restricted
cash(1)29,395A 42,152A Total cash and restricted cash74,233A 73,943A Finance receivables at fair value(1)461,457A 463,320A Finance
receivables at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses of $2 and $346 as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023,
respectlvelySA 110A Settlement receivable(1)5,112A 1,904A Equlty method investment19,4294€”Debt issuance costs,

net(1)3,226A 3,834A Property, equipment and software, netl1, 399A 10,292A Operating lease right-of-use assets10, 974A 12,180A Deferred tax
asset22,277A 25,777A Other assets(1)11,151A 10,183A Total assets$619 266A $601,543A Liabilities and Stockholders' EquityLiabilities:Accounts
payable(1)$4, QSSA $4, 4‘¥ZA Accrued expen§es(1)2§ 735A 22,006A Operating lease liabilities13, 741A 15,061A Senior debt, A .
net(1)325,550A 332,667A Note payablea€”A 1,449A Warrant liabilities4,114A 6,864A Tax receivable agreement liability25,135A 25,025A Total
liabilities398,960A 407,514A Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)Stockholders' equity:Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value (1,000,000 shares
authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023)a€”A a€”A Class A common stock, $0.0001
par value (379,000,000 shares authorized with 22,320,973 shares issued and 20,582,349 shares outstanding as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and
19,554,774 shares issued and 18,850,860 shares outstanding as of DecemberA 31, 2023)2A 2A Class B common stock, $0.0001 par value
(6,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023)a€”A a€”A Class V
voting stock, $0.0001 par value (115,000,000 shares authorized with 65,492,957 and 91,898,193 shares issued and outstanding as of




SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively)7A 9A Additional paid-in capital91,528A 76,480A Accumulated deficit(50,638)
(63,591)Treasury stock, at cost (1,738,624 and 703,914 shares as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively)(6,011)
(2,460)Total OppFi Inc.'s stockholders' equity34,888A 10,440A Noncontrolling interest185,418A 183,589A Total stockholders'

equity220,306A 194,029A Total liabilities and stockholders' equity$619,266A $601,543A (1) Includes amounts in consolidated variable interest
entities ("VIEs") presented separately in the table below.Continued on next page2Table of ContentsOppFi Inc. and

SubsidiariesA A A A Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) - Continued(in thousands)The following table summarizes the consolidated assets
and liabilities of VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The assets below may only be used to settle obligations of VIEs and
are in excess of those obligations.September 30,December 31,20242023Assets of consolidated VIEs, included in total assets

aboveCash$247A $368A Restricted cash19,574A 32,782A Total cash and restricted cash19,821A 33,150A Finance receivables at fair
value398,743A 417,138A Settlement receivable5,112A 1,904A Debt issuance costs, net3,226A 3,834A Other assets15A 7A Total

assets$426,917A $456,033A Liabilities of consolidated VIEs, included in total liabilities aboveAccounts payable$11A $5A Accrued
expenses3,170A 3,614A Senior debt, net285,767A 283,213A Total liabilities$288,948A $286,832A See notes to consolidated financial
statements.3Table of ContentsOppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesConsolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)(in thousands, except share and per
share data)Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September 30,2024202320242023Revenue:Interest and loan related
income$135,535A $132,090A $386,890A $373,615A Other revenuel,058A 1,075A 3,350A 2,410A 136,593A 133,165A 390,240A 376,025A Change
in fair value of finance receivables(45,425)(57,302)(149,546)(164,463)Provision for credit losses on finance receivables(3)(195)(34)(4,131)Net
revenue91,165A 75,668A 240,660A 207,431A Expenses:Salaries and employee benefits13,803A 14,761A 46,028A 45,407A Direct marketing
costs13,570A 14,075A 35,890A 38,003A Interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs11,285A 12,077A 33,679A 34,679A Professional
fee55,714A 5,067A 15,993A 13,984A Technology costs3,041A 3,141A 9,062A 9,587A Depreciation and

amortization2,280A 3,119A 7,495A 9,827A Payment processing fees1,725A 2,989A 5,487A 7,762A Occupancy1,005A 1,108A 2,989A 3,322A Exit
costs61A a€”A 2,946A a€”A Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held for sale to held for

investmenta€”A 4€”A 4€”A (2, 983)General, administrative and other3, 589A 3,750A 11,228A 10,198A Total

expenses56,073A 60,087A 170,797A 169,786A Income from operations35,092A 15,581A 69,863A 37,645A Other (expense) income:Change in fair
value of warrant liabilities(1,445)334A 2,750A 838A Income from equity method investment627A 4€”A 627A 4€”A Other

income80A 80A 239A 352A Income before income taxes34,354A 15,995A 73,479A 38,835A Income tax expense2,297A 463A 3,615A 1,297A Net
income32,057A 15,532A 69,864A 37,538A Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest27,793A 13,363A 56,997A 32,976A Net income
attributable to OppFi Inc.$4,264A $2,169A $12,867A $4,562A Earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:Earnings per common
share:Basic$0.21A $0.13A $0.65A $0.29A Diluted$0.21A $0.13A $0.65A $0.29A Weighted average common shares
outstanding:Basic20,248,00416,772,27519,711,75215,820,262Diluted20,248,00417,057,77820,460,39616,046,831See notes to consolidated
financial statements.4Table of ContentsOppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesConsolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity (Unaudited)(in thousands,
except share data)Class A Common StockClass V Voting StockAdditional Paid-AccumulatedTreasuryNoncontrollingTotal

Stockholdersa€ ™ SharesAmountSharesAmountin CapitalDeficitStockInterestEquityBalance, June 30,

202419,600,819A $2A 91,286,966A $9A $80,951A $(57,341)$(4,993)$183, 061A $201,689A Exchange of Class V

shares1,028,860A a€”A (1 028 860)a€ 'A 9,538A 2,439A a€”A (11,977)a€”A Issuance of common stock under equity incentive

plan224, 564}A a€:’A a€’:A a€fA a€‘iA a€’:A a€’:A a€’:A a€ ”A Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase

plan60,971A a€”A a€”A a€”A 175A a€”A a€”A a€”A 175A Issuance of Class V shares related to equity

investmenta€”A a€”A 734,851A a€”A 2,836A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A 2,836A Forfeiture of Class V shares related to forfeiture of earnout

unitsa€”A 4€”A (25,500,000)(2)2A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4€”A Stock-based Compensatlona€ 'A 4€”A 3€”A a€”A 1,086A a€”A a€”A 4€”A 1,086A Tax
withholding on vesting of restricted stock units(67,870)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A (263)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A (263)Purchase of treasury

stock(264,995)a€”A 4€”A &€”A 4€”A 4€”A (1,018)a€”A (1,018)Member distributions&€”A &€”A 4€”A 4€”A 4€”A 4€”A 3€"A (13,459)(13,459)Tax
receivable agreementa€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A (163)a€ "A a€”A a€”A (163)Deferred tax asseta€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A (2,634)a€”A a€”A a€”A (2,634)Net
incomea€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4,264A a€”A 27,793A 32,057A Balance, September 30,

202420,582,349A $2A 65,492,957A $7A $91,528A $(50,638)$(6,011)$185,418A $220,306A Balance, June 30,

202316,280,397$2A 94,037,840$9A $70,889A $(60,993)$(2,460)$169,543A $176,990A Exchange of Class V
shares857,1044€”(857,104)a€"1,4533034a€"(1,756)a€"Issuance of common stock under equity incentive
plan311,1253€”a€"a€"a€"a€"”a€"a€"”a€ " Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan99,503a€”a€”a€"”171a€”a€"”a€"171Stock-
based compensationd€”a€”a€”a€"1,086a€”a€"a€”1,086Tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock
units(136,287)a€”a€”a€”(280)a€”a€"”a€”(280)Member distributionsa€”a€”a€”a€"a€"a€”a€"(2,730)(2,730)Tax receivable
agreementa€”a€”a€”a€”(21)a€”a€”a€”(21)Deferred tax asseta€”a€”a€”a€”(915)a€”a€”a€”(915)Net
incomea€”a€”a€"a€"4€"2,1694€"13,36315,532Balance, September 30, A A

202317,411,842A $2A 93,180,736A $9A $72,383A $(58,521)$(2,460)$178,420A $189,833A Continued on next page50ppFi Inc. and
SubsidiariesConsolidated Statements of Stockholdersa€™ Equity (Unaudited) - Continued(in thousands, except share data)Class A Common
StockClass V Voting StockAdditional Paid-AccumulatedTreasuryNoncontrollingTotal Stockholdersd€ ™ SharesAmountSharesAmountin
CapitalDeficitStockInterestEquityBalance, December 31,

202318,850,860A $2A 91,898,193A $9A $76,480A $(63, 591)$(2,460)$183, 589A $194,029A Exchange of Class V

shares1,640,087A a€”A (1 640 087)a€ "A 10,658A 2,460A a€”A (13,118)a€”A Issuance of common stock under equity incentive

plan1,294,128A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase

plan127,043A a€”A a€”A a€”A 294A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A 294A Issuance of Class V shares related to equity

investmenta€”A a€”A 734,851A a€”A 2,836A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A 2,836A Forfeiture of Class V shares related to forfeiture of earnout

unitsa€”A a€”A (25,500,000)(2)2A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4€”A Stock-based compensationa€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4,182A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4,182A Tax
withholding on vesting of restricted stock units(295,059)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A (1,004)4€”A 4€”A 4€”A (1,004)Purchase of treasury
stock(1,034,710)a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A (3,551)a€”A (3,551)Common stock dividend ($0.12 per

share)a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A a€”A (2, 374)a€”A a€”A (2,374)Member distributionsa€”A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A 4€”A a€”A a€”A (42,050)(42,050)Tax
receivable agreement&€”A 4€”A 4€”A 4€”A (33)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A (33)Deferred tax asseta€”A 4€”A a€”A a€”A (1,887)a€”A 4€”A 4€”A (1,887)Net
incomea€”A a€”A a€’:A ac”A ae”A 12A867A a€”A 56,997A 69,864A Balance, September 30,

202420,582,349A $2A 65,492,957$7A $91,528A $(50,638)$(6,011)$185,418A $220,306A Balance, December 31,

202214,760,566$2A 94,937,285$9A $65,501A $(63,546)$(2,460)$159,644A $159,150A Exchange of Class V
shares1,756,549a€”(1,756,549)a€"”3,4974634a€"(3,960)a€”A Issuance of common stock under equity incentive
plan841,392a€”é€"é€”é€”é€"é€"é€”é€”A Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase A
plan189,622a€”a€"4€"328a€"a€"a€"328A Stock-based compensationa€”a€”a€”a€”3,070a€”a€"a€"3,070A Tax withholding on vesting of restricted
stock units(136,287)a€”a€”a€”(280)a€”a€ ””€”(280)Member distributionsa€”a€”a€”a€”a€”a€"a€”(10,240)(10,240)Tax receivable
agreementa€”a€”a€”a4€"938a€"”a€”a€”938A Deferred tax asseta€”a€”a€”a€”(671)a€”a€”a€”(671)Net
incomea€”a€”a€”a€”a€”4,5624€”32,97637,538A Balance, September 30,

202317,411,842A $2A 93,180,736A $9A $72,383A $(58,521)$(2,460)$178,420A $189,833A See notes to consolidated financial statements. 6Table
of Contents OppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesConsolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)(in thousands)Nine Months Ended September
30,20242023Cash flows from operating activities:Net income $69,864A $37,538A Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:Change in fair value of finance receivables149, 546A 164,463A Provision for credit losses on finance

receivables34A 4,131A Depreciation and amortization7,495A 9,827A Debt issuance cost amortization1,759A 1,872A Stock-based compensation
expense4,182A 3,070A Loss on disposition of equipment5A 1A Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held for
sale to held for investmenta€”A (2,983)Deferred income taxes1,638A 248A Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment52A 4€”A Change in fair
value of warrant liabilities(2,750)(838)Gain on forgiveness of debta€” ’A (113)Income from equity method investment(627)a€” 'A Changes in assets
and liabilities:Accrued interest and fees receivable(1,544)(600)Settlement receivable(3,208)(902)Operating lease, net(114)(54)Other
assets(968)1,398A Accounts payable206A (2,769)Accrued expenses3, 729A (701)Net cash provided by operating activities229, 299A 213,588A Cash
flows from investing activities:Finance receivables originated and acquired(538,447)(540,313)Finance receivables

repayments392,376A 367,217A Purchases of equipment and capitalized technology(8,607)(6,887)Acquisition of equity method
investment(15,929)a€”A Net cash used in investing activities(170,607)(179,983)Cash flows from financing activities:Member distributions(42,050)
(10,240)Payments of secured borrowing payablea€”A (643)Net advance (payments) of senior debt - revolving lines of credit2,554A (2,907)Payment
of senior debt - term loan(10,000)a€”A Payments of note payable(1,449)(1,857)Payments for debt issuance costs(822)(1,649)Proceeds from
employee stock purchase plan294A 328A Payments of tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock units(1,004)(280)Purchase of treasury
stock(3,551)a€”A Dividend pald on common stock(2,374)a€”A Net cash used in flnancmg act1v1t1es(58 402)(17 248)Net increase in cash and
restricted cash290A 16,357A Cash and restricted cashBeginning73,943A 49,670A Ending$74,233A $66,027A Supplemental disclosure of cash flow



information:Interest paid on borrowed funds$32,185A $32,276A Income taxes paid$461A $73A Continued on next page7Table of Contents OppFi
Inc. and SubsidiariesConsolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited) - Continued(in thousands)Nine Months Ended September
30,20242023Non-cash investing and financing activities:Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of tax receivable
agreement$(33)$938A Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of adjustment to deferred tax asset$(1,887)$(671)Issuance of Class V
shares related to equity investment$2,836A $4€”A Accrued transaction costs associated with equity investment, not yet

pa1d$37A $a€”A Forfeitures of Class V shares related to forfeiture of earnout units$2A $a€”A Operating lease right of use asset recognized

$a€”A $159A Operating lease liability recognized$a€”A $159A Reclassification of finance receivables held for sale to held for

investment$a€”A $2,637A Prepaid insurance financed with promissory notes$a€ "A $2,414A See notes to consolidated financial statements.80ppFi
Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 1. Organization and Nature of
OperationsOppFi Inc. (4€e0ppFid€), formerly FG New America Acquisition Corp. (4€eFGNA&€£), collectively with its subsidiaries
(&€eCompanya€), is a tech-enabled, mission-driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit
access to everyday Americans. OppFia€™s primary products are offered by its OppLoans platform. OppFia€™s products also previously included
its payroll deduction secured installment loan product, SalaryTap, and credit card product, OppFi Card. On JulyA 20, 2021 (4€ceClosing Datea€),
the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (a€ceBusiness Combination Agreementa€),
dated as of Februar'yA 9, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC (4€eOppFi-LLC4a€), a Delaware limited liability company, OppFi Shares,
LLC (4€e0FSa€), a Delaware limited liability company, and Todd Schwartz (&€ceMembersa€™ Representativea€), in his capacity as the
representative of the members of OppFi-LLC (&€ceMembersa€) immediately prior to the closing (4&€ceClosinga€). The transactions contemplated
by the Business Combination Agreement are referred to herein as the a€ceBusiness Combination.a€ At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to
a€0eOppFi Inc.a€ OppFia€™s Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share (4€ceClass A Common Stocka€), and redeemable warrants
exercisable for Class A Common Stock (a€cePublic Warrantsa€) are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (&€eNYSE&a€) under the symbols
4€eOPFIa€ and a€eOPFI WS, &€ respectively.Following the Closing, the Company is organized in an 4€0eUp-Ca€ structure in which substantially
all of the assets and the business of the Company are held by OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries, and OppFia€™s only direct assets consist of Class A
common units of OppFi-LLC (a€eOppFi Unitsa€). As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, OppFi owned approximately 23.9% and
17.0% of the OppFi Units, respectively, and controls OppFi-LLC as the sole manager of OppFi-LLC in accordance with the terms of the Third
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of OppFi-LLC (&€eOppFi A&R LLCA4&€). All remaining OppFi Units (3€ceRetained
OppFi Unitsa€) are beneficially owned by the Members. OFS holds a controlling voting interest in OppFi through its ownership of shares of Class
V common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of OppFi (d€ceClass V Voting Stocka€) in an amount equal to the number of Retained OppFi Units
and therefore has the ability to control OppFi-LLC.Note 2. Significant Accounting PoliciesBasis of presentation and consolidation: The
accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (4€ceGAAPa€) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (4€eSECa€) for interim
reporting. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been
omitted if they substantially duplicate the disclosures contained in the Companya€™s annual audited consolidated financial statements pursuant
to such rules and regulations.These unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the
Companya€™s audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes as of and for the year ended DecemberA 31, 2023 included in the
2023 Annual Report. In the opinion of the Companya€™s management, these unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the results and financial position for the periods presented.
The results of operations for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that
may be expected for the full year ending DecemberA 31, 2024.The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of OppFi and OppFi-LLC with its wholly-owned subsidiaries and variable interest entities (a&€eVIEsa€) in which the Company is the
primary beneficiary. As the primary beneficiary of the VIEs, the Company has consolidated the financial statements of the VIEs. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Opportunity Financial SMB, LLC (3€eOppFi-SMBa&€), a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of OppFi-LLC.Segments: Segments are
defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief operating
decision maker (4€ceCODMa3€) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. OppFia€™s Chief Executive Officer is
considered to be the CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance. The Companya€™s operations constitute a single reportable segment.90ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsUse of estimates: The preparation of the unaudited consolidated financial
statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the unaudited consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.The judgements, assumptions, and estimates used by management are based on
historical experience, managementa€™s experience and qualitative factors. The areas subject to significant estimation techniques are the
determination of fair value of installment finance receivables and warrants, valuation allowance of deferred tax assets, stock-based compensation
expense, income tax provision and equity method investment. For the aforementioned estimates, it is reasonably possible the recorded amounts or
related disclosures could significantly change in the near future as new information is available.Accounting policies: There have been no changes
to the Company's significant accounting policies from those described in Part II, Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplementary Data in the
2023 Annual Report.Participation rights purchase obligations: OppFi-LLC has entered into bank partnership arrangements with certain banks
insured by the FDIC. As part of these bank partnership arrangements, the banks have the ability to retain a percentage of the finance receivables
they have originated, and OppFi-LLCa€™s participation rights are reduced by the percentage of the finance receivables retained by the banks. For
the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, finance receivables originated through the bank partnership arrangements totaled 100%
and 96%, respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables outstanding for
purchase was $16.7A million and $14.5A million, respectively.Equity method investment: The Company accounts for its equity method investments
in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (d€eFASB&€) Accounting Standards Codification (4€0eASCa€) 323, Investments -
Equity Method and Joint Ventures, for equity investment in a company over which the Company has significant influence but does not own a
controlling financial interest. Under the equity method of accounting, the initial investment, including transaction costs, is recorded at cost and
the investment is subsequently adjusted for its proportionate share of the investeea€™s earnings or losses and amortization of basis differences.
Basis differences represent differences between the cost of the investment and the underlying equity in net assets of the investment and are
amortized into losses from equity method investments over the useful lives of the underlying assets that gave rise to them. Equity method goodwill
is not amortized or tested for impairment; instead the equity method investment is tested for impairment.On July 31, 2024 (the d€ceAcquisition
Datea€), OppFi-SMB acquired a 35% equity interest in Bitty Holdings, LLC (a€ceBittya€) for (i) a cash payment of $15.2A million and (ii) 734,851
OppFi Units, valued at approximately $2.8A million as of the Acquisition Date. The Company also incurred transaction costs of approximately
$0.7A million. OppFi-SMB also holds call options issued by Bitty, which entitle OppFi-SMB to purchase additional equity interests of 30% and 35%
of Bitty within a specific time period from the date that is three and six years from the Acquisition Date, respectively, at six times the trailing
twelve months post-tax earnings of Bitty as of June 30, 2027 and June 30, 2030, respectively. The Company determined that it does not have a
controlling financial interest in Bitty but does exercise significant influence and therefore, the investment is accounted for under the equity
method. For the three months ended September 30, 2024, the Companya€™s proportionate share of Bittya€™s earnings, net of tax, was

$0.6A million and is included in income from equity method investment on the consolidated statements of operations. The basis difference
between the Companya€ ™s carrying value and proportionate share of Bittya€™s book value is primarily related to consideration paid in excess of
the Companya€™ s proportionate share of Bittyd€™ s book value on the Acquisition Date.Capitalized technology: The Company capitalized software
costs associated with application development totaling $3.4 million and $2.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and $7.8 million and $6.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Amortization expense,
which is included in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $2.1 million and $2.9 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $7.0 million and $9.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively. Noncontrolling interests: Noncontrolling interests are held by the Members, who retained 76.1% and 83.0% of the economic
ownership percentage of OppFi-LLC as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of FASB
ASC 810, Consolidation, the Company classifies the noncontrolling interests as a component of stockholdersa€™ equity in the consolidated
balance sheets. Additionally, the Company has presented the net income attributable to the Company and the noncontrolling ownership interests
separately in the consolidated statements of operations.Costs associated with exit activities: Costs associated with exit activities include contract
termination costs and other costs associated with exit activities. In January 2024, the Company completed the previously disclosed wind down and
exited its OppFi Card product. In accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, the Company recognized a
liability for $2.9A million for costs related to contracts associated with its OppFi Card product that will continue to be incurred under these
contracts for their remaining term without economic benefit to the Company. The Company recorded 100ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to



Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of Contentsthese costs in exit costs on the consolidated statements of operations. As of
SeptemberA 30, 2024, the Companya€™s remaining liability totaled $2.2 million, which is included in accrued expenses on the consolidated
balance sheets. Emerging growth company: The Company is an emerging growth company as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012 (d€mJobs Acta€). The Company is permitted to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies until such pronouncements apply to private companies. This may make comparison of the Companya€™s financial statements with
another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the
extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.Recently adopted accounting
pronouncements: None.Accounting pronouncements issued and not yet adopted: In March 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update
(&€eASUa€) 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The
purpose of ASU 2020-04 is to provide optional guidance for a period of time related to accounting for reference rate reform on financial reporting.
It is intended to reduce the potential burden of reviewing contract modifications related to discontinued rates. In January 2021, the FASB issued
ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Scope. The purpose of ASU 2021-01 is to expand guidance on contract modifications and hedge
accounting. In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848. The
purpose of ASU 2022-06 is to defer the effective date of the provisions of ASU 2020-04 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The
Company did not utilize the optional expedients and exceptions provided by ASU 2020-04 during the quarter ended SeptemberA 30, 2024. This
guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Companya€™ s consolidated financial statements. In November 2023, the FASB issued
ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The purpose of ASU 2023-07 is to provide
guidance on new segment disclosures, including significant segment expenses. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within the annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted.
This guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements. In December 2023, the FASB
issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The purpose of ASU 2023-09 is to provide guidance on
the enhanced income tax disclosure requirements. The guidance requires an entity to disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate
reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires certain
disclosures of state versus federal income tax expense and taxes paid. The standard is intended to benefit investors by providing more detailed
income tax disclosures that would be useful in making capital allocation decisions. The guidance is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Companya€™s
consolidated financial statements. Note 3. Finance ReceivablesFinance receivables at fair value: The components of installment finance
receivables at fair value as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):September 30,December
31,20242023Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - accrual$384,331A $384,587A Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - non-
accrual29,384A 31,876A Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables$413, 715A $416,463A Finance receivables at fair value -
accrual$440,822A $444,120A Finance receivables at fair value - non-accruall,024A 1,135A Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued
interest and fees receivable441,846A 445,255A Accrued interest and fees receivable19,611A 18,065A Finance receivables at fair

value$461,457A $463,320A Difference between unpaid principal balance and fair value$28,131A $28,792A 110ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsThe Companya€ ™ s policy is to discontinue and reverse the accrual of interest
income on installment finance receivables at the earlier of 60 days past due on a recency basis or 90 days past due on a contractual basis. As of
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, the aggregate unpaid principal balance of installment finance receivables 90 days or more past
due on a contractual basis was $13.4 million and $15.2 million, respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, the fair value
of installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due on a contractual basis was $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively. Changes in the
fair value of installment finance receivables at fair value for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in
thousands):Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September 30,2024202320242023Balance at the beginning of the
period$430,482A $446,956A $463,320A $457,296A Originations201,547A 192,906A 538,416A 539,152A Repayments(128,092)(118,411)(392,279)
(366,126)Accrued interest and fees receivable2,945A 2,316A 1,546A 606A Charge-offs, net(1)(46,826)(56,315)(148,885)(159,273)Net change in
fair value(1)1,401A (987)(661)(5,190)Balance at the end of the period$461,457A $466,465A $461,457A $466,465A (1) Included in 4€ceChange in
fair value of finance receivablesa€ in the consolidated statements of operations.The estimated amount of losses included in earnings attributable
to changes in instrument-specific credit risk was $2.9 million and $5.9 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and was $11.3 million and $24.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The credit risk
component was driven by the credit loss assumption applied in the discounted cash flow model, particularly the default rate. This assumption was
primarily developed based on historical data of the installment loan portfolio.Finance receivables at amortized cost, net: The components of
finance receivables at amortized cost as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):September
30,December 31,20242023Finance receivables$10A $454A Accrued interest and fees receivablea€”A 2A Allowance for credit losses(2)
(346)Finance receivables at amortized cost, net$8A $110A In January 2024, the Company completed the wind down and exited its OppFi Card
revolving charge account product; as a result, the Company charged-off its remaining OppFi Card finance receivables. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024,
the Companya€™s finance receivables measured at amortized cost were comprised solely of the SalaryTap finance receivables. Changes in the
allowance for credit losses on finance receivables at amortized cost for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were as
follows (in thousands) Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September 30,2024202320242023Beginning balance

$3A $2,411A $346A $96A Provisions for credit losses on finance receivables3A 195A 34A 4,131A Finance receivables charged off(4)(535)(378)
(2,159)Recoveries of charge offsa€”A 12A a€”A 15A Ending balance$2A $2,083A $2A $2,083A 120ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsThe following is an assessment of the credit quality of finance receivables
measured at amortized cost and presents the recency and contractual delinquency by year of origination as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and
DecemberA 31, 2023 (in thousands): September 30, 20240rigination year2024202320222021TotalRecency

dehnquencyCurrent$a€"A $a€”A $2A $6A $8A Delinquency30-59 daysa€”A a€”A a€”A 2A 2A 60-89 daysa€ "A a€”A a€”A a€”A 4€”A 90+

daysa€” 'A A€”A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A Total dehnquencya€ 'A 4€”A a€”A 2A 2A Finance recelvables$a€ 'A $a€ 'A $2A $8A $10A Contractual
delinquencyCurrent$a€”A $4€”A $a€”A $4€”A $a€”A Delinquency30-59 daysa€”A a€”A 4€”A 4€”A a4€”A 60-89 daysa€”A 4€”A a€”A 2A 2A 90+
days&€”A &€”A 2A 6A 8A Total delinquencya€”A &€”A 2A 8A 10A Finance receivables$a€”A $4€”A $2A $8A $10A December 31, 20230rigination
year202320222021Revolving charge accountsTotalRecency dehnquencyCurrent$a€"A $35A $73A $244A $352A Delinquency30-59

daysa€”A 3A 1A 16A 20A 60-89 daysa€’ "A 1A 11A 9A 21A 90+ daysa€”A a€”A a€”A 61A 61A Total delinquencya€’ "A 4A 12A 86A 102A Finance
rece1vab1es$a€”A $39A $85A $330A $454A Contractual dehnquencyCurrent$a€"A $32A $46A $244A $322A Delinquency30-59

daysa€”A 3A 8A 16A 27A 60-89 daysa€”A 2A 9A 9A 20A 90+ daysa€”A 2A 22A 61A 85A Total delinquencya€”A 7A 39A 86A 132A Finance
receivables$a€”A $39A $85A $330A $454A In accordance with the Companya€™ s income recognition policy, finance receivables at amortized cost
in non-accrual status as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023 were $8 thousand and $30 thousand, respectively. 130ppFi Inc. and
SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 4. Property, Equipment and Software, NetProperty,
equipment and software consisted of the following (in thousands):September 30,December 31,20242023Capitalized

technology$63,212A $55,405A Furniture, fixtures and equipment4,333A 3,964A Leasehold improvements979A 979A Total property, equipment
and software68,524A 60,348A Less accumulated depreciation and amortization(57,125)(50,056)Property, equipment and software,

net$11,399A $10,292A Depreciation and amortization expense was $2.3A million and $3.1A million for the three months ended September 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $7.5A million and $9.8A million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.Note
5. Accrued ExpensesAccrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):September 30,December 31,20242023Accrual for services
rendered and goods purchased$7, 699A $6,899A Accrued payroll and benefits6, 464A 8,900A Accrued interest2,529A 2,794A Accrued exit
costs2,245A a€”A Other6,798A 3,413A Total$25,735A $22,006A Note 6. LeasesThe components of total lease cost for three and nine months
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in thousands):Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September

30, 20242023202420230perat1ng lease cost$559A $599A $1,741A $1,761A Variable lease expense399A 495A 1,168A 1,488A Short-term lease
cost40A 7A 58A 50A Sublease income(80)(80)(239)(239)Total lease cost$918A $1,021A $2,728A $3,060A 140ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsSupplemental cash flow information related to the leases for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands):Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September
30,2024202320242023Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:Operating cash flows from operating

leases$403A $621A $1,657A $1,816A The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and

DecemberA 31, 2023 were as follows:September 30,December 31 ,20242023Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)6.06.7Weighted
average discount rate5A %5A %Future minimum lease payments as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):YearA Amount
Remaining of 2024$614A 20252,482A 20262,557A 20272,633A 20282,712A 20292,794A Thereafter2,144A Total lease payments15,936A Less:
imputed interest(2,195)Operating lease liabilities$13,741A 150ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 7. BorrowingThe following is a summary of the Companya€™s outstanding borrowings as of September 30,



2024 and December 31, 2023, including borrowing capacity as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 (in thousands):PurposeBorrowerBorrowing
CapacitySeptember 30, 2024December 31, 2023Interest Rate as of SeptemberA 30, 2024Maturity DateSenior debt, netRevolving line of
creditOpportunity Funding SPE V, LLC (Tranche BA)$125,00A0A $84,500A $103,400A SOFRplus6.75%June 2026Revolving line of creditOpportunity
Funding SPE V, LLC (Tranche C)125,000A 62,500A 37,500A SOFRplus7.50%]July 2027Revolving line of creditOpportunity Funding SPE IX,
LLClS0,00QA 85,871[& 93,871[% SOFRplus7.50%December 2026Revolving line of creditGray Rock SPV A A

LLC75,000A 52,896A 48,442A SOFRplus7.45%0ctober 2026Total revolving lines of credit475,000A 285,767A 283,213A Term loan, netOppFi-
LLC50,000A 39,783A 49,454A SOFRplus0.11%plus10%September 2025Total senior debt, net$525,000A $325,550A $332,667A Note
payableFinanced insurance premiumOppFi-LLC$a€”A $4€”A $1,449A 9.70%]June 2024(1)(1) Maturity date as of 12/31/2023 and for the
subsequent period until the borrowing was paid in full in June 2024.Senior debt, net: Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE IX,
LLCOn March 19, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment (the a€eFirst Amendmenta€) to its revolving credit agreement with UMB Bank,
N.A. The First Amendment, among other things, removed a collateral performance trigger that the Company had previously been out of
compliance with.Revolving line of credit - Gray Rock SPV LLCOn April 12, 2024, Gray Rock SPV LLC entered into an amendment (the &€ceFourth
Amendmenta€) to its revolving line of credit agreement. The Fourth Amendment, among other things, extended the maturity date from April 15,
2025 to October 16, 2026 and increased the applicable margin rate from 7.25% to 7.45%.Term loan, netOn May 30, 2024, the Company entered
into an amendment (the &€eEleventh Amendmenta€) to its senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement (the 4€ceLoan Agreementa€). The
Eleventh Amendment, among other things, replaced the use of the synthetic LIBOR rates with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate as the
benchmark interest rate and amended the optional prepayments provision to allow the Company to voluntarily prepay in part, in minimum
amounts of $10.0 million and increments of $10.0 million thereof. On September 13, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment (the
d€eTwelfth Amendmenta€) to the Loan Agreement. The Twelfth Amendment, among other things, extended the maturity date from March 30,
2025 to September 30, 2025 and amended the repayment provision to require OppFi-LLC to repay outstanding principal in installment amounts of
$20.0A million on the last day of the fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2025 and $10.0A million on the last day of each subsequent fiscal
quarter.Certain of the Companya€™ s foregoing credit facilities that consist of term loan and revolving loan facilities are subject to provisions that
provide for a cross-default in the event certain covenants under the relevant agreements are breached.Total interest expense related to the
Companya€™s senior debt, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations,
was $10.7 million and $11.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $31.9 million and $32.7
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $14.8 million in debt
issuance costs in connection with the Companya€™s senior debt as of SeptemberA 30, 2024. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with the
Companya€™ s senior debt, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations,
were $0.6 160ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of Contentsmillion and $0.6 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and were $1.8 million and $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the
Companya€™s senior debt totaled $3.4 million and $4.3 million, respectively, of which $3.2 million and $3.8 million related to the revolving lines
of credit, respectively, and $0.2 million and $0.5 million related to the term loan, respectively.Note payable: As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, the
borrowing under this note payable was paid in full. Total interest expense related to notes payable, which is included in interest expense and
amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations, was $13A thousand and $26A thousand for the three months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $65A thousand and $77A thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Secured borrowing payable: On February 16, 2023, the borrowings under the Companya€™s previous secured borrowing payable,
with Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC as borrower, were paid in full, of which borrowings totaling $0.1A million were forgiven. Subsequent to
repayment, OppFi-LLC terminated the preferred return agreement. No interest expense was recognized related to secured borrowings for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2024. No interest expense was recognized related to secured borrowings for the three months ended
September 30, 2023. Interest expense related to this facility was $10 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2023. For the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no amortized debt issuance costs related to the secured borrowing payable. As of
SeptemberA 30, 2024, required payments for all borrowings, excluding revolving lines of credit, for each of the next five years were as follows (in
thousands):YearAmountRemainder of 2024$4a€”A 202540,000A 20264€”A 20274€”A 20284€”A 20294€”A Total$40,000A Note 8. Warrant
LiabilitiesAs of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, there were 11,887,500 Public Warrants and 3,451,937 Private Placement
Warrants outstanding. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, the Company recorded warrant liabilities of $4.1 million and $6.9
million, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheets. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants was
increased by $0.9A million and $0.5A million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and was decreased by $2.2A million
and $0.6A million, respectively, for nine months ended September 30, 2024. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private
Placement Warrants was decreased by $0.2A million and $0.1A million, respectively, for the three months ended September 30, 2023 and was
decreased by $0.6A million and $0.2A million, respectively, for nine months ended September 30, 2023.170ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 9. Stockholdersa€™ EquityShare repurchase: On April 9, 2024, the
Company announced that its Board of Directors (the &€eBoarda€) had authorized a program to repurchase (the 4€ceRepurchase Programa€) up
to $20.0A million in the aggregate of shares of the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be
made from time to time, on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the
Company and in accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Exchange Act and other applicable legal
requirements, including restrictions in the Companya€™s existing credit facilities. Repurchases may be made pursuant to any trading plan that
may be adopted in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1, which would permit Class A Common Stock to be repurchased when the Company might
otherwise be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and
other requirements. The Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the
Repurchase Program may be extended, modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time. For each share of Class A Common Stock that the
Company repurchases under the Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC, the Companya€™s direct subsidiary, will redeem one Class A common unit of
OppFi-LLC held by the Company, decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by the Company and relatively increasing the ownership by
the other members. The Repurchase Program will expire in April 2027.During the three months ended September 30, 2024, OppFi repurchased
264,995 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock as of SeptemberA 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of
$1.0A million at an average purchase price per share of $3.82. During the nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company repurchased
1,034,710 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock as of SeptemberA 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of
$3.6A million at an average purchase price per share of $3.41. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, $16.4A million of the repurchase authorization under
the Repurchase Program remained available.Dividend paid: On May 1, 2024, the Company paid a dividend of $0.12 per share ($2.4A million in the
aggregate) to stockholders of record of the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock as of the close of business on April 19, 2024. Member
Distributions: On May 1, 2024, OppFi-LLC paid a special distribution of $0.12 per share ($10.3A million in the aggregate), which is included in
member distributions in the consolidated statements of stockholdersa€™ equity, to holders of record of OppFi Units as of the close of business on
April 19, 2024. Earnout Units: On July 21, 2024, the Company determined that the 25,500,000 earnout Class A common units (the &€ceEarnout
Unitsa€) of OppFi-LLC issued pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement, were not earned pursuant to the earnout provisions of the
Business Combination Agreement on or prior to the three (3) year anniversary of the closing date of the Business Combination. Accordingly, on
such date the Earnout Units were forfeited, for no consideration, by the holders thereof to OppFi-LLC and the 25,500,000 shares of Class V Voting
Stock associated with the Earnout Units were forfeited, for no consideration, by OFS to the Company. Class V Voting Stock: In connection with the
acquisition of the equity interest in Bitty, the Company also issued 734,851 shares of Class V Voting Stock to OFS, which number of shares of
Class V Voting Stock was equal to the number of OppFi Units issued to Blaze Capital Funding 5, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company, as the
seller of the Bitty equity interests.Note 10. Stock-Based CompensationOn JulyA 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity
Incentive Plan (&€cePlana€), which provides for the grant of awards in the form of options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards,
restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee
directors, officers, and consultants. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be
issued under the Plan (including from outstanding awards) was 22,794,973 shares. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, the Company had only granted
awards in the form of options, restricted stock units, and performance stock units.180ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsStock options: A summary of the Companya€™s stock option activity for the nine months ended
September 30, 2024 is as follows:(in thousands, except share and per share data)Stock OptionsWeighted- Average Exercise PriceWeighted-
Average Remaining Contractual Life (Years)Aggregate Intrinsic ValueOutstanding as of DecemberA 31,

20231,842,192$13. 65A 7.6$450A A A A Granteda€”a€”A a€”a€”A A A A Exerciseda€”a€”A a€”a€”A A A A Forfeiteda€”a€”A a€”a€”A Outstanding
as of SeptemberA 30, 20241,842,192$13.65A 6.8$355A Vested and exercisable as of SeptemberA 30, 20241,561,231$14.18A 6.8$200A The
Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of $0.1A million and $0.2A million for the three months ended



September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $0.4A million and $0.5A million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation of $0.5A million related to unvested stock
options that is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of approximately 1.0 years. Restricted stock units: A
summary of the Companya€™s restricted stock units (4€eRSUs&€) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 is as
follows:SharesWeighted- Average Grant Date Fair ValueUnvested as of DecemberA 31, A .
20231,768,811$3.45A Granted2,065,4912.76A Vested(1,386,628)2.92A Forfeited(471,327)3.34A Unvested as of SeptemberA 30,
20241,976,347$3.12A The Company recognized stock-based compensation related to RSUs of $0.9A million and $0.9A million for the three months
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $3.6A million and $2.5A million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs was $5.8 million, which will be recognized
over a weighted-average vesting period of approximately 2.7 years.Performance stock units: A summary of the Companya€™ s performance stock
units (4€ePSUsa€) activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 is as follows:SharesWeighted-Average Grant Date Fair ValueUnvested
as of DecemberA 31, 2023127,835$3.42A Granteda€”a€”A Vested(39,009)3.49A Forfeiteda€”4€”A Unvested as of SeptemberA 30,
202488,826$3.39A The Company recognized stock-based compensation related to PSUs of $26A thousand and $0.1A million for the three months
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $93A thousand and $0.1A million for the nine months ended September 30, 190ppFi Inc.
and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of Contents2024 and 2023, respectively. As of SeptemberA 30,
2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to PSUs was $0.1 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average vesting
period of approximately 1.5 years.Employee Stock Purchase Plan: On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (A€ceESPPA€). As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued
under the ESPP was 1,672,427 and may consist of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Class A Common Stock.As of SeptemberA 30,
2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, there were 361,292 and 234,249 shares of the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock purchased under the ESPP,
respectively. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023, ESPP employee payroll contributions of $0.1 million and $0.1 million,
respectively, are included within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. Payroll contributions accrued as of SeptemberA 30, 2024
will be used to purchase shares at the end of the ESPP offering period ending on DecemberA 31, 2024. Payroll contributions ultimately used to
purchase shares are reclassified to stockholdersa€™ equity on the purchase date. The Company recognized ESPP compensation expense of $18
thousand and $23 thousand for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $64 thousand and $68 thousand for the
nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Note 11. Income TaxesFor the three months ended September 30, 2024, OppFi
recorded an income tax expense of $2.3 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $34.4 million, resulting in a 6.7%
effective income tax rate. For the three months ended September 30, 2023, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $0.5 million and reported
consolidated income before income taxes of $16.0 million, resulting in a 2.8% effective income tax rate. For the nine months ended September 30,
2024, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $3.6 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $73.5 million, resulting in a
4.9% effective tax rate. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $1.3 million and reported
consolidated income before income taxes of $38.8 million, resulting in a 3.3% effective income tax rate. OppFia€™s effective income tax rates for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, differ from the federal statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily due to the
noncontrolling interest in the Up-C partnership structure, nondeductible expenses, state income taxes, warrant liability, and discrete tax items.
The warrant liability is recorded by OppFi and is a fair market value adjustment of the warrant liability and is a permanent difference between
GAAP and taxable income, which impacts OppFia€™ s effective income tax rate. For the three months ended September 30, 2024, one discrete
item was recorded of $0.1A million related to stock compensation, which in total decreased the effective tax rate by 0.3%. Excluding the
aforementioned discrete item, the effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30, 2024 would have been 7.0%. For the three months
ended September 30, 2023, one discrete item was recorded consisting of a $45A thousand benefit related to stock compensation, which in total
decreased the effective tax rate by 0.3%. Excluding the aforementioned discrete item, the effective tax rate for the three months ended September
30, 2023 would have been 3.1%. For the nine months ended September 30, 2024, two discrete items were recorded consisting of $17A thousand
expense related to a prior period adjustment based on FASB Interpretation No. 48, &€ceAccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,a€ and $0.3
million benefit related to stock compensation, which in total decreased the effective tax rate by 0.4%. Excluding the aforementioned discrete
items, the effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2024, would have been 5.3%. For the nine months ended September 30,
2023, two discrete items were recorded consisting of a $7A thousand expense related to a prior period state tax adjustment during the three
months ended March 31, 2023, and a $48A thousand benefit related to stock compensation, which in total decreased the effective tax rate by
0.1%. Excluding the aforementioned discrete items, the effective tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2023, would have been 3.4%.
OppFi is subject to a 21% federal income tax rate on its activities and its distributive share of income from OppFi-LLC, as well as various state and
local income taxes. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023, OppFi owned 23.9% and 15.7%, respectively, of the outstanding units of OppFi-LLC and
considers appropriate tax accounting only on this portion of OppFi-LLC&€™ s activity. Additionally, OppFia€™s income tax rate varies from the
21% statutory federal income tax rate primarily due to a permanent difference related to the adjustment of the warrant liabilities recorded by
OppFi. This fair value adjustment of the warrant liabilities represents a large portion of OppFia€™s pre-tax book income or loss and is a
permanent difference between GAAP and taxable income, which impacts OppFia€™s effective income tax rate.As of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and
DecemberA 31, 2023, OppFi recorded an unrecognized tax benefit of $55 thousand and $38 thousand, respectively, related to research and
development credits allocated from OppFi-LLC. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax
position must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. There were no amounts accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as
of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could result 200ppFi Inc.
and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of Contentsin significant payments, accruals or material deviations
from its position. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities since inception.Note 12. Fair Value
MeasurementsFair value on a nonrecurring basis: The Company has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is,
the instruments are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances. Fair value
measurement on a recurring basis: The Companya€™s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):Fair Value MeasurementsSeptember 30, 2024Level 1Level 2Level
3Financial assets:Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable (1)$441,846A $a€”A $a€”A $441,846A Financial
liabilities:Warrant liability - Public Warrants (2)2,497A 2,497A 4€”A 4€”A Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants

(3)1,617A a€”A 4€”A 1,617A Fair Value MeasurementsDecember 31, 2023Level 1Level 2Level 3Financial assets:Finance receivables at fair value,
excluding accrued interest and fees receivable (1)$445,255A $4€”A $a€”A $445,255A Financial liabilities:Warrant liability - Public Warrants
(2)4,636A 4,636A 4€”A 4€”A Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (3)2,228A 4€”A 4€”A 2,228A (1) The Company primarily estimates the
fair value of its installment finance receivables portfolio using discounted cash flow models that have been internally developed. The models use
inputs that are unobservable but reflect the Companya€™s best estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to calculate fair
value. (2) The fair value measurement for the Public Warrants is categorized as Level 1 due to the use of an observable market quote in an active
market under the ticker OPFI WS.(3) The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants is measured using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model;
accordingly, the fair value measurement for the Private Placement Warrants is categorized as Level 3.During the three and nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers of assets or liabilities in or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.The following table
presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used for the Companya€™s installment finance receivables fair value
measurements as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023:September 30, 2024December 31, 2023Interest rate on finance
receivables157.72A %156.15A %Discount rate24.78A %26.34A %Servicing cost*3.00A %2.96A %Remaining life0.62 years0.60 yearsDefault
rate*27.46A %25.63A %Accrued interest*4.74A %4.34A %Prepayment rate*20.68A %20.90A %*Stated as a percentage of finance
receivables210OppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsThe following table presents
the significant assumptions used for the Companya€™s Private Placement Warrants as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31,
2023:September 30, 2024December 31, 2023Input$11.50 Exercise Price Warrants$15 Exercise Price Warrants$11.50 Exercise Price Warrants$15
Exercise Price WarrantsRisk-free interest rate3.69A %3.63A %4.07A %3.84A %Expected term (years)1.8 years6.8 years2.6 years7.6
yearsExpected volatility48.30A %48.30A %44.10A %44.10A %Exercise price$11.50A $15.00A $11.50A $15.00A Fair value of

warrants$0.22A $1.16A $0.41A $1.30A The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability - Private Placement
Warrants (in thousands): $11.50 Exercise Price Warrants$15 Exercise Price WarrantsTotalFair value as of December 31,

2023$1,041A $1,187A $2,228A Change in fair value(838)(648)(1,486)Fair value as of March 31, 2024203A 539A 742A Change in fair

value127A 255A 382A Fair value as of June 30, 2024330A 794A 1,124A Change in fair value229A 264A 493A Fair value as of September 30,
2024$559A $1,058A $1,617A Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value: The following table presents the carrying value and
estimated fair values of financial assets and liabilities disclosed but not carried at fair value and the level within the fair value hierarchy as of



SeptemberA 30, 2024 and DecemberA 31, 2023 (in thousands): Fair Value MeasurementsSeptember 30, 2024Level 1Level 2Level
3Assets:Cash$44,838A $44,838A $a€”A $a€”A Restricted cash29,395A 29,395A 4€”A 4€”A Accrued interest and fees

receivable19,611A 19,611A 4€”A 4€”A Finance receivables at amortized cost, net8A 4€”A 4€”A 8A Settlement

receivable5,112A 5,112A 4€”A 4€”A Liabilities:Senior debt, net325,550A 4€”A 4€”A 325,550A Fair Value MeasurementsDecember 31, 2023Level
1Level 2Level 3Assets:Cash$31, 791A $31, 791A $4€”A $4€”A Restricted cash42,152A 42,152A 4€”A 4€”A Accrued interest and fees
receivable18,065A 18,065A 4€”A 4€”A Finance receivables at amortized cost, net110A 4€”A 4€”A 110A Settlement
receivable1,9041,9044€”4€ " Liabilities:Senior debt, net332,667A 4€”A 4€”A 332,667A Notes payable1,449A 4€”A 4€”A 1,449A 220ppFi Inc. and
SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 13. Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party
TransactionsLegal contingencies: Due to the nature of its business activities, the Company is subject to extensive regulations and legal actions and
is currently involved in certain legal proceedings, including class action allegations, and regulatory matters, which arise in the normal course of
business. In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for legal proceedings and regulatory
matters when those matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable.The Company has received inquiries from
certain agencies and states on its lending compliance, the validity of the bank partnership model, and its ability to facilitate the servicing of bank
originated loans. Management is confident that its lending practices and the bank partnership structure, in addition to the Companya€™s
technologies, services, and overall relationship with its bank partners, complies with state and federal laws. However, the inquiries are still in
process and the outcome is unknown at this time. The Company is vigorously defending all legal proceedings and regulatory matters. Except as
described below, management does not believe that the resolution of any currently pending legal proceedings and regulatory matters will have a
material adverse effect on the Companya€™s financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.On March 7, 2022, the Company filed a
complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (d4€ceComplainta€) against the Commissioner (in her official capacity) of the Department of
Financial Protection and Innovation of the State of California (d4€ceDefendanta€) in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los
Angeles, Central Division (a&€ceCourta€). The Complaint seeks a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as
amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (a€0eCFLa€), do not apply to loans that are originated by the Companya€™s federally-
insured state-chartered bank partners and serviced through the Companya€™ s technology and service platform pursuant to a contractual
arrangement with each such bank (d€cePrograma€). The Complaint further seeks injunctive relief against the Defendant, preventing the
Defendant from enforcing interest rate caps under the CFL against the Company based on activities related to the Program. On April 8, 2022, the
Defendant filed a cross-complaint against the Company attempting to enforce the CFL against the Company and, among other things, void loans
that are originated by the Company&€ ™ s federally-insured state-chartered bank partners through the Program in California and seek financial
penalties against the Company. On October 17, 2022, the Company filed a cross-complaint against the Defendant seeking declaratory relief for
issuing an underground regulation to determine the a€cetrue lendera€ under the CFL without complying with Californiad€™s Administrative
Procedures Act. On January 30, 2023, the Defendant filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking to enjoin the Company from providing
services to FinWise in connection with loans made to California consumers to the extent that such loans are in excess of Californiad€™s interest
rate caps. On September 26, 2023, the Court sustained the Defendanta€™s demurrer to the Companya€™s cross-complaint with leave to amend.
On October 26, 2023, the Company filed its amended cross-complaint. On October 30, 2023, the Defendanta€™s motion for preliminary injunction
was denied. On November 27, 2023, the Defendant filed her answer to the Companya€ ™ s cross-complaint. The Company intends to continue to
aggressively prosecute the claims set forth in the Complaint and vigorously defend itself and its position as the matter proceeds through the court
process. The Company believes that the Defendanta€™ s position is without merit as explained in the Complaint.On July 20, 2023, a stockholder
filed a putative class action complaint in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (Case No. 2023-0737) on behalf of a purported class of
Company stockholders naming certain of FGNA&€™s former directors and officers and its controlling stockholder, FG New America Investors,
LLC (the a€ceSponsora€), as defendants. The lawsuit alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the stockholders of FGNA
stemming from FGNA&€™s merger with OppFi-LLC and that the defendants were unjustly enriched. The lawsuit seeks, among other relief,
unspecified damages, redemption rights, and attorneysa€™ fees. Neither the Company nor any of the Companya€™s current officers or directors
are parties to the lawsuit. The Company is obligated to indemnify certain of the defendants in the action. The Company has tendered defense of
this action under its directorsa€™ and officers' insurance policy. Due to the early stage of this case, neither the likelihood that a loss, if any, will
be realized, nor an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, if any, can be determined.Related party transactions: In connection with the
Business Combination, OppFi entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the Members and the Membersa€™ Representative (the &€eTax
Receivable Agreementa€). The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for payment to the Members of 90% of the U.S. federal, state and local income
tax savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits related to the transactions
contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi Units for Class A Common Stock or cash.Note 14.
Concentration of Credit RiskFinancial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily
of finance receivables. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia made up approximately 14%, 12%
and 11%, respectively, of the Companya€™s portfolio of finance receivables. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, there were no other states that made up
more than 10% or more of the Companya€™ s portfolio of finance receivables. As of 230ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial
Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsDecemberA 31, 2023, consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia made up approximately
16%, 12%, and 11%, respectively, of the Companya€™ s portfolio of finance receivables. Furthermore, such consumersa€™ ability to honor their
installment contracts may be affected by economic conditions in these areas. The Company is also exposed to a concentration of credit risk
inherent in providing alternate financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain traditional bank financing.Note 15. Retirement PlanThe
Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan (4€0e401(k) Pland€) for its employees. Full time employees (except certain non-resident aliens) and
others, as defined in the plan document, who are age 21 and older are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan participants may
elect to contribute a portion of their eligible compensation to the 401(k) Plan. The Company has elected a matching contribution up to 4% on
eligible employee compensation. The Companya€™s contribution, which is included in salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated
statements of operations, totaled $0.4 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $1.1
million and $1.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 240ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 16. Earnings Per ShareThe following table sets forth the computation of
basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except share and per
share data):Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September 30,2024202320242023Numerator:Net income attributable to
OppFi Inc.$4, 264A $2,169A $12,867A $4,562A Net income available to Class A common stockholders - Basic4,264A 2,169A 12,867A 4,562A Net
income attributable to noncontrolling }nteresta€:’A 35A 494A 68A Income tax expensea€”A (8)(116)(16)Net income available to Class A common
stockholders - Diluted$4,264A $2,196A $13,245A $4,614A Denominator: Welghted -average Class A common stock outstandlng -
Basic20,248,00416,772,27519,711,75215,820,262Effect of dilutive securities:A A A Stock _optionsa€”a€”2, 9204€”A A A Restricted stock
unitsa€”235,514672,399198,698A A A Performance stock unitsa€”49,98973,32527,871A A A Warrantsa€”a€”a€”a€”A A A Employee stock
purchase plana€”a€”a€”a€”A A A Retained OppFi Units, excluding Earnout Unitsa€”a€”a€”a€”A A A Dilutive potential common
sharesa€”285,503748,644226,569Weighted-average units outstanding - diluted20,248,00417,057,77820,460,39616,046,831Earnings per
share:Basic$0.21A $0.13A $0.65A $0.29A Diluted$0.21A $0.13A $0.65A $0.29A The following table presents securities that have been excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would have been anti-dilutive for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2024 and 2023:Three Months Ended September 30,Nine Months Ended September 30,2024202320242023Public

Warrants11,887,500A 11,887,500A 11,887,500A 11,887,500A Private Unit Warrants231,250A 231,250A 231,250A 231,250A $11.50 Exercise Price
Warrants2,248,750A 2,248,750A 2,248,750A 2,248,750A $15 Exercise Price Warrants912,500A 912,500A 912,500A 912,500A Underwriter
Warrants59,437A 59,437A 59,437A 59,437A Stock Options1,842, 192A 1,889,754A 1,842,192A 1,949,233A Restricted stock

units2,151,880A 1,874,078A 2,092,188A 2,071,183A Performance stock units89,559A 143,897A 102,561A 201,845A Noncontrolling interest -
Earnout Units (1)a€”A 25,500,000A 4€”A 25,500,000A Noncontrolling interest - OppFi

Units65,664,358A 68,230,327A 65,908,534A 68,779,582A Potential common stock85,087,426A 112,977,493A 85,284,912A 113,841,280A (1)
Earnout Units were not earned pursuant to the earnout provisions of the Business Combination Agreement on or prior to July 21, 2024, the three
(3) year anniversary of the closing date of the Companya€™s business combination. Accordingly, on such date the Earnout Units were
forfeited.250ppFi Inc. and SubsidiariesNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)Table of ContentsNote 17. Subsequent EventsThe
Company has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred through the date these financial statements were issued and has not identified
any subsequent events that required disclosure.26Table of Contents AAAAAAAAITEMA 2. A AA A MANAGEMENTA£™S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONSThe following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and
results of operations should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You
should review the sections titled a€ceCautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future Resultsa€ and a€ceRisk Factorsa€ of this Form
10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2024 (a€0e2023 Annual



Reporta€), for a discussion of forward-looking statements and important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
described or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis. OVERVIEWOppFi is a tech-enabled,
mission-driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to everyday Americans. The
Companya€™s platform powers banks to offer accessible lending products through its proprietary technology and top-rated customer experience.
OppFia€™s primary mission is to facilitate financial inclusion and credit access to the 63 million everyday Americans who are credit marginalized
with digital specialty finance products and an unwavering commitment to its customers.OppFi works with banks to facilitate short-term credit
options for everyday Americans who lack access to mainstream financial products. OppFia€™s specialty finance platform focuses on helping these
consumers rebuild their financial health. Customers on OppFia€™ s platform benefit from a highly automated, transparent, efficient, and fully
digital experience. The banks that work with OppFi benefit from its turn-key, outsourced marketing, data science, and proprietary technology to
digitally acquire, underwrite, and service these consumers.OppFia€™ s primary products are offered by its OppLoans platform. Customers on this
platform are U.S. consumers who are employed, have bank accounts, and generally earn median wages. The average installment loan facilitated
by OppFi is approximately $1,500, payable in installments and with an average contractual term of 11 months. Neither SalaryTap nor OppFi Card
contributed meaningfully to OppFia€™s results during the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.0ppFi also holds 35% of the
outstanding equity securities of Bitty Holdings, LLC (&€eBittya€), a credit access company that offers revenue-based financing and other working
capital solutions to small businesses.On the Closing Date, OppFi completed the Business Combination. At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to
a€0eOppFi Inc.a€ OppFia€™s Class A Common Stock and Public Warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbols 4€eOPFI&€ and 4€ceOPFI
WS, &€ respectively.Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to 4€0eOppFia€ or the &€ceCompanya€ refer to OppFi-LLC
and its subsidiaries prior to the Closing, or to OppFi Inc. and its subsidiaries from and after the Closing. See Item 1. &€ceOrganization and Nature
of Operationsa€ for more information. HIGHLIGHTSOur financial results as of and for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 are
summarized below:a€¢Basic and diluted earnings per share (&4€eEPSa€) of $0.21 and $0.21, respectively, for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024;3a€¢Adjusted earnings per share (a€oeAdJusted EPS&€)(1) of $0.33 for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, an
increase of $0.18 from $0.16 for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023;4€¢Net originations increased 11.8% to $218.8 million from
$195.7 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively; a€¢Ending receivables decreased 0.5% to $413.7 million
from $415.9 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively;a€¢Total revenue increased 2.6% to $136.6 million from $133.2 million for
the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively; 27Table of Contents AA A A A A A A 4€¢Net income of $32.1 million for the
three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, an increase of $16.5 million from $15.5 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023;
anda€¢Adjusted net income (a€ceAdjusted Net Incomea€)(1) of $28.8 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, an increase of
$15.5 million from $13.3 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023.(1) Adjusted EPS and Adjusted Net Income are not prepared in
accordance with the United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (3€eGAAP&€). For information regarding our uses and definitions of
these measures and for reconciliations to the most directly comparable United States GAAP measures, see the section titled 4€ceNon-GAAP
Financial Measuresa€ below. Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, we have updated our presentation and
calculation of Adjusted EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back
debt issuance cost amortization.Share Repurchase ProgramOn April 4, 2024, the Board authorized a new share repurchase program to repurchase
up to $20.0A million in the aggregate of shares of our Class A Common Stock. This new share repurchase program will expire in April 2027.
During the three months ended September 30, 2024, OppFi repurchased 264,995 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury
stock as of SeptemberA 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of $1.0A million at an average purchase price per share of $3.82. During the
nine months ended September 30, 2024, the Company repurchased 1,034,710 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock
as of SeptemberA 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of $3.6A million at an average purchase price per share of $3.41. As of

SeptemberA 30, 2024, $16.4A million of the repurchase authorization under the Repurchase Program remained available.Bitty Purchase
AgreementOn July 31, 2024, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2024 (the &€ceSecurities Purchase
Agreementa€), to acquire 35% of the outstanding equity securities of Bitty, a credit access company that offers revenue-based financing and other
working capital solutions. The acquisition closed on July 31,2024 (the &€oeAcquisition Datea€). The aggregate consideration paid in connection
with the acquisition consisted of (i) a cash payment of approximately $15.3 million and (ii) 734,851 OppFi Units, valued at approximately $2.7
million.Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, one of our subsidiaries has (a) the right to purchase an additional 30% of the outstanding
equity securities of Bitty within a specific time period from the date that is three years from the Acquisition Date, and (b) the right to purchase all
of the remaining equity securities of Bitty within a specific time period from the date that is six years from the Acquisition Date. For further
details, see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, d€ceSignificant Accounting Policies.4€KEY PERFORMANCE METRICSWe regularly
review the following key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate financial
projections, and make strategic decisions, which may also be useful to an investor. The following tables and related discussion set forth key
financial and operating metrics for the Companya€™s operations as of and for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023.
The key performance metrics presented are for the OppLoans product only and exclude the SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Total Net
OriginationsWe measure originations to assess the growth trajectory and overall size of our loan portfolio. There is a direct correlation between
origination growth and revenue growth. We include both bank partner originations as well as those originated by us directly. Loans are considered
to be originated when the contract is signed between us and the prospective borrower. The vast majority of our originations ultimately disburse to
a borrower, but disbursement timing lags that of originations. Originations may be useful to an investor because they help understand the growth
trajectory of our revenues.28Table of Contents AA A A A A A A The following tables present total net originations (defined as gross originations
net of transferred balance on refinanced loans), total retained net originations (defined as the portion of total net originations as defined above
with respect to which the Company ultimately purchased a receivable from bank partners or originated directly), percentage of net originations by
bank partners, and percentage of net originations by new loans for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands):Three Months Ended September 30,Change20242023$%Total net originations$218,801A $195,671A $23,130A 11.8A %Total retained
net originations$198,441A $190,727A $7,714A 4.0A %Percentage of net originations by bank partners100.0A %97.9A %N/A2.1A %Percentage of
net originations by new loans46.8A %44.0A %N/A6.4A %Nine Months Ended September 30,Change20242023$%Total net

originations$587,846A $555,907A $31,939A 5.7A %Total retained net originations$540,296A $541,717A $(1,421)(0.3)%Percentage of net
originations by bank partners100.0A %96.9A %N/A3.2A %Percentage of net originations by new loans44.7A %43.9A %N/A1.8A %Total net
originations increased to $218.8 million and $587.8 million for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from $195.7
million and $555.9 million for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The 11.8% and 5.7% increases for the three
and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 were a result of bank partnersd€™ expansion into additional states, increased demand through
certain marketing partners, and enhanced lead evaluation capabilities driving higher quality applications. Total retained net originations
increased to $198.4 million and decreased to $540.3 million for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from $190.7
million and $541.7 million for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The 4.0% increase for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 was a result of the originations growth outpacing the growth in the percentage of loans retained by our bank partners, while
the 0.3% decrease for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 was attributed to one of our bank partners retaining a higher percentage of
loans originated in certain states.Total net originations by our bank partners increased to 100.0% and 100.0% for the three and nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from 97.9% and 96.9% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. During
the third quarter of 2023, the Company ceased directly originating loans and transitioned completely to a servicing / facilitation model for bank
partners.Total net originations of new loans as a percentage of total loans increased to 46.8% and 44.7% for the three and nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from 44.0% and 43.9% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The increases
are a result of accelerating growth from our bank partnersa€™ expansion into additional states, increased demand through certain marketing
partners, and enhanced lead evaluation capabilities driving higher quality applications. Ending ReceivablesEnding receivables are defined as the
unpaid principal balances of loans at the end of the reporting period. The following table presents ending receivables as of SeptemberA 30, 2024
and 2023 (in thousands): As of September 30, 2024Change20242023$%Ending recelvables$413 714A $415,933A $(2,219)(0.5)%29Table of
Contents AAA A A A A A Ending receivables decreased to $413.7 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $415.9 million as of SeptemberA 30,
2023. The 0.5% decrease was primarily driven by one of our bank partners retaining a higher percentage of loans originated in certain
states.Average YieldAverage yield represents total revenue from the period as a percent of average receivables and is presented as an annualized
metric. Receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances of loans. The following tables present average yield for the three and nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023: Three Months Ended September 30,Change20242023%Average yield,

annualized133.9A %128.5A %4.2A %Nine Months Ended September 30,Change20242023%Average yield,

annualized131.8A %127.3A %3.5A %Average yield increased to 133.9% and 131.8% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024,
respectively, from 128.5% and 127.3% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The 4.2% and 3.5% increases
were driven by a decrease in delinquent loans in the portfolio that were not accruing interest throughout the period as well as an increase in the
average statutory rate from a relative shift away from states with lower interest rates.Net Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Total Revenue and Net



Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Average ReceivablesNet charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue and net charge-offs as a percentage of
average receivables represent total charge-offs from the period less recoveries as a percentage of total revenue and as a percentage of average
receivables. Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables is presented as an annualized metric. Receivables are defined as the unpaid
principal balances of loans. Our charge-off policy is based on a review of delinquent finance receivables on a loan-by-loan basis. Finance
receivables are charged off at the earlier of the time when accounts reach 90 days past due on a recency basis, when we receive notification of a
customer bankruptcy, or when finance receivables are otherwise deemed uncollectible.The following tables present net charge-offs as a
percentage of total revenue and as an annualized percentage of average receivables for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024
and 2023: Three Months Ended September 30,Change20242023%Net charge-offs as % of total revenue34.3A %42.4A %(19.1)%Net charge-offs as
% of average receivables, annualized45.9A %54.5A %(15.8)%Nine Months Ended September 30,Change20242023%Net charge-offs as % of total
revenue38.2A %42.5A %(10.1)%Net charge-offs as % of average receivables, annualized50.3A %54.1A %(7.0)%Net charge-offs as a percentage of
total revenue decreased to 34.3% and 38.2% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from 42.4% and 42.5% for
the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The decreases in net charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue for the
three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 are a result of a higher yielding portfolio for the reasons discussed above in &€ceAverage
Yielda€ combined 30Table of Contents A A A A A A A A with both lower gross charge-offs and higher recoveries driving lower levels of net charge-
offs compared to the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables decreased to
45.9% and 50.3% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, respectively, from 54.5% and 54.1% for the three and nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The decreases in net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables for the three and nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 are a result of both lower gross charge-offs and higher recoveries driving lower levels of net charge-offs compared to
the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023.Auto-Approval RateAuto-approval rate is calculated by taking the number of approved
loans that are not decisioned by a loan processor or underwriter (auto-approval) divided by the total number of loans approved. The following
tables present auto approval rate for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023: Three Months Ended September
30,Change20242023%Auto-approval rate76. 8A %72.5A %5.9A %Nine Months Ended September 30,Change20242023%Auto- approval

rate75.4A %71.5A %5.5A %Auto-approval rate increased to 76.8% and 75.4% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024,
respectively, from 72.5% and 71.5% for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, respectively. The increases in auto-approval rate
for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 were driven by the continued application of algorithmic automation projects that
streamline frictional steps of the origination process.31Table of Contents AA A A A A A A RESULTS OF OPERATIONSComparison of the three
months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except share and per share data). Certain columns and rows may not sum due to the use of rounded
numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.Three Months Ended
September 30 Change(unaudlted)20242023$%Interest and loan related 1ncome$135 535A $132, 090A $3 4454 2. 6A %Other

(57, 302)11 877A (20 7)Pr0v1510n for credit losses on flnance recelvables(3)(195)192A (98 4)A A A AANet
revenue91,165A 75,668A 15,497A 20.5A . Expenses:Sales and marketing11, 256A 12,814A (1, ,558)(12.2)Customer
operatlons(a)lZ 202A 11 996A 206A 1.7A Technology, products, and analytlcsS 437A 9, 732A (1, 295)(13 3)General, administrative, and

expensell 285A 12 077A (792)(6 6)A A A A A Total expenses56, 073A 60,087A (4, 014)(6 7)AAA A A Income from
operat10n535 092A 15, 581A 19 51 1A 125 2A Change in falr value of warrant liabilities(1, 445)334A (1, 779)(532 .2)Income from equlty method

interest27, 793A 13,363A 14 430A 108.0AAAA A A Net income attributable to OppFl Inc. $4 264A $2 169A $2,095A 96.6A %Earnings per share
attributable to OppFi Inc.:Earnings per common share: :A A A Basic$0.21A $0.13A A A A Diluted$0.21A $0.13A Weighted average common shares
outstanding:A A A Basic20,248,00416,772,275A A A Diluted20,248,00417,057,778(a) Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all
periods presented, the Company reclassified certain expenses that were previously included in general, administrative, and other expenses to
customer operations expenses. Total RevenueTotal revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans
based on the interest method. We also earn revenue from referral fees related primarily to our &€ceTurn-Upa€ program, which represented 0.2%
of total revenue for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.32Table of Contents A A A A A A A A Total revenue increased by $3.4 million, or
2.6%, to $136.6 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $133.2 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023.
The increase was due to a higher average statutory rate for the loans in the portfolio as well as stronger payment activity driving a higher yield on
the balances.Change in Fair Value and Provision for Credit Losses on Finance ReceivablesCommencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair
value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we utilize discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses
and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss
data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of
return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did not elect the fair value option on
our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses.Change in fair value
consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the fair value on
the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $45.4 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, which was comprised
of $55.6 million of gross charge-offs, offset by $8.8 million of recoveries and a positive fair value adjustment of $1.4 million, down from $57.3
million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, which was comprised of $62.6 million of gross charge-offs and a negative fair value
adjustment of $1.0 million, offset by $6.3 million of recoveries. The fair value adjustment for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 had a
positive impact due to the increase in receivables over the period with a relatively flat fair value mark. Provision for credit losses on finance
receivables consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in allowance for credit losses for our SalaryTap
and OppFi Card products. Provision for credit losses on finance receivables decreased by $192 thousand to $3 thousand for the three months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $0.2 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. The decrease is largely attributed to very few
remaining active SalaryTap finance receivables during the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.Net RevenueNet revenue is equal to total
revenue less the change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables. Net revenue increased by $15.5 million, or 20.5%, to
$91.2 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $75.7 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This
increase was due to both the increase in total revenue and the decrease in change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance
receivables. ExpensesExpenses includes costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales
and marketing, customer operations, technology, products, and analytics, and general, administrative, and other expenses.Expenses decreased by
$4.0 million, or 6.7%, to $56.1 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, from $60.1 million for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023. The decrease in expenses was primarily driven by reduced payment processing fees related to a renegotiation, lower salary
expenses from headcount efficiency, and lower capitalized technology amortization expense. The decrease was partially offset by higher
professional fees. Expenses as a percent of total revenue decreased from 45.1% to 41.1% for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024
compared to the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023.Income from OperationsIncome from operations is the difference between net revenue
and expenses. Income from operations increased by $19.5 million to $35.1 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from income
from operations of $15.6 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This increase was driven by higher total revenue, lower change
in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables, and lower expenses for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 as a
result of the reasons stated above.33Table of Contents AA A A A A A A Change in Fair Value of Warrant LiabilitiesThe fair value of warrant
liabilities increased by $1.4 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and decreased by $0.3 million for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023. These warrant liabilities arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and
are subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date.Income from Equity Method InvestmentOn July 31, 2024, OppFi entered into the
Securities Purchase Agreement to acquire 35% of the outstanding equity securities of Bitty. OppFi determined that it does not have a controlling
financial interest in Bitty, but does exercise significant influence, and therefore the investment was accounted for under the equity method.
OppFia€™s proportionate share of Bittya€™s earnings was $0.6 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.0ther IncomeOther
income totaled $0.1 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and $0.1 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023.
Other income for both periods was comprised of $0.1 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space. Income
Before Income TaxesIncome before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the change in fair value of warrant liabilities, income from
equity method investment, and other income. Income before income taxes increased by $18.4 million, or 114.8%, to $34.4 million for the three
months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $16.0 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023 for the reasons stated above.Income Tax
ExpenseOppFi recorded an income tax expense of $2.3 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and $0.5 million for the three
months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This increase is largely attributed to OppFi Inc.4€™s increasing ownership in OppFi-LLC.Net IncomeNet



income is the difference between income before income taxes and income tax expense. Net income increased by $16.5 million to $32.1 million for
the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from net income of $15.5 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023 for the reasons
stated above.Net Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $4.3 million for the three months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024, up from net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $2.2 million for the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. Net income
attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi Inc. As a result of the Companya€™s Up-C structure,
the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense items related to OppFi Inc.a€™s status as
a public company, the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Companya€™s warrants, and the
Companya€™ s approximate percentage interest in the noncontrolling interest. For the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, the underlying
income or expense components attributable to OppFi Inc. include OppFi Inc.'s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling
interest of $8.7 million, partially offset by the loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $1.4 million, income tax expense of $2.3 million,
general and administrative expense of $0.6 million, and board fees of $0.1 million, for total net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $4.3 million.
For the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. include
OppFi Inc.a€™s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling interest of $2.4 million and the gain on change in fair value of
warrant liabilities of $0.3 million, partially offset by income tax expense of $0.4 million and general and administrative expense and board fees of
$0.1 million, for net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $2.2 million.Diluted Earnings per ShareFor the three months ended September 30, 2024
and 2023, the Companya€™s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were excluded in computing the diluted earnings per share as the
inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-converted method. Under the if-converted method, shares of the
Companya€™s Class V Voting Stock are assumed to 34Table of Contents AA A A A A A A be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of
the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock as of the beginning of the period.Comparison of the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and
2023The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands,
except share and per share data). Certain columns and rows may not sum due to the use of rounded numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages
presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.Nine Months Ended September 30,Change(unaudited)20242023$%Interest
and loan related 1ncome$386 890A $373 615A $13,275A 3.6A %Other revenue3,350A 2,410A 940A 39.0A A A A A A Total

revenue390,240A 376,025A 14,215A 3.8A Change in fair value of finance rece1vab1es(149 546)(164 463)14 917A (9.1)Provision for credit losses on
finance receivables(34)(4,131)4,097A (99.2)A A A A A Net revenue240,660A 207,431A 33,229A 16.0A Expenses:Sales and

marketlng30 258A 34, 975A 4, 717)(13 5)Cust0mer 0perat10ns(a)35 173A 34,770A 403A 1. 2A Technology, products, and

expenses170,797A 169 786A 1 011A 0 6A A A A A A Income from operat10ns69 863A 37 645A 32,218A 85.6A Change in fair value of warrant
liabilities2,750A 838A 1,912A 228 2A Income from equity method 1nvestment627A A€”A 627A 4€”A Other 1ncome2 39A 352A (113)

1ncome69 864A 37,538A 32,326A 86.1A Less: net 1ncome attrlbutable to noncontrolhng interest56, 997A 32 976A 24 021A 72 BAAAAAANet
income attributable to OppFiInc.$12, 867A $4, 562A $8, 305A 182.0A %Earnlngs per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:Earnings per common

outstandlng AAAAA Ba81019 711 75215,820,262A A A A A D11uted20 460,39616,046,831(a) Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024,
for all periods presented, the Company reclassified certain expenses that were previously included in general, administrative, and other expenses
to customer operations expenses. 35Table of Contents A A A A A A A A Total RevenueTotal revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from
interest on receivables from outstanding loans based on the interest method. We also earn revenue from referral fees related primarily to our
a€ceTurn-Upa€ program, which represented 0.2% of total revenue for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.Total revenue increased by
$14.2 million, or 3.8%, to $390.2 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $376.0 million for the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023. The increase was due to higher average receivables balances throughout the period, a higher average statutory rate for the
loans in the portfolio, and stronger payment activity driving a higher yield on the balances.Change in Fair Value and Provision for Credit Losses on
Finance ReceivablesCommencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair
value, we utilize discounted cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying
assets. Loss and prepayment assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and
anticipated future performance. Future cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based
on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are
carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses.Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the
OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled
$149.5 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, which was comprised of $174.6 million of gross charge-offs and a negative fair
value adjustment of $0.7 million, offset by $25.8 of recoveries, down from $164.5 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, which
was comprised of $178.5 million of gross charge-offs and a negative fair value adjustment of $5.2 million, offset by $19.2 million of recoveries. The
fair value adjustment for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 had a negative impact due to the decrease in receivables over the period
with a relatively flat fair value mark.Provision for credit losses on finance receivables consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of
recoveries, plus the change in allowance for credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Provision for credit losses on finance
receivables decreased by $4.1 million to $34 thousand for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $4.1 million for the nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. The decrease is largely attributed to very few remaining active SalaryTap finance receivables during the nine
months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, while provision for credit losses was increased during nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023 to account
for the then-impending closure of OppFi Card finance receivables.Net RevenueNet revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value
and provision for credit losses on finance receivables. Net revenue increased by $33.2 million, or 16.0%, to $240.7 million for the nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $207.4 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This increase was due to both the increase in
total revenue and the decrease in change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables. ExpensesExpenses includes costs
related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer operations,
technology, products, and analytics, and other general and administrative expenses.Expenses increased by $1.0 million, or 0.6%, to $170.8 million
for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $169.8 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. The increase in expenses
was primarily driven by a one-time expense associated with the exit activities from the OppFi Card product, a one-time adjustment as a result of
the reclassification of OppFi Card assets from held for sale to held for investment at amortized cost that offset expenses for the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023, and higher professional fees. The increase was partially offset by lower direct marketing spend expense resulting from a
shift towards relatively lower-cost loans, reduced payment processing fees related to a renegotiation, and lower capitalized technology
amortization expense. Despite the overall increase in expenses for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, expenses as a percent of total
revenue decreased from 45.2% to 43.8% for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to the nine months ended SeptemberA 30,
2023.36Table of Contents AA A A A A A A Income from OperationsIncome from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses.
Income from operations increased by $32.2 million to $69.9 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from income from operations
of $37.6 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This increase was driven primarily by higher total revenue and lower change in
fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables, slightly offset by higher expenses for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024
as a result of the reasons stated above.Change in Fair Value of Warrant LiabilitiesThe fair value of warrant liabilities decreased by $2.7 million
and $0.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These warrant liabilities arose with respect to warrants
issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date.Income from Equity
Method InvestmentOn July 31, 2024, OppFi entered into the Securities Purchase Agreement to acquire 35% of the outstanding equity securities of
Bitty. OppFi determined that it does not have a controlling financial interest in Bitty, but does exercise significant influence, and therefore the
investment was accounted for under the equity method. OppFia€™ s proportionate share of Bittya€™s earnings was $0.6 million for the nine
months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.0ther IncomeOther income totaled $0.2 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and $0.4
million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. For the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, other income includes $0.2 million in
income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space. For the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, other income includes
$0.2 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space and $0.1 million from the gain on partial loan forgiveness of
the secured borrowing payable.Income Before Income TaxesIncome before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the change in fair
value of warrant liabilities, income from equity method investment, and other income. Income before income taxes increased by $34.6 million, or
89.2%, to $73.5 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from $38.8 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023 for
the reasons stated above.Income Tax ExpenseOppFi recorded a provision for income taxes of $3.6 million for the nine months ended

SeptemberA 30, 2024 and $1.3 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. This increase is largely attributed to OppFi Inc.4€™s
increasing ownership in OppFi-LLC.Net IncomeNet income is the difference between income before income taxes and income tax expense. Net



income increased by $32.3 million to $69.9 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 from net income of $37.5 million for the for
the reasons stated above.Net Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $12.9 million for the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024, up from $4.6 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023. Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the
income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi Inc. As a result of the Companya€™s Up-C structure, the underlying income or expense
components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense items related to OppFi Inc.4€™ s status as a public company, the income or
expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Companya€™s warrants, and the Companya€™ s approximate percentage
interest in the noncontrolling interest. The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the nine months
ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 are OppFi Inc.4€™ s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling interest of $14.9 million and
gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $2.7 million, partially offset by income tax expense of $3.6 million, general and administrative
expense of $0.8 million, and board fees of $0.3 million, for total 37Table of Contents AA A A A A A A net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $12.9
million. The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023 are
OppFi Inc.4€™s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling interest of $5.6 million and gain on change in fair value of
warrant liabilities of $0.8 million, partially offset by income tax expense of $1.2 million, general and administrative expense of $0.3 million, and
board fees of $0.3 million, for total net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $4.6 million. Diluted Earnings per ShareFor the nine months ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Companya€™s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were excluded in computing the diluted earnings
per share as the inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-converted method. Under the if-converted method,
shares of the Companya€™s Class V Voting Stock are assumed to be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Companya€™s
Class A Common Stock as of the beginning of the period. CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETSComparison as of September 30, 2024 and December
31, 2023The following table presents our condensed balance sheet as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands). Certain
columns and rows may not sum due to the use of rounded numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are calculated from the
underlying whole-dollar amounts.(Unaudited)ChangeSeptember 30,December 31,$%20242023AssetsCash and restricted

cash$74,233A $73,943A $290A 0.4A %Finance receivables at fair value461,457A 463,320A (1,863)(0.4)Finance receivables at amortized cost,
net8A 110A (102)(92.8)Equity method investment19,429A a€”A 19,429A a€”A Other assets64,139A 64,170A (31)a€”A Total

assets$619,266A $601,543A $17,723A 2.9A %Liabilities and stockholdersa€™ equityAccounts payable and accrued

expenses$30,420A $26,448A $3,972A 15.0A %Other liabilities38,876A 40,086A (1,210)(3.0)Total debt325,550A 334,116A (8,566)(2.6)Warrant
liabilities4,114A 6,864A (2,750)(40.1)Total liabilities398,960A 407,514A (8,554)(2.1)Total stockholdersa€™

equity220,306A 194,029A 26,277A 13.5A Total liabilities and stockholders&€™ equity$619,266A $601,543A $17,723A 2.9A %38Table of Contents
AAAAAAA A Total cash and restricted cash increased by $0.3 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 driven by
an increase in received payments relative to originations, partially offset by the cash consideration for the acquisition of the equity interest in
Bitty. Finance receivables at fair value decreased by $1.9 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 mainly driven by
one of our bank partners retaining a higher percentage of loans originated in certain states. Finance receivables at amortized cost, net, decreased
by $0.1 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 due to the continued rundown of SalaryTap finance receivables.
Equity method investment increased by $19.4 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 due to the acquisition of 35%
of the outstanding equity securities in Bitty. Other assets decreased by $31 thousand as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31,
2023 mainly due to a decrease in the operating lease right of use asset of $1.2 million and a decrease in the deferred tax asset of $3.5 million,
partially offset by an increase in the settlement receivable of $3.2 million and an increase in property, equipment, and software of $1.1
million.Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased by $4.0 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 driven by
an increase in accrued expenses of $3.7 million and an increase in accounts payable of $0.2 million. Other liabilities decreased by $1.2 million as
of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 driven by a decrease in the operating lease liability of $1.3 million, partially offset by
an increase in the tax receivable agreement liability of $0.1 million. Total debt decreased by $8.6 million as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to
DecemberA 31, 2023 driven by a decrease in the term loan of $9.7 million and notes payable of $1.4 million, partially offset by an increase in
utilization of revolving lines of credit of $2.6 million. Warrant liabilities decreased by $2.8 million due to the decrease in the valuation of the
warrants as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023. Total stockholdersa€™ equity increased by $26.3 million as of
SeptemberA 30, 2024 compared to DecemberA 31, 2023 driven by net income and stock-based compensation, partially offset by purchases of
treasury stock and dividend issuance.NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURESWe believe that the provision of non-GAAP financial measures in this
report, including Adjusted EBT, Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted EPS can provide useful measures for period-to-period comparisons of our
business and useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our operating results. However, non-GAAP financial
measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP measures, should not be considered an alternative to any measure of financial performance
calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, and may not be comparable to the non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.Adjusted
EBT and Adjusted Net IncomeBeginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, we have updated our presentation and
calculation of Adjusted EBT, and the corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add
back debt issuance cost amortization.Adjusted EBT is a non-GAAP measure defined as our GAAP net income adjusted to eliminate the effect of
certain items as shown below, including income tax expense, other income, change in fair value of warrant liabilities, and other addbacks and one-
time expenses. Adjusted Net Income is a non-GAAP measure defined as our Adjusted EBT less pro forma taxes for comparison purposes. We
believe that Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net Income are important measures because they allow management, investors, and our Board to
evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by making the adjustments described below.Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net
Income exclude certain expenses that are required in accordance with GAAP because they are non-recurring items (such as severance), non-cash
expenditures (such as changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities and expenses related to stock compensation), or are not related to our
underlying business performance. We believe these adjustments provide investors with a comparative view of expenses that the Company expects
to incur on an ongoing basis.The following tables present reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures for the three and nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except share and per share data). Certain columns and rows may not sum due to the use of rounded
numbers for disclosure purposes. Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.39Table of Contents

A AAAAAAA Comparison of the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023(in thousands, except share and per share data)Three
Months Ended September 30,Variance(unaudited)20242023$%Net income$32, 057A $15,532A $16,525A 106.4A %Income tax

expense2,297A 463A 1,834A 396.4A Other income(80)(80)a€”A 4€”A Change in fair value of warrant liabilities1,445A (334)1,779A 532.2A Other
addbacks and one-time expenses, net(a)1,967A 1,991A (24)(1.2)Adjusted EBT(b)37,686A 17,572A 20,114A 114.5A Less: pro forma taxes(c)
8,878A 4,247A 4,631A 109.0A Adjusted net income(b)$28,808A $13,325A $15,483A 116.2A %Adjusted earnings per

share(b)$0.33A $0.16A Weighted average diluted shares outstanding86,806,62885,288,105(a) For the three months ended September 30, 2024,
other addbacks and one-time expenses, net, of $2.0 million included $1.1 million in expenses related to stock compensation, $0.9 million in
expenses related to legal matters, and $0.1 million in expenses related to OppFi Carda€™s exit activities, partially offset by a $0.2 million addback
related to corporate development. For the three months ended September 30, 2023, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net, of $2.0 million
included $1.1 million in expenses related to stock compensation, $0.4 million in expenses related to corporate development, $0.2 million in
expenses related to legal matters, $0.2 million in expenses related to provision for credit losses on the OppFi Card finance receivables, and $0.1
million in expenses related to retention and severance.(b) Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the
Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and the corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net
Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.(c) Assumes a tax rate of 23.56% for the three months ended
September 30, 2024 and 24.17% for the three months ended September 30, 2023, reflecting the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended
statutory rate for state income taxes.Comparison of the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023(in thousands, except share and per
share data)Nlne Months Ended September 30 Varlance(unaudlted)20242023$%Net income$69,864A $37,538A $32,326A 86.1A %Income tax
expense3,615A 1,297A 2,318A 178.7A Other income(239)(352)113A (32. 1)Change in fair value of warrant hab111t1es(2 750)(838)

(1,912)228.2A Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net(a)11,103A 5,934A 5,169A 87.1A AdJusted EBT(b)81 593A 43,579A 38,014A 87.2A Less:
pro forma taxes(c)19, 223A 10,531A 8,692A 82.5A Adjusted net income(b)$62,370A $33,048A $29,322A 88.7A %Adjusted earnings per
share(b)$0.72A $0.39A Weighted average diluted shares outstanding86,368,93084,826,413(a) For the nine months ended September 30, 2024,
other addbacks and one-time expenses, net, of $11.1 million included $4.2 million in expenses related to stock compensation, $3.0 million in
expenses related to OppFi Carda€™s exit activities, $2.1 million in expenses related to legal matters, $1.2 million in expenses related to
severance, and $0.7 million in expenses related to corporate development. For the nine months ended September 30, 2023, other addbacks and
one-time expenses, net, of $5.9 million included $4.0 million in expenses related to provision for credit losses on the OppFi Card finance
receivables, $3.1 million in expenses related to stock compensation, $0.9 million in expenses related to retention and severance, $0.8 million in
expenses related to corporate development, and $0.2 million in expenses related to legal matters, partially offset by a $3.0 million addback from
the reclassification of OppFi Card finance receivables from assets held for sale to assets held for investment at amortized cost.(b) Beginning with
the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and the



corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.(c)
Assumes a tax rate of 23.56% for the nine months ended September 30, 2024 and a 24.17% tax rate for the nine months ended September 30,
2023, reflecting the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes.40Table of Contents

A A AAAAA A Adjusted Earnings Per ShareAdjusted EPS is defined as adjusted net income divided by weighted average diluted shares
outstanding, which represents shares of both classes of common stock outstanding, excluding 25,500,000 shares related to earnout units, and
including the impact of dilutive securities, such as restricted stock units, performance stock units, and stock options. The earnout units were not
earned pursuant to the earnout provisions of the Business Combination Agreement on or prior to July 21, 2024, the third anniversary of the
closing date of the Companya€™s business combination. Accordingly, on such date the earnout units and associated Class V Voting Stock were
forfeited. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because, due to the Companya€™s Up-C structure, Basic EPS
calculated on a GAAP basis excludes a large percentage of the Companya€™s outstanding shares of common stock, which are Class V Voting
Stock, and Diluted EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes dilutive securities, including Class V Voting Stock, restricted stock units, performance
stock units, and stock options, in any periods in which their inclusion would have an antidilutive effect. Shares of the Companya€™s Class V
Voting Stock may be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock. We believe that presenting
Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because it presents the Companya€™s Adjusted Net Income on a per share basis based on the
shares of the Companya€™s common stock that would be issued but for, and can be issued as a result of, the Companya€™s Up-C structure.The
following tables present reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures for the three and nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands, except share and per share data). Certain columns and rows may not sum due to the use of rounded numbers for disclosure purposes.
Percentages presented are calculated from the underlying whole-dollar amounts.Comparison of the three months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 and
2023Three Months Ended September 30,(unaudited)20242023Weighted average Class A common stock
outstanding20,248,00416,772,275Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding65,664,35893,730,327Elimination of earnouts at period
enda€”(25,500,000)Dilutive impact of restricted stock units811,941235,514Dilutive impact of performance stock units73,56449,989Dilutive
impact of stock options8,761a€"Weighted average diluted shares outstanding86,806,62885,288,105(in thousands, except share and per share
data)Three Months EndedSeptember 30, 2024Three Months EndedSeptember 30, 2023(unaudited)$Per Share$Per ShareWeighted average
diluted shares outstanding86,806,628A 85,288,105A Net income$32,057A $0.37A $15,532A $0.18A Income tax

expense2,297A 0.03463A 0.010ther income(80)a€”(80)a€”Change in fair value of warrant liabilities1,445A 0.02(334)a€”Other addbacks and one-
time expenses, net1,967A 0.021,991A 0.02Adjusted EBT(a)37,686A 0.4317,572A 0.21Less: pro forma taxes8,878A 0.104,247A 0.05Adjusted net
income(a)$28,808A $0.33A $13,325A $0.16A (a) Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has
updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.41Table of Contents AA A A A A A A Comparison of the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023Nine Months Ended September 30,(unaudited)20242023Weighted average Class A common stock
outstanding19,711,75215,820,262Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding65,908,53494,279,582Elimination of earnouts at period
enda€”(25,500,000)Dilutive impact of restricted stock units672,399198,698Dilutive impact of performance stock units73,32527,871Dilutive
impact of stock options2,920a€”Weighted average diluted shares outstanding86,368,93084,826,413(in thousands, except share and per share
data)Nine Months EndedSeptember 30, 2024Nine Months EndedSeptember 30, 2023(unaudited)$Per Share$Per ShareWeighted average diluted
shares outstanding86,368,930A 84,826,413A Net income$69,864A $0.81A $37,538A $0.44A Income tax expense3,615A 0.041,297A 0.020ther
income(239)a€”(352)a€”Change in fair value of warrant liabilities(2,750)(0.03)(838)(0.01)Other addbacks and one-time expenses,

net11,103A 0.135,934A 0.07Adjusted EBT(a)81,593A 0.9443,579A 0.51Less: pro forma taxes19,223A 0.2210,531A 0.12Adjusted net
income(a)$62,370A $0.72A $33,048A $0.39A (a) Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has
updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCESTo date, the funds received from operating
income and our ability to obtain lending commitments have provided the liquidity necessary for us to fund our operations.Maturities of our
financing facilities are staggered over two years to help minimize refinance risk.The following table presents our unrestricted cash and undrawn
debt as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands) September 30,December 31,20242023Unrestricted

cash$44,838A $31,791A Undrawn debt$199, 450A $192,333A As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, OppFi had $44.8 million in unrestricted cash, an
increase of $13.0 million from DecemberA 31, 2023. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, OppFi had an additional $199.4 million of unused debt capacity
under its financing facilities for future availability, representing a 38% overall undrawn capacity, an increase from $192.3 million as of
DecemberA 31, 2023. The increase in undrawn debt was driven primarily by using excess cash to pay down debt on our term loan. Including total
financing commitments of $525.0 million and cash and restricted cash on the balance sheet of $74.2 million, OppFi had approximately $599.2
million in funding capacity as of SeptemberA 30, 2024.42Table of Contents A A A A A A A A OppFi believes that its unrestricted cash, undrawn
debt and funds from operating income will be sufficient to meet its liquidity needs, including repayment of the current portion of its debt as it
becomes due, for at least the next 12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report. The Companya€™s future capital requirements will depend
on multiple factors, including its revenue growth, aggregate receivables balance, interest expense, working capital requirements, cash provided
by and used in operating, investing and financing activities and capital expenditures.To the extent OppFia€™ s unrestricted cash balances, funds
from operating income and funds from undrawn debt are insufficient to satisfy its liquidity needs in the future, the Company may need to raise
additional capital through equity or debt financing and may not be able to do so on terms acceptable to the Company, if at all. If the Company is
unable to raise additional capital when needed, its results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely impacted. CASH
FLOWSThe following table presents cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities during the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):Nine Months Ended September 30,Change(In thousands, except % change)20242023$%Net cash
provided by operating activities$229,299A $213,588A $15,711A 7.4A A %Net cash used in investing activities(170,607)(179,983)9,376A (5.2)Net
cash used in financing activities(58,402)(17,248)(41,154)238.6A Net increase in cash and restricted cash$290A $16,357A $(16,067)

(98.2)A A %Operating ActivitiesNet cash provided by operating activities was $229.3 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024.
This was an increase of $15.7 million when compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $213.6 million for the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023. Cash provided by operating activities increased mainly due to higher net income.Investing ActivitiesNet cash used in
investing activities was $170.6 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2024. This was a decrease of $9.4 million when compared to net
cash used in investing activities of $180.0 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30, 2023, mainly due to lower finance receivables
originated and acquired and higher finance receivables repaid and recovered, partially offset by the cash consideration for the acquisition of the
equity interest in Bitty.Financing ActivitiesNet cash used in financing activities was $58.4 million for the nine months ended SeptemberA 30,
2024. This was an increase of $41.2 million when compared to net cash used in financing activities of $17.2 million for the nine months ended
SeptemberA 30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in distributions to members of OppFi-LLC, net payments of senior debt, repurchases of
common stock, and dividends paid on common stock.43Table of Contents AA A A A A A A FINANCING ARRANGEMENTSOur corporate credit
facilities consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities that we have drawn on to finance our operations and for other corporate purposes.
These borrowings are generally secured by all the assets of OppFi-LLC that have not otherwise been sold or pledged to secure our structured
finance facilities, such as assets belonging to certain of the special purpose entity subsidiaries of OppFi-LLC (a&€ceSPEsa€). In addition, we,
through our SPEs, have entered into warehouse credit facilities to partially finance the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our
bank partners through our platform, which credit facilities are secured by the loans or participation rights. For a detailed discussion on financing
arrangements refer to Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The
following is a summary of OppFia€™s outstanding borrowings as of September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, including borrowing capacity as
of SeptemberA 30, 2024 (in thousands):BorrowingSeptember 30,December 31,Interest Rate as
ofMaturityPurposeBorrower(s)Capacity20242023September 30, 2024DateSenior debt, netRevolving line of creditOpportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
(Tranche B)$125,000A $84,500A $103,400A SOFRplus6.75%]June 2026Revolving line of creditOpportunity Funding SPE V, LLC (Tranche
C)125,000A 62,500A 37,500A SOFRplus7.50%]July 2027Revolving line of creditOpportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC

(Castlelake)150,000A 85,871A 93,871A SOFRplus7.50%December 2026Revolving line of creditGray Rock SPV X

LLC75,000A 52,896A 48,442A SOFRplus7.45%0ctober 2026Total revolving lines of credit475,000A 285,767A 283,213A Term loan, netOppFi-
LLC50,000A 39,783A 49,454A SOFRplus0.1 1%plus10.00%September 2025Total senior debt, net$525,000A $325,550A $332,667A Note
PayableFinanced insurance premiumOppFi-LLC$a€”A $a€”A $1,4499.70%]June 2024(1)(1) Maturity date as of 12/31/2023 and for the subsequent
period until the borrowing was paid in full in June 2024.LIBOR TransitionIn July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR,
announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. On December 31, 2021, ICE Benchmark
Administration, the administrator of LIBOR, announced plans to cease publication for all USD LIBOR tenors (except the one- and two-week tenors,
which ceased on December 31, 2021) on June 30, 2023. The Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York have identified the
SOFR as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. As of SeptemberA 30, 2024, all of our LIBOR-based credit
facilities have been transitioned to the SOFR. The replacement of LIBOR did not have any material effect on our liquidity or the financial terms of



our credit facilities.44Table of Contents AA AAAAAA CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATESThere have been no material changes to the
information on critical accounting estimates in our 2023 Annual Report.ITEM 3. A A A A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISKA As a 4€cesmaller reporting company,a€ as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K, the Company is not required to provide
the information required by this Item.ITEMA 4.A A A A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURESEvaluation of Disclosure Controls and ProceduresUnder
the supervision and with the participation of the Companya€™s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has evaluated
the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Companya€™ s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of SeptemberA 30, 2024 (4€ceEvaluation Datea€). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Companya€™s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to
the material weakness in its internal control over financial reporting disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of our 2023 Annual Report.Previously Identified
Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial ReportingNotwithstanding the material weakness in the Company&a€™s internal control over
financial reporting described below, the Companya€™s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, the Company's
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the periods presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles in the United States. As discussed in Part II, Item 9A in our 2023 Annual Report, management determined that the Companya€™s
internal control over financial reporting was not effective due to the existence of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting
related to information technology general controls associated with the Companya€™s financially relevant information systems. Management
determined that the Companya€™s user access controls designed to ensure appropriate segregation of duties, adequate restriction of users and
privileged access to the Companya€™s financially relevant information systems were not operating effectively and the Companya€™ s user access
control designed to ensure appropriate segregation of duties was not designed effectively. Management believes that compensating controls are in
place and operating effectively to mitigate the risks associated with the identified material weakness as it is being remediated (as described
below).Remediation Plan for Previously Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial ReportingManagement is committed to
remediating the material weakness described above as promptly as possible. Management believes that certain of the controls in question are
designed effectively and that these controls, when operating effectively, will provide appropriate remediation of part of the material weakness. In
particular, as part of its remediation plan, the Company is implementing comprehensive access control protocols in order to implement
restrictions on user and privileged access to the Companya€™ s financially relevant information systems and will be providing internal control
training for personnel involved in remediating this material weakness. In addition, management continues to design and implement new controls
to ensure appropriate segregation of duties. Management intends to test the ongoing operating effectiveness of the controls in future periods. The
material weakness cannot be considered completely remediated until the applicable controls have operated for a sufficient period of time and
management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating effectively. The Company can provide no assurance
that its remediation efforts described herein will be successful and that the Company will not have material weaknesses in the future. Changes in
Internal Control Over Financial ReportingOther than the planned changes to the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting described
in 4€ceRemediation Plan for Previously Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reportinga€ above, there were no changes
in the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act)
during the quarter ended SeptemberA 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Companya€™s
PROCEEDINGSSee a€ceLegal contingenciesa€ of Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.ITEM 1A.A A A A RISK FACTORSThere have been no material changes from the Risk Factors previously disclosed in Part 1,
Item 1A, of our 2023 Annual Report.ITEM 2. A A A A UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS On April 9,
2024, the Company announced that the Board had authorized the Repurchase Program for the Company to repurchase up to $20.0 million in the
aggregate of shares of the Companya€™s Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from time to time, on
the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the Company and in
accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and other applicable legal requirements, including
restrictions in the Companya€™ s existing credit facilities. Repurchases may be made pursuant to any trading plan that may be adopted in
accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1, which would permit Common Stock to be repurchased when the Company might otherwise be precluded from
doing so under insider trading laws. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. The
Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be
extended, modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time. For each share of Common Stock that the Company repurchases under the
Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC, the Companya€™s direct subsidiary, will redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by the Company,
decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by the Company and relatively increasing the ownership by the other members. The
Repurchase Program will expire in April 2027. The table below shows information regarding our monthly repurchases of our Class A Common
Stock during the third quarter of 2024.PeriodTotal Number of Shares RepurchasedAverage Price Paid per ShareTotal Number of Shares
Purchased as part of the Repurchase ProgramApproximate Dollar Value of Shares that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Repurchase ProgramJuly
1 - July 31, 202476,242A $3.46A 76,242A $17,201,752A August 1 - August 31, 202461,650A 3.52A 61,650A 16,983,410A September 1 - September
30, 2024127,103A 4.18A 127,103A 16,449,465A Total264,995A $3.82A 264,995A $16,449,465A ITEM 3. A A A A DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR
SECURITIESA None.ITEMA 4.A A A A MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURESNot applicable.ITEM 5. A A A A OTHER INFORMATIONA Securities Trading
Plans of Directors and Executive OfficersDuring the last fiscal quarter, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the
Exchange Act) informed us of the adoption and termination of a &€ceRule 10b5-1 trading arrangementa€ or &€cenon-rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement,a€ each as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.46Table of Contents

2024, by and among Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC, Opportunity Financial, LLC, OppWin, LLC, UMB Bank, N.A., Randolph Receivables LLC,
and the other lenders party thereto.10.2a€ +Securities Purchase Agreement, dated July 31, 2024, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,
Opportunity Financial SMB, LLC, Blaze Capital Funding 5, LLC, and the seller principals party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
of the Companya€™s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-39550) filed with the SEC on August 1, 2024).10.3a€ +* Twelfth Amendment to
Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility and Amendment to Security Agreement, dated September 13, 2024, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors thereto, Midtown Madison Management LLC, and the lenders party

thereto.10.44€ *Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated September 26, 2024, by and among Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC,
Opportunity Financial, LLC, OppWin, LLC, UMB Bank, N.A., Randolph Receivables LLC, and the other lenders party thereto.31.1*Certification of
Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
200231.2*Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200232.1**Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200232.2**Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002101.INS*Inline XBRL Instance DocumentA - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document101.SCH*Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
Document101.CAL*Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document101.DEF*Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
Linkbase Document101.LAB*Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document101.PRE*Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document104*Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) a€
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item (601)(b)(10).+ Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this
exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and
schedules to the SEC upon its request.* Filed herewith.** Furnished herewith. 47Table of Contents A A A A A A A A SIGNATURESPursuant to the
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.Date: NovemberA 7, 20240ppFi Inc. By:/s/ Pamela D. JohnsonPamela D. JohnsonChief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)48DocumentExhibit 10.1[***] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED
PURSUANT TO REGULATION S-K, ITEM 601(B)(10). SUCH EXCLUDED INFORMATION IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENTTHIS AMENDMENT NO. 3
TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this &€ceAmendmenta€), dated as of July 17, 2024 (the a€ceClosing Datea€) to that certain Revolving
Credit Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2022, (as amended, restated supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the
d€meExisting Credit Agreementa€ and, as amended by this Amendment, the 4€ceAmended Credit Agreementd€), among Opportunity Funding SPE
IX, LLC (the a&€meBorrowera€), Opportunity Financial, LLC (the a€ceCompanya€), as originator (in such capacity, the a€oeOriginatora€), as servicer
(in such capacity, the &€meServicera€) and as a Seller (as defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC (&€cOppWina€), as a Seller,
UMB Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the a€ceAdministrative Agenta€) and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the
a€ceCollateral Agenta€ and together with the Administrative Agent, the a€eAgentsa€), Randolph Receivables LLC, as Castlelake Representative




and as a Lender, and the other Lenders party thereto from time to time (together with Randolph Receivables LLC, the &€ceLendersa€, and each,
individually, a 4€ceLendera€). PRELIMINARY STATEMENTSWHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Originator, the Servicer and each Seller
party thereto (collectively, the a€ceCredit Partiesa€ and each, individually, a a€ceCredit Partya€), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders
entered into the Existing Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the a€ceFacilitya€) to the Borrower
and the Borrower agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the
Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of its assets; andWHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as more
specifically set forth herein on the terms and conditions set forth herein. NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and
valuable consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:AGREEMENT1.Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment
(including the recitals hereto, which are herein incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit
Agreement, unless otherwise stated.[OppFunding SPE IX] Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement2.Amendments to Credit Agreement.
Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 5 and the other terms and conditions of this Amendment, upon the Closing Date,
the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by:amending and restating paragraph 10 of Appendix C of the Existing Credit Agreement as
follows:[***].3.Limitation of Amendments.(a)The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall
be limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past, present or future
violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall not, directly or indirectly in any
way whatsoever either: (i)A impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agenta€™s or any Lendera€™s right at any time to exercise any
right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document (all of
which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of
the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for
altering any obligation of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or any Lender under the
Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any consent (deemed or express) by any
Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related
document. There are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject
matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or
any other related document.(b)This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Existing Credit Agreement

.4 .Representations and Warranties.(a)Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the
performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all requisite power and
authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit Agreement.(b)Each Credit Party represents and
warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement, as applicable, constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable
against it in accordance with the respective terms hereof and thereof, except as 2[OppFunding SPE IX] Third Amendment to Revolving Credit
Agreement(c)enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law) or by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting creditorsa€™ rights generally.(d)Each Credit Party
(with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of the Existing Credit Agreement
are true and correct in all material respects after giving effect to this Amendment on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the
date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of Default exists
(after giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms. 5.Conditions
Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions
precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:(a)The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly
executed by the Credit Parties;(b)After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties contained herein and
in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for such
representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date
(except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time); and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
(c)Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all other amounts required to be paid pursuant to the Amended Credit
Agreement on the Closing Date and all outstanding Permitted Expenses for which Borrower has received an invoice.6.Ratifications. The terms and
provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement
and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified and superseded by this Amendment and that on and after the date hereof all
references in the other Credit Documents to the 4&€ceCredit Agreement,a€ a€cethereto,a€ a€cethereof,a€ d€oethereundera€ or words of like import
referring to the Existing Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the Amended Credit Agreement, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit
Agreement and the other Credit Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Closing Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The
Borrower and the Company each hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit
Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The
Credit Parties, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall
continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating 3[OppFunding SPE IX] Third Amendment to
Revolving Credit Agreement?7.to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such
enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).8.Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees
that this Amendment constitutes a &€ceCredit Document.a€ Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any
representation or warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false in any material respect
when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of
such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any
Lender of such falsity.9.Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the negotiation, preparation,
execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit Agreement.10.Severability. Any provision of this
Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the
invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.11.Successors and
Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective
successors and permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder
without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.12.Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by
different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute
a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means shall be
effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.13.No Waiver. Nothing contained in this Amendment shall be
construed as a waiver by the Agents or the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, or
of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and the Agents at any
time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of
the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the
Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and any
one or more of the Agents and the Lenders.4[OppFunding SPE IX] Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement14.Headings. Article and
Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be
taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.15.Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).16.Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT
CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND
SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER
THEREOF.17.Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.18.Agent Instruction. By its execution hereof, each undersigned Lender and the
Castlelake Representative hereby authorize and direct the Agents to execute and deliver this Amendment on the date hereof. [SIGNATURE PAGES
FOLLOWI]A A A A 5[OppFunding SPE IX] Third Amendment to Revolving Credit AgreementIN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has
executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written. OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE IX, LLC,as BorrowerBy: /s/ Todd SchwartzName: Todd
SchwartzTitle: CEOOPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller By: /s/ Todd SchwartzName: Todd
SchwartzTitle: CEOOPPWIN, LLC,as a Seller By: /s/ Todd SchwartzName: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEO[Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to
Revolving Credit Agreement (OppFunding IX)JA A A A UMB BANK, N.A.,as Administrative Agent and Collateral AgentBy: /s/ Marilee



Sobieski Name: Marilee SobieskiTitle: Vice PresidentRANDOLPH RECEIVABLES LLCas Castlelake Representative and a
LenderBy: CIO II INVESTMENTS USA LLC, its managing memberBy: /s/ Ben ThompsonName: Ben ThompsonTitle: Vice President[Signature Page
to Amendment No. 3 to Revolving Credit Agreement (OppFunding IX)JACKNOWLEDGED AND CONSENTED TO:OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE
I1I, LLC,as a GuarantorBy: /s/ Todd Schwartz Name: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEO[Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to Revolving
Credit Agreement (OppFunding IX)]DocumentExhibit 10.3[***] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED
PURSUANT TO REGULATION S-K, ITEM 601(B)(10). SUCH EXCLUDED INFORMATION IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO SECURITY
AGREEMENTTHIS TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO SECURITY AGREEMENT (this &€ceAgreementa€) is
made and entered into as of September 13, 2024 (the d€cecEffective Datea€), by and among OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (the &€eBorrowera€), the Lenders party hereto, and MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (the &€ceAdministrative Agenta€).PRELIMINARY STATEMENTSA.A A A A The Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto
(individually, a &€ceLendera€ and, collectively, the 4€ceLendersa€), and Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Senior Secured Multi-
Draw Term Loan Agreement dated November 9, 2018, as amended to date (as may be further amended, restated or otherwise modified from time
to time, the A€ceLoan Agreementa€);B.A A A A The Borrower and Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Security Agreement dated
November 9, 2018, as amended to date (as may be further amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the &€ceSecurity
Agreementa€);C.A A A A The Borrower, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent desire to, pursuant to Section 11.02(b) of the Loan Agreement
and Section 5.02(b) of the Security Agreement, amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement and the Security Agreement, but only to the
extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties, in each case, set forth
below, and Guarantors desire to acknowledge and agree to such amendments; andD.A A A A The Administrative Agent and the Lenders are willing
to amend the Loan Agreement and the Security Agreement subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement. NOW, THEREFORE, in
consideration of the premises herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:AGREEMENT1.A A A A Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in
this Agreement but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Loan Agreement (including, for the avoidance or doubt, as
amended hereby), unless otherwise stated.[OppLoans] Twelfth Amendment #2271768244870-7711-6122v.52.A A A A Amendments to Loan
Agreement. Effective as of the Effective Date, the Loan Agreement is hereby amended (a) to delete the stricken text (indicated textually in the
same manner as the following examples: stricken text and stricken text) and (b) to add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same
manner as the following examples: double-underlined text and double-underlined text), in each case, as set forth in the marked copy of the Loan
Agreement, along with any included exhibits and schedules to the Loan Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A hereto and made a part hereof
for all purposes.3.A A A A Amendments to Security Agreement. Effective as of the Effective Date, the definition of 4&€cePermitted Liensa€ in the
Security Agreement is hereby amended by (i) replacing &€cethe Borrowersa€™ a€ appearing in clause (i) thereof with &€ceany Grantora€ ™ sa€, (ii)
replacing the &€ce;&€ at the end of clause (p) of such definition with &€ce; anda€, (iii) replacing the 4€ce;a€ at the end of clause (q) of such
definition with a€ce.&€, and (iv) deleting clauses (r) and (s) of such definition.4. A A A A Limitation of Amendments. a.A A A A The amendments set
forth in SectionsA 2 and 3 are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written. This Agreement does not, and
shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Loan Agreement, the other Basic Documents or any
other related document, and shall not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i)A impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect
Administrative Agenta€™s or any Lendera€™s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Loan Agreement,
any other Basic Document or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by Administrative Agent and Lenders),
(ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of the Loan Agreement, any other Basic Document or any other related
document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any obligation of Borrower or any of its Affiliates or any right, privilege
or remedy of Administrative Agent or any Lender under the Loan Agreement, any other Basic Document or any other related document or (iv)
constitute any consent (deemed or express) by Administrative Agent to any prior, existing or future violations of the Loan Agreement, any other
Basic Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or
representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Loan Agreement, any
other Basic Document or any other related document.b.A A A A This Agreement shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan
Agreement and the Security Agreement, as applicable, and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth
in the Loan Agreement and the Security Agreement, each as amended by this Agreement, and each other Basic Document are hereby ratified and
confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect.2[OppLoans] Twelfth Amendment#2271768245.A A A A Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness
of Agreement. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in
writing by Administrative Agent:a.A A A A Administrative Agent shall have received this Agreement duly executed by the Borrower and
Guarantors; b.AAAAAAAA Administrative Agent shall have received true, correct and complete copies of the Bitty Purchase
Documents;c.A A A A Administrative Agent shall have received evidence that the Bitty Acquisition has been consummated in accordance with the
Bitty Purchase Agreement without any waivers therefrom; andd.A A A A After giving effect to the terms of this Agreement, the representations
and warranties contained herein and in the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects
(except for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the
Effective Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time); and no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be
continuing.6.A A A A Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Agreement shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and
provisions set forth in the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents and, except as expressly modified and superseded by this Agreement,
the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall
continue in full force and effect. The Borrower hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the
Basic Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations.
The Borrower and Administrative Agent agree that the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be
legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general
equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).7.A A A A Representations and
Warranties with respect to Basic Documents. The Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Administrative Agent that (a) the execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement and any and all other Basic Documents or other documents or instruments executed and/or delivered
in connection herewith have been authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of the Borrower and will not violate the Third Amended
and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Borrower; and (b) the Borrower is in compliance, in all material respects, with all
covenants and agreements contained in the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, as amended hereby.3[OppLoans] Twelfth
Amendment#2271768248.A A A A Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties made by the Borrower in the
Loan Agreement, the Security Agreement and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to the Loan
Agreement or the Security Agreement shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and
delivery of this Agreement, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the
Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any
credit is extended, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Advance or any fee or any
other amount payable under the Loan Agreement is outstanding and unpaid and so long as the Term Loan Commitments have not expired or
terminated.9.A A A A Reference to Loan Agreement. Each of the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and any and all other
agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms hereof or pursuant to the terms of the Loan
Agreement, as amended hereby, are hereby amended so that any reference in the Loan Agreement and such other Basic Documents to the Loan
Agreement or the Security Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement or the Security Agreement, as applicable, as amended
hereby.10.A A A A Expenses of Administrative Agent. The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses
incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates in connection with the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement in accordance with
Section 11.03(a) of the Loan Agreement.11.A A A A Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not
invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.12.A A A A Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the
benefit of the Administrative Agent, Lenders, the Borrower, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Borrower may
not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of Administrative
Agent.13.A A A A Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each
of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
a signature page to this Agreement by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this




Agreement.14.A A A A No Waiver. Other than as specifically set forth in Sections 2 and 3, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed
as an amendment or waiver by Administrative Agent or Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Loan Agreement, the other Basic Documents,
this Agreement, or of any other contract or instrument among the Borrower, Lenders 4[OppLoans] Twelfth Amendment#227176824and
Administrative Agent, and the failure of Lenders and Administrative Agent at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by
Borrower of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of Administrative Agent to thereafter demand strict compliance
therewith. Administrative Agent and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Loan Agreement, the other Basic
Documents, this Agreement and any other contract or instrument among the Borrower and any one or more of Administrative Agent and
Lenders.15.A A A A Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not
part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this

Agreement.16.A A A A Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS
OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF
THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).17.A A A A Final Agreement. THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT, EACH AS
AMENDED HEREBY, AND THE OTHER BASIC DOCUMENTS, CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES
RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL
OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF.18.A A A A Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement.[Page intentionally
left blank; signature pages follow]5[OppLoans] Twelfth Amendment#227176824IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed
this Agreement as of the date first above-written. BORROWER:OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,a Delaware limited liability company

By:A A A A /s/ Todd SchwartzA A A A A A A A Name: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEO[SIGNATURE PAGE TO TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN
AGREEMENT(TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT)JADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLCBy: /s/
David AidiA A A A Name: David AidiTitle: Authorized SignatoryLENDERS:ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND VII LPBy: /s/ David

AidiA A A A Name: David AidiTitle: Authorized SignatoryATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND (CAYMAN) VII LPBy: /s/ David

AidiA A A A Name: David AidiTitle: Authorized Signatory[SIGNATURE PAGE TO TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT(TWELFTH
AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT)JACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: GUARANTORS:OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC,OPPWIN,
LLC,OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE II, LLC,OPPFI MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC,OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC,OPPWIN
CARD, LLC,SALARYTAP, LLC,OPPWIN SALARYTAP, LLC,OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL LOANS, LLC,OPPWIN LOANS, LLCOPPORTUNITY
FINANCIAL SMB, LLCOPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL SMB HOLDINGS, LLCBy: /s/ Todd SchwartzA A A A A A A A Name: Todd SchwartzTitle:
CEO[ACKNOWLEDGE TO TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT (TWELFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT)]EXHIBIT A[See
attached][OppLoans] Twelfth Amendment #227176824Conformed through Twelfth AmendmentSENIOR SECURED MULTI-DRAW TERM LOAN
FACILITYdated as ofNovember 9, 2018amongOPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,The other borrowers party hereto,as Borrowersthe Lenders Party
HeretoandMIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,as Administrative Agentup to $50 000 OOO[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428TABLE OF CONTENTSPageARTICLE I DEFINITIONSA A A A 1Section 1.01A A A A Defined TermsA A A A 1Section

1.02A A A A Terms GenerallyA A A A 32Section 1.03A A A A Accounting Terms; GAAP; Pro Forma BasisA A A A 32ARTICLE II THE

CREDITSA A A A 33Section 2.01A A A A Term Loan CommitmentsA A A A 33Section 2.02A A A A Advances, Etc.A A A A 33Section

2.03A A A A Requests for AdvancesA A A A 34Section 2.04A A A A Funding of AdvancesA A A A 35Section 2.05A A A A Termination of the Term

Loan CommitmentsA A A A 37Section 2.06A A A A Repayment of Advances; Evidence of DebtA A A A 37Section 2.07AAA A Prepayment of

AdvancesA A A A 38Section 2.08A A A A Prepayment Additional Interest; Certain FeesA A A A 40Section 2.09A A A A InterestA A A A 40Section
2.10AAAA [Reserved]. A A AA41Section 2.11A A A A TaxesA A A A 41Section 2.12A AAA Payments Generally; Application of Payments; Sharing
of Set-offsA A A A 45ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIESA A A A 46Section 3.01AAA A Representations and Warranties of the
Credit PartiesA A A A 46Section 3.02A A A A ReservedA A A A 50Section 3.03A A A A Financial ConditionA A A A 50ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONSA A A A 51Section 4.01A A A A Closing DateA A A A 51Section 4.02A A A A Each Credit Extension DateA A A A 53Section

4.03A A A A Fifth Amendment Funding DateA A A A 54ARTICLE V AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTSA A A A 54Section 5.01A A A A Annual Statement

as to ComphanceA A A A 54Section 5.02A A A A Notices of Certain Events; InformationA A A A 55Section 5.03A A A A Existence, Licenses,

Etc.A A A A 55Section 5.04A A A A Access to InformationA A A A 56Section 5.05A A A A Ownership and Security Interests; Further

AssurancesA A A A 57Section 5.06A A A A ReservedA A A A 57Section 5.07A A A A Performance of ObligationsA A A A 57Section

5.08A A A A Treatment of Advances as Debt for All PurposesA A A A 58Section 5.09A A A A Use of ProceedsA A A A 58Section 5.10A A A A Further
AssurancesA A A A 58-i- [OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Section 5. 11A A A A Financial Statements and Projections of the
CompanyA A A A 58Section 5.12A A A A [Reserved]A A A A 59Section 5.13A A A A Borrowing Base CertificateA A A A 59Section

5.14A A A A Monthly Covenant ReportA A A A 59Section 5.15A AA A Compliance with Organization Documents and LawsA A A A 59Section

5.16A A A A True BooksA A A A 59Section 5.17A A A A Payment of TaxesA A A A 60ARTICLE VI NEGATIVE COVENANTSA A A A 60Section

6.01A A A A Negative Covenants of the Credit PartiesA A A A 60ARTICLE VII FINANCIAL COVENANTSA A A A 64Section 7.01A A A A Maximum
Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net WorthA A A A 64Section 7.02A A A A Minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage RatioA A A A 64ARTICLE
VIII CASH MANAGEMENTA A A A 65Section 8.01A A A A ReservedA A A A 65Section 8.02A A A A Location of Waterfall AccountA A A A 65Section
8.03A A A A Cash ManagementA A A A 65Section 8.04A A A A Payments Upon Event of DefaultA A A A 65Section 8.05A A A A No Set-

OffA A A A 66Section 8.06A A A A Waterfall Account; Waterfall Account PropertyA A A A 66ARTICLE IX EVENTS OF DEFAULTA A A A 67ARTICLE
X THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENTA A A A 71ARTICLE XI MISCELLANEOUSA A A A 77Section 11.01A A A A NoticesA A A A 77Section

11.02A A A A Waivers; AmendmentsA A A A 78Section 11.03AAA A 'Expenses; Indemnity; Damage WaiverA A A A 80Section

11.04A A A A Successors and AssignsA A A A 83Section 11.05A A A A SurvivalA A A A 86Section 11.06A A A A Counterparts; Integration;
EffectivenessA A A A 86Section 11.07A A A A SeverabilityA A A A 87Section 11.08A A A A Right of Set-offA A A A 87Section

11.09A A A A Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Etc.A A A A 87Section 11.10A A A A WAIVER OF JURY TRIALA A A A 88Section

11.11AAAA HeadlngsA A A A 88Section 11.12A A A A USA PATRIOT ActA A A A 88Section 11.13A A A A Interest Savings

ClauseA A A A 88Section 11.14A A A A ApprovalsA A A A 89Section 11.15A AA A Right of First OfferA A A A 89Section 11.16A A A A Joint and
Several Liability of BorrowersA A A A 90Section 11.17A A A A ConfidentialityA A A A 92Section 11.18A A A A Effect of Benchmark Transition
EventA A A A 93-ii-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428ARTICLE XII TERMINATIONA A A A 97Section

Base CertificateA A A A EXHIBIT HA A A A A A A A Credit PoliciesA A A A -iii-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428THIS SENIOR
SECURED MULTI-DRAW TERM LOAN AGREEMENT, dated as of November 9, 2018 (this &4€ccAgreementa€), is by and among OPPORTUNITY
FINANCIAL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (a€ceCompanya€), each other Person listed on the signature pages hereto as a borrower
and each Person joined hereto as a borrower from time to time (together with the Company collectively, jointly and severally, a€ceBorrowera€),
the GUARANTORS from time to time party hereto and party to any Guaranty, the LENDERS from time to time party hereto (individually, a
a€ceLendera€ and collectively, the a€celLendersa€), and MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as
administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the &€ceAdministrative Agenta€).BACKGROUNDBorrower has requested that Lenders
extend credit to it, on a senior secured multi-draw basis, subject to the limitations set forth herein, in an aggregate principal amount not
exceeding $50,000,000. The proceeds of the credit extensions hereunder: (i) are to be used for the purposes permitted pursuant to Section 5.09,
and (ii) shall be secured by the Collateral, pursuant to the Security Documents. Lenders are prepared to extend such credit to Borrower upon the
terms and conditions hereof, and, accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows:ARTICLE IDEFINITIONSSection 1.01A A A A Defined Terms. As
used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:a€ceAdjusted Term SOFR Ratea€ means (i) the Term SOFR Rate
plus (ii) 0.11%.a€ceAdministrative Agenta€ has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.d€ceAdministrative Agent Advancea€ has the
meaning assigned to such term in Article X(m).a€ceAdministrative Questionnairea€ means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by
the Administrative Agent.a€ceAdvancea€ means any borrowing under and advance by the Administrative Agent or any Lender under or in
connection with this Agreement including, but not limited to, any Advance under Section 2.02 and any Protective Advance.a€ceAdvance Ratea€
means [***]%.a€ceAdvance Requesta€ means a request by the Borrower for an Advance in accordance with Section 2.03 and substantially in the
form of Exhibit D or such other form as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent.a€ceAffiliatea€ means with respect to any specified Person,
any other Person controlling or controlled by or under common control with such specified Person. For the purposes of this definition,
a€cecontrola€, when used with respect to any specified Person, means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or
indirectly, whether through the -1-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise,
and the terms a€cecontrollingd€ and a€cecontrolleda€ have meanings correlative to the foregoing.d€ceAgea€ means, for any Receivable, a fraction



rounded down to the largest integer that does not exceed the fraction, (x) the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed from the
Receivabled€™s origination date until the Determination Date computed on the basis of a 360-day year; and (y) the denominator of which is
30.4€=Agreementa€ has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.a€ceApplicable Lawa€ shall mean any and all federal, state, local
and/or applicable foreign statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, court orders and decrees, administrative orders and decrees, and other legal
requirements of any and every type applicable to the Advances, the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents, Borrower and its Subsidiaries,
any Guarantor or the Collateral or any portion thereof, including, but not limited to, in each case, as applicable, Credit Protection Laws, credit
disclosure laws and regulations, the Fair Labor Standards Act, and state and federal usury laws.&€ceApplicable Percentaged€ means, with respect
to any Lender, the percentage of the aggregate Term Loan Commitments represented by such Lendera€™s Term Loan Commitment. If the Term
Loan Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentage shall be determined based upon the percentage of the total unpaid
Advances owing to such Lender.a€eApproved Bank Partner Statesa€ means, (i) initially, (x) Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, Arkansas, California,
Delaware, Florida, Idaho, Indiana, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michigan, Minnesota, Mississippi, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, New Hampshire,
North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Virginia, Washington, Wisconsin
and Wyoming; and, (y) solely with respect to any Receivable with an origination date prior to July 19, 2023, New Mexico, (ii) Illinois, Maine and
New Mexico, in each case, so long as the Company has delivered to Administrative Agent, a fully executed Bank Partner Program and/or Bank
Partner Purchase and Sale Agreement satisfactory to Administrative Agent and its regulatory counsel, in their sole discretions, providing for the
sale of Bank Partner Receivables, originated to an Obligor residing in such State, by the applicable Bank Partner to the Company or a Subsidiary
thereof, (iii) Nevada, so long as (x) Nevada is not an &€ceApproved Statea€, (y) the Company and the applicable Approved Subsidiary SPV
Borrower has all necessary licenses (as determined by Administrative Agenta€™ s regulatory counsel) to own and service Bank Partner
Receivables owing by Obligors in Nevada, and (z) the Company has delivered to Administrative Agent, a fully executed Bank Partner Program
and/or Bank Partner Purchase and Sale Agreement satisfactory to Administrative Agent and its regulatory counsel, in their sole discretions,
providing for the sale of Bank Partner Receivables, originated to an Obligor residing in Nevada, by the applicable Bank Partner to the Company or
a Subsidiary thereof, and (iv) such other states that the Company requests, in writing, to add and which are approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however, that in no event will a state in which a Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event or a
Regulatory Trigger Event is continuing be an a€ceApproved Bank Partner Statea€.-2-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428a€ceApproved SPV Agenta€ means (a) Administrative Agent and its Affiliates and (b) each administrative agent or sole
lender under an Approved SPV Facility.a€ceApproved SPV Facilitiesa€ means (a) the credit facility pursuant to the Atalaya SPV Credit Agreement
and (b) any future analogous asset-backed senior special purpose vehicle financing (d4€ceFuture SPV Facilityd€) undertaken by the Company or its
Affiliates and approved by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.a€ceApproved Statesa€ means Georgia, Nevada and such other states that
the Company requests, in writing, to add and which are approved in writing by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however,
that in no event will a state in which a Regulatory Trigger Event is continuing be an a€ceApproved Statea€; provided, further, on the first date
following July 19, 2023, that a Bank Partner Receivable is originated to an Obligor residing in any Specified Bank Partner State, each of Georgia
and Nevada shall be automatically, and without any further action, deemed immediately removed from the foregoing list and shall no longer
constitute an &€ceApproved Statea€. a€ceApproved Subsidiary SPV Borrowersa€ means the Existing SPV Borrowers and any other Subsidiaries of
the Company which are special purpose vehicle borrowers under any Approved SPV Facility.a€ceAssignment and Assumptiond€ means an
assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 11.04),
and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent and the
Borrower.a€ceAtalaya SPV Credit Agreementa€ means that certain Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated on or about July 19,
2023, by and among the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower party thereto, as a borrower, the other credit parties party thereto, Administrative
Agent, as the administrative agent for the lenders, and the lenders from time to time parties thereto, as amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceAuthorized Officera€ means, with respect to the Borrower, any Vice President or more senior officer of
such Person who is authorized to act for such Person and who is identified on the list of Authorized Officers delivered by such Person to the
Administrative Agent on the Closing Date (as such list may be modified or supplemented from time to time thereafter).d€ceAvoided Transfera€ has
the meaning assigned to such term in Article X(0).a€ceBackup Servicera€ means a backup servicer under any Approved SPV Facility.a€ceBackup
Servicing Agreementa€ means a backup servicing agreement executed in connection with any Approved SPV Facility.a€ceBank Partnera€ means
FinWise, FEB, Capital Community or any other bank partner approved by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion (which approval shall
be subject to external counsel and regulatory review).-3-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€eBank Partner Programa€
means (a) the FinWise Program Agreement, (b) the FEB Program Agreement, (c) the Capital Community Program Agreement and (d) any other
bank loan program agreement between a Bank Partner and the Company, as approved in writing by Administrative Agent in its Permitted
Discretion, as may be amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceBank Partner Purchase and Sale
Agreementa€ means (a) the FinWise Purchase and Sale Agreement and (b) any other purchase and sale agreement between a Bank Partner and
the Company, as approved in writing by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, as may be amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceBank Partner Receivablea€ means a Receivable originated by a Bank Partner.a€ceBank Partner
Regulatory Trigger Eventa€ means for any jurisdiction, the commencement by a Governmental Authority, against any financial institution
(including any Bank Partner), any Credit Party or any other company similar to a financial institution or any Bank Partner, of a proceeding alleging
in substance that the law of the borrowera€™s state governs applicable licensing or interest rates with respect to loans made by a federally
insured financial institution to borrowers in such jurisdiction, which, in each case, the Administrative Agent determines, in its sole discretion,
could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on Receivables originated pursuant to a Bank Partner Program; provided, that, in
each case, upon the favorable resolution of such proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such proceeding or settlement of such
proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from the Administrative Agent, such
Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such determination by the Administrative
Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United States if the applicable
Governmental Authority is a federal authority.a€ceBankruptcy Codea€ means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time,
and the Rules thereunder, as amended from time to time.a€ceBankruptcy Eventa€ with respect to a Person, shall be deemed to have occurred if
either:(i)A A A A a case or other proceeding shall be commenced, without the application or consent of such Person, in any court seeking the
liquidation, reorganization, debt arrangement, dissolution, winding up, or composition or readjustment of debts of such Person under the
Bankruptcy Code, the appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator, sequestrator or the like for such Person or for all or substantially
all of its assets, or any similar action with respect to such Person under the Bankruptcy Code or any similar Governmental Rules relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, and such case or proceeding shall continue undismissed or unstayed, and in effect, for a period of sixty
(60) consecutive days; or an order for relief in respect of such Person shall be entered in an involuntary -4-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428case under the Bankruptcy Code or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect, or(ii)A A A A an order for relief in respect
of such Person shall be entered in a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy Code, or any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or other
similar Governmental Rules now or hereafter in effect, or such Person shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a receiver,
liquidator, assignee for the benefit of creditors, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or other similar official) for such Person or for all or substantially
all of its assets, or shall make any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail to, or admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts
generally as they become due, or, if a corporation or similar entity, its board of directors shall vote to implement any of the foregoing.a€ceBasic
Documentsa€ means, collectively, this Agreement, the Promissory Notes, the Security Documents, any Guaranty, the Management Fee
Subordination Agreement and the Intercreditor Agreements, in each case, as amended, amended and restated, and in effect from time to
time.a€meBitty Acquisitiona€ means the acquisitions and transactions evidenced by the Bitty Purchase Agreement.a€eBitty Purchase
Agreementa€ means that certain Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2024 (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time), by and among, inter alios, Opportunity Financial SMB, LLC and Blaze Capital Funding 5, LLC.a€0eBitty Purchase
Documentsa€ means the Bitty Purchase Agreement and all other material agreements and instruments executed or delivered in connection with
the Bitty Acquisition, each as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceBorrowera€ has the meaning assigned to such term in the
Recitals.a€ceBorrowing Basea€ means as of any Determination Date, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the applicable Advance Rate as of such
date multiplied by the unpaid principal balance of Eligible Receivables owned by the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers, plus (b) the applicable
Advance Rate as of such date multiplied by the unpaid principal balance of unencumbered Eligible Receivables plus (c) the aggregate amount of
cash held in the Facility Reserve Account (for the avoidance of doubt, Borrower may, at its option, elect to deposit cash into the Facility Reserve
Account at any time in order to increase Borrowing Base availability; provided that, any amounts deposited may only be withdrawn by Borrower
pursuant to Section 2.07(b) of this Agreement), minus (d) the aggregate outstanding principal balances under any Approved SPV Facilities, minus
(e) the amount of accrued but unpaid expenses (including any servicing fees and other fees, amounts or indemnity obligations (to the extent a
claim for such amount has been asserted in accordance with the terms of any Approved SPV Facility) due and payable by the Approved Subsidiary
SPV Borrowers under any Approved SPV Facilities), interest and fees due -5-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428and payable by



the Borrowers and/or the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers pursuant to the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents and any Approved
SPV Facilities as of the next respective payment date, in each case, solely to the extent no reserve exists for these amounts in the Basic
Documents, the Receivables Documents or the Approved SPV Facilities, as applicable.a€ceBorrowing Base Certificated€ means a Borrowing Base
Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto.a€ceBusiness Combination Agreementa€ means that certain Business Combination
Agreement, dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among FG New America Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation, the Company, OppFi Shares,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and Todd Schwartz, as the Membersa€™ Representative, as amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceBusiness Daya€ means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks
in New York, New York are authorized or required by Governmental Rules to remain closed; provided, with respect to all notices, determinations,
fundings and payments in connection with the Term SOFR Rate, the term a€ceBusiness Daya€ shall mean any day which the Securities Industry
and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of
trading in United States government securities.d€ceCapital Communitya€ means Capital Community Bank.a€ceCapital Community Accountsa€
means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at Capital Community or any other depository institution, in each
case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or subject to an account control agreement in favor of Capital Community as security for the
Companya€™s and OppWina€™s obligations to Capital Community under the Capital Community Program Agreement.a€ceCapital Community
Program Agreementa€ means that certain Loan Participation Agreement, dated as of August 10, 2020, by and between Capital Community and
OppWin, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceCapital Lease Obligationsa€ of any Person means the
obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal
property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such
Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP; provided
that the adoption or issuance of any accounting standards after the Closing Date will not cause any lease that was not or would not have been a
capital lease under GAAP prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed a capital lease.d€eCasha€ means money, currency or a credit balance
in any demand or deposit account.-6-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€ceCash Equivalentsa€ means, as at any date of
determination, (a) marketable securities (i) issued or directly and unconditionally guaranteed as to interest and principal by the United States
Government, or (ii) issued by any agency of the United States the obligations of which are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States,
in each case maturing within one (1) year after such date, (b) marketable direct obligations issued by any state of the United States of America or
any political subdivision of any such state or any public instrumentality thereof, in each case maturing within one (1) year after such date and
having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moodya€™s, (c)A commercial paper maturing
no more than one (1) year from the date of creation thereof and having, at the time of the acquisition thereof, a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or
at least P-1 from Moodya€™s, (d) certificates of deposit or bankersa€™ acceptances maturing within one (1) year after such date and issued or
accepted by a Lender or by any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any state thereof or the District of
Columbia that (i) is at least a€ceadequately capitalizeda€ (as defined in the regulations of its primary Federal banking regulator), and (ii) has Tier
1 capital (as defined in such regulations) of not less than $100,000,000; and (e) shares of any money market mutual fund that (i) has substantially
all of its assets invested continuously in the types of investments referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above, (ii) has net assets of not less than
$500,000,000, and (iii) has the highest rating obtainable from either S&P or Moodya€™s.a€ceCash Management Banka€ means Pacific Western
Bank or any other bank or financial institution holding the Waterfall Account reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent, and, following the
occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, any other such bank or financial institution as selected by Administrative Agent in
its Permitted Discretion.&€ceCFPBa€ means the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, and its successors and assigns.&€ceChange of Controla€
means the occurrence of any of the following, other than, in each case in connection with the SPAC Transaction: () AAAA any transaction or
series of related transactions resulting in the sale or issuance of securities or any rights to securities of the Company by the Company or any
holder or holders thereof (other than transfers to any Person who is, as of the date hereof, an equity holder, or holder of rights to equity, of or in
the Company, or any of their respective Affiliates) representing in the aggregate more than fifty percent (50%) of the issued and outstanding
voting securities of the Company (or more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power), on a fully-diluted basis;(b)A A A A a merger,
consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or share exchange resulting in the equity-holders of the Company immediately prior to such
transaction or any of their Affiliates ceasing to hold, in the aggregate, more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity securities, calculated on a fully
diluted basis, of the -7-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428resulting corporation or entity entitled to vote in the election of
directors (or comparable persons) thereof; or(c)A A A A a sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company
and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, except as contemplated by the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents or the Program
Agreement.a€ceCharged-Off Receivablea€ means, with respect to any Determination Date, a Receivable with respect to which the earlier of any of
the following shall have occurred (without duplication): (a) a Scheduled Receivable Payment under such Receivable is [***] or more Days Past
Due, (b) the Servicer has otherwise determined, in accordance with the Servicing Policy, that the related Receivable is uncollectible or should be
charged-off, (c) the related Obligor is deceased, (d) Net Liquidation Proceeds have been received that, in the Servicera€™s good faith judgment,
constitute the final amounts recoverable in respect of such Receivable, (e) the Servicer, the Originator or OppWin has determined that the Obligor
has committed fraud in connection with the related contract or (f) the related Obligor is subject to a Bankruptcy Event.a€ceClosing Datea€ means
the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01 are satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 11.02).a€eCodea€ means the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.d€meCollaterala€ means, collectively, all &€meCollaterala€, as and to the full extent
such term is defined in each of the Security Documents.a€ceCollection Perioda€ means, (a) with respect to the initial Payment Date, the period
beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the last day of the calendar month after the month in which the Closing Date occurs, and (b) with
respect to any other Payment Date, the immediately preceding calendar month.a€ceCollectionsa€ means all Cash collections on the Receivables,
including, without limitation, all Scheduled Receivable Payments, all non-scheduled payments, all prepayments, all late fees, all NSF fees, all other
fees, Net Insurance Proceeds, all Net Liquidation Proceeds, investment earnings, residual proceeds, payments received under any personal
guaranty with respect to a Receivable, any amounts deposited by Borrower into the Facility Reserve Account, including to make a Required
Deficiency Deposit in accordance with Section 2.07(b), and all other payments received with respect to the Receivables, but excluding (x) sales
and property tax payments and (y) with respect to the Bank Partner Receivables, any amounts owed to the Bank Partner on account of any
participation interest retained by the Bank Partner. &4€ceCompany Operating Agreementa€ means that certain Amended and Restated Limited
Liability Company Agreement of Opportunity Financial, LLC, dated as of December 4, 2015, as amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise
modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.-8-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428a€ceConsolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratioa€ means, as of any date of determination, with respect to the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (a)(i) all Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness described in clause (h) of such definition) of
the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis divided by (b) Tangible Net Worth for the immediately preceding twelve month
period.a€ceConsolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratioa€ means, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis during
the calculation period, the quotient of (a)(i) EBITDA for such period, plus (ii) any non-cash loss provision expenses in excess of the actual principal
charge-offs during such period, minus (iii) capital expenditures during such period and (b) the total amount of cash interest expense (including,
without limitation, interest expense due under the Agreement, the Approved SPV Facilities, and other Permitted Indebtedness).a€oeControl
Agreementsa€ means, individually and collectively, account control agreements between the respective account holder, depository bank and
Administrative Agent, granting Administrative Agent springing control or full dominion over each Deposit Account (other than the Excluded
Accounts), as applicable, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent, as each may be modified, amended or restated
from time to time.a€oeCredit Extension Dated€ means any date on which an Advance is made to the Borrower hereunder.a€ceCredit Partya€ shall
mean individually, each Borrower and each Guarantor and a€ceCredit Partiesa€ shall mean, collectively, the Borrowers and Guarantors.a€ceCredit
Policiesa€ shall mean the credit criteria and policies regarding Receivables of Originator, as set forth on Exhibit H, as such exhibit may be
updated from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. &€ceCredit Protection Lawsa€ means all federal, state and local laws in
respect of the business of extending credit to borrowers, including without limitation, the Truth in Lending Act (and Regulation M promulgated
thereunder), Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Fair Credit Reporting Act, Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Privacy
Act, Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989, as amended, all rules and regulations issued by the CFPB,
Dodda€“Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, anti-discrimination and fair lending laws, laws relating to servicing procedures
or maximum charges and rates of interest, and other similar laws, each to the extent applicable, and all applicable regulations in respect of any of
the foregoing.a€ceDays Past Duea€ means, as of any Determination Date and with respect to any Receivable that is not marked as current in the
Loan Database, the number of calendar days elapsed since the contractual due date of the earliest Scheduled Receivables Payment that has not
been received from the related Obligor.a€eDefaulta€ means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which, upon notice,
lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.-9-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428a€ceDefaulting Lendera€ means, subject to Section 2.04(e), any Lender that has failed to (a) fund its Pro Rata Share of any
Advance on the date such funding was required to be made in accordance with Section 2.04(a), or (b) pay to the Administrative Agent, any other



Lender, or their respective Affiliates, any other amount in excess of $[***] required to be paid by it hereunder within fifteen (15) calendar days of
the date when due. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that a Lender is a Defaulting Lender under either or both of clauses (a) or (b)
above shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error.a€ceDelinquent Receivabled€ means, with respect to any Determination Date, a
Receivable with respect to which the related Obligor is more than [***] Days Past Due with respect to more than [***]% of a Scheduled Receivable
Payment and which is not a Charged-Off Receivable.a€ceDeposit Accountd€ means, individually and collectively, each of (a) the Operating
Account, (b) the Waterfall Account, (c) the Facility Reserve Account and (d) any other present or future deposit accounts of Borrower or any
Guarantor.a€ceDesignated Depository Institutiona€ means Pacific Western Bank, or any other depository institution insured by the Bank
Insurance Fund, National Credit Union Administration or the Savings Association Insurance Fund of the FDIC, approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.a€ceDetermination Dated€ means any date of determination hereunder.a€ceDisqualified
Institutiond€ means a Person (i) and its Subsidiaries engaged principally and directly, through its own operations or operations of any of its
Affiliates, in (x) the business of originating receivables substantially similar to the Receivables or (y) any other business that competes with a
material business line, now existing or hereafter commenced, of Borrower or its Subsidiaries or (ii) identified on Schedule IV hereto; provided,
that no Affiliate of Administrative Agent shall be a Disqualified Institution.a€ceDollarsa€ or a€ce$a€ refers to lawful money of the United States of
America. A A A A 4€eEBITDAA€ shall mean for any period with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of (a)
net income (or loss) for such period (excluding (i) any extraordinary, non-recurring or other one-time gain or loss in an amount not to exceed [**¥],
of the trailing twelve month EBITDA of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, in the aggregate during any twelve (12) month
period, attributable to restitutions, fines, settlements and/or similar payments, and (ii) other extraordinary gains and losses determined by the
Company and approved by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion), plus (b) all interest expense for such period, plus (c) all charges
against income for such period for federal, state and local taxes, plus (d) depreciation expenses for such period, plus (e) amortization expenses for
such period, plus (if a positive number, while if a negative number, such amounts shall be subtracted) (f) the 4€ additional provisiona€™ expense
line item, plus or minus (if a positive change, such amounts shall be added, and if a negative change, such amounts shall be subtracted) (g) the
aggregate change in fair value of SPAC Warrants liability, plus (h) transaction costs and expenses incurred in connection with the SPAC
Transaction in an aggregate amount not to -10-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428exceed $40,000,000, plus (i) stock or (or
other Equity Interest) based compensation, plus (j) severance costs and expenses paid in cash solely to the extent such payments were made (x) in
the six calendar months most recently ended as of such date of determination of EBITDA, and (y) on or prior to December 31, 2022, in connection
with the departure of directors, executive officers and other management of the Company; provided, the amount added back for any period
pursuant to this clause (j) shall not exceed $4,000,000 in the aggregate for any applicable period, plus (k) transaction fees, costs, expenses,
charges and losses associated with the Bitty Acquisition (including, without limitation, any amendment, waiver, consent or modification to any
documentation in connection therewith) in an aggregate amount not to exceed $1,000,000. 4€ceEleventh Amendment Effective Datea€ means May
30, 2024. 4€eEligible Assigneea€ means any Person that meets the following requirements: (i) such Person is not a Defaulting Lender or any of its
Affiliates, or any Person who, upon becoming a Lender hereunder would constitute a Defaulting Lender or an Affiliate of a Defaulting Lender; (ii)
such Person is not a natural Person (or a holding company, investment vehicle or trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of a
natural Person); and (iii) such Person is not a Disqualified Institution.a€ceEligible Deposit Accountd€ means a demand deposit account maintained
with a Designated Depository Institution.a€ceEligible Obligora€ means, with respect to any Receivable, an Obligor that (a) is not subject to a
Bankruptcy Event, (b) has a valid social security number and holds a valid drivera€™s license or other acceptable form of identification issued by
a state or federal government, (c) is not an employee, or affiliated with any employee of any Originator or any of their respective Affiliates, (d) is
domiciled in the United States (as evidenced by proof of residency), (e) is a natural person, (f) is not deceased and (g) has not committed fraud in
connection with any the origination of the applicable Receivable.a4€aeEligible Receivablea€ means those Receivables that meet, as of any
Determination Date, all of the following requirements: (a)A A A A Such Receivable represents a legal, valid binding obligation of an Eligible
Obligor; (b)A A A A Such Receivable is denominated in U.S. Dollars;(c)A A A A Such Receivable exists under a fully executed contract between the
Originator and the Obligor, a copy of which the Administrative Agent has view-access to on the Originatora€™s website or other data portal;

(d)A A A A Such Receivable has been originated by the Originator, in accordance with the Credit Policies and was not originated pursuant to a
material change to the Credit Policies which was not reviewed and approved in writing by the Administrative Agent;-11-[OppLoans] Conformed
Credit Agreement#227l78428(e)A A A A Except with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, no credit services organization participated in the
origination of such Receivable;(f)A A A A Such Receivable has been serviced by the applicable Servicer, in accordance with the Servicing Policy
and has not been serviced pursuant to a material change to the Servicing Policy which was not reviewed and approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent;(g)A AAA Except to the extent such verification is not required pursuant to the Credit Policies, the related Obligora€™s
income has been verified and, if such income includes employment income, such Obligora€™s employment status was also verified at the time the
contract relating to such Receivable was executed, in each case, in accordance with the Credit Policies; (h)A A A A Such Receivable was not
originated in connection with the refinancing of a previous loan to the related Obligor, which such Obligor was unable to pay;(i)A A A A Except
with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, such Receivable is either (i) owned by Borrower and Administrative Agent has, subject to any
Permitted Liens, a perfected first-priority Lien over such Receivable or (ii) is owned by an Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, free and clear of all
Liens (other than Permitted Liens) and, to the extent Administrative Agent has not been granted a first priority pledge with respect to the
Company, the Equity Interests have been pledged to Administrative Agent as Collateral security for the Obligations;(j)A A A A Such Receivable
provides for (i) a contractual interest rate of not less than (x) with respect to Receivables originated to Obligors in Georgia, [***]% and (y) with
respect to any other Receivable, [***¥]% and (ii) an APR of not more than (x) with respect to the Bank Partner Receivables, [***]% (unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Administrative Agent) and (y) with respect to the Receivables (other than the Bank Partner Receivables) the maximum
allowable APR in the applicable Obligor's state of residence;(k)A A A A Such Receivable had an unpaid principal balance (including any
Origination Fees) at the time of origination of not greater than $[***];(1)A A A A Such Receivable is fully amortizing over its term, and payable in
equal scheduled installments without a bullet payment at its maturity;(m)A A A A The original term to maturity of such Receivable is not greater
than twenty four (24) months;(n)A A A A The term to maturity of such Receivables has not been extended by the applicable Servicer for more than
one hundred and eighty (180) days;-12-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(0)A A A A As of the Credit Extension Date on which
such Receivable was first reflected in a Borrowing Base Certificate furnished in connection with an Advance, the related Obligor was not past due
with respect to any portion of a Scheduled Receivable Payment;(p)A A A A The related Obligor (i) made the first Scheduled Receivable Payment
when due or (ii) failed to make the first Scheduled Receivable Payment when due, but subsequently made two Scheduled Receivable Payments on
or prior to the date on which the second Scheduled Receivable Payment was due;(q)A A A A Such Receivable is not a Charged-Off Receivable or a
Delinquent Receivable; (r)A A A A Such Receivable was either (i) originated prior to August 24, 2016, or (ii) has an associated Opportunity
Financial Score;(s)A A A A Such Receivable was originated in an Approved State or, with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, in an Approved
Bank Partner State;(t)A A A A No Regulatory Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing in the jurisdiction in which such Receivable was
originated or the jurisdiction in which the Obligor resides;(u)A A A A The terms, conditions and provisions of such Receivable (i) have not been
amended, modified, restructured or waived except in accordance with the Credit Policies and (ii) have not been the subject of a Material
Modification (other than an extension of the term to maturity of up to one hundred eighty (180) days as disclosed to the Administrative Agent);
(v)A A A A Each document required to be delivered to the Servicer, as custodian, pursuant to the Servicing Agreement has been delivered to the
Servicer and all other steps necessary to maintain the Administrative Agenta€™s or applicable Approved SPV Agenta€™s first priority perfected
security interest in such Receivable have been taken; (w)A A A A Such Receivable is non-cancelable and unconditional, and is not subject to, nor
has there been asserted, any litigation or any right of rescission (except with respect to Receivables originated to Obligors in Nevada), setoff,
counterclaim or other defense of the related Obligor;(x)A A A A Such Receivable is not evidenced by a judgment and has not been reduced to
judgment;(y)A A A A Such Receivable (i) was created, solicited, entered into and serviced in compliance with all applicable requirements of law,
including, without limitation, the relevant laws of each Approved State and each Approved Bank Partner State and (ii) exists in compliance with all
applicable requirements of law and pursuant -13-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428to a contract that complies with all
applicable requirements of law. For the avoidance of doubt, when used in this clause (z) &€cecompliance with all applicable requirements of lawa€
means such Receivable was created, solicited, entered into, serviced and exists in conformity with each law, treaty, rule, regulation, guidance,
guideline, directive or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other Governmental Authority, in each case, applicable to or binding upon any
relevant Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject, including, without limitation, where any applicable
local, state or federal law provides for or could reasonably be construed to provide for a less onerous or restrictive standard than others and
whether or not such opposing standards are being properly contested, challenged or otherwise litigated. (z)A A A A Such Receivable was not
originated under the laws of a native American sovereign nation; (aa)A A A A The contract and any other documents related to such Receivable do
not prohibit the sale, transfer or assignment of such Receivable;(bb)A A A A Such Receivable has not been selected for conveyance to Borrower in
a manner adverse to Borrower, the Approved SPV Agents, Administrative Agent or any Lender;(cc)A A A A Such Receivable represents the
undisputed, bona fide transaction created by the lending of money by the Originator in the ordinary course of business and completed in
accordance with the terms and provisions contained in the related contract;(dd)A A A A Such Receivable constitutes a 4€cepayment intangiblea€



or 4€ceinstrumenta€ (each as defined in the UCC);(ee)A A A A There are no proceedings or investigations pending or threatened (in writing)
before any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the related Obligor or its properties: (i) asserting the invalidity of the related
Receivable, or (ii) seeking any determination or ruling that, if determined adversely to such Obligor, could materially and adversely affect the
validity or enforceability of the related Receivable;(ff)A A A A The unpaid principal balance of such Receivable is due and owing and has not been
repaid in full or otherwise discharged in whole or in part; (gg)A A A A With respect to any Receivable originated pursuant to a Bank Partner
Program, no Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event shall have occurred and be continuing in the jurisdiction in which such Receivable was
originated or the jurisdiction in which the Obligor resides; -14-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(hh)A A A A If such
Receivable was randomly selected by the Backup Servicer to be verified in accordance with the requirements of the applicable Backup Servicing
Agreement, imaged copies of each Verified Document (as defined in the applicable Backup Servicing Agreement) related to such Receivable and
the related Receivables Report (as defined in the applicable Backup Servicing Agreement) have been delivered to the Backup Servicer and the
Backup Servicer has completed its verification of such Verified Documents and such Receivable pursuant to the terms of the applicable Backup
Servicing Agreement;(ii)A A A A With respect to any Receivable originated to an Obligor in Nevada, such Receivable (i) has an original term to
maturity of not less than one hundred and fifty (150) days, (ii) provides for an APR of not more than 200%, (iii) requires the related Obligor to
make a payment at least once every thirty (30) days, (iv) provides that interest does not accrue on the loan after the final maturity date of the loan,
(v) relates to an Obligor that is not a party to more than one set of Portfolio Documents with the Originator or any of its Affiliates, and (vi) has not
been rescinded by the related Obligor;(jj)A A A A With respect to any Receivable that relates to an Obligor located in Illinois, the Company has
d€meelectronically attacheda€, in a manner reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent, an endorsement, as contemplated in 38 Ill. Adm.
Code 110.110(c), to the related promissory note;(kk)A A A A With respect to any Receivable originated to an Obligor in Ohio, as of the date any
such Receivable is pledged as Collateral, none of the Company, any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, any of their Affiliates and/or any Bank
Partner or any Similarly Situated Company or Similarly Situated Bank Partner are the subject of a formal and a€cefor-causea€ inquiry or
investigation in the State of Ohio directly relating to, (a) with respect to the Company, any of its Affiliates and/or any Bank Partner, the validity of
the structure of the transactions and relationships contemplated by the Bank Partner Program and/or the Receivables, or (b) with respect to any
Similarly Situated Company and/or Similarly Situated Bank Partner, the validity of the structure of the transactions and relationships
contemplated by its bank partner program agreements or similar commercial agreements or arrangements and/or the related receivables;
and(1)A A A A With respect to any Bank Partner Receivable originated to an Obligor in (i) Illinois, (ii) Maine, (iii) Nevada or (iv) New Mexico, in
each case, the applicable Bank Partner has retained at least 51% of the economic interest in such Receivable.For the avoidance of doubt, subject
to prior approval of the Bank Partner Program by Administrative Agent (which approval shall include a complete regulatory review), Eligible
Receivables shall include participation interests in Receivables purchased by Borrower or Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers from Bank Partner
that are originated in conjunction with the Bank Partner Program.-15-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€eEquity
Interestsa€ shall mean, with respect to any Person, its equity ownership interests, its common stock and any other capital stock or other equity
ownership units of such Person authorized from time to time, and any other shares, options, interests, participations or other equivalents
(however designated) of or in such Person, whether voting or nonvoting, including, without limitation, common stock, options, warrants, preferred
stock, phantom stock, membership units (common or preferred), stock appreciation rights, membership unit appreciation rights, convertible notes
or debentures, stock purchase rights, membership unit purchase rights and all securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable, in whole or in
part, into any one or more of the foregoing.a€eERISAa€ shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the
regulations thereunder.a€eERISA Affiliatea€ shall mean, with respect to any Person, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is
treated as a single employer with such Person under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.&€eESG Issued€ means a finding by a
judge, jury, regulatory or law enforcement agency that any Credit Party has materially violated any law or regulation relating to: protection of the
environment; worker safety; fair wages and working conditions; collective bargaining; unlawful discrimination; child or forced labor; bribery or
corruption; consumer, patient or tenant protection or privacy; fair lending or fair debt collection practices; product or drug safety; or
taxation.a€ceEvent of Defaulta€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Article IX.a€ceExcluded Accountsa€ means (a) the FinWise Accounts,
FEB Accounts and the Capital Community Accounts and (b) any Deposit Accounts, securities accounts or similar accounts owned by a Credit Party
that are (i) zero balance accounts, (ii) payroll accounts, (iii) withholding and trust accounts, (iv) escrow accounts (to the extent maintained
exclusively by the Credit Parties and their Subsidiaries) for the purpose of establishing or maintaining escrow amounts for third parties, (v)
employee benefit accounts, (vi) 401(k) accounts, (vii) pension fund accounts, (viii) tax withholding accounts, and (ix) at all times prior to the
earlier of (1) the date on which such account is transferred to a Subsidiary of the Company, and (2) November 30, 2021 (or such later date agreed
to by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), the Companya€™s account numbered 4751639741 maintained with Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association.a€eExcluded Subsidiarya€ means (x) with respect to any Guaranty, any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, and (y) with respect to
any Pledge Agreement, solely to the extent that Administrative Agent has been granted a first priority pledge of the Equity Interests of the
Company, any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower; provided, that any pledge of the Equity Interests of any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower
that does not constitute an Excluded Subsidiary shall be a second priority pledge.d€ceExcluded Taxesa€ means, with respect to a Recipient, (a)
Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, -16-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office
or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii)
that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of
each such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in an Advance or Term Loan Commitment pursuant to law in effect on the date on which
(i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Advance or Term Loan Commitment or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office, except in each case
to the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.11, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to such Lendera€™s assignor immediately
before such Lender became a party hereto or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such
Recipienta€™s failure to comply with Section 2.11(f), (h) and (i), (d) Taxes imposed or withheld as a result of such Recipient not being a United
States Person within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code and (e) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under
FATCA.a€mExisting SPV Borrowersa€ means Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Opportunity Funding SPE
V, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.a€ceFacility Reserve
Accounta€ means that certain deposit account in the name of the Company maintained at the Cash Management Bank with the account number
ending in 1219, or such other Deposit Account designated from time to time by Administrative Agent in a written notice to Borrower.a€eFATCA&€
means SectionsA 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively
comparable), any current or future Treasury regulations or other official interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to
SectionA 1471(b)(1) of the Code as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version described above) and any agreements or
arrangements between the United States or the United States Treasury Department and a foreign government or one or more agencies thereof to
implement the foregoing and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or official practices adopted pursuant to such published intergovernmental
agreement, treaty or convention.a€eFDICa€ means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and any successor thereto.a€ceFEBa€ means First
Electronic Bank.2€eFEB Accountsa€ means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at FEB or any other depository
institution, in each case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or subject to an account control agreement in favor of FEB as security
for the Companya€™s and OppWind€™s obligations to FEB under the FEB Program Agreement.a€eFEB Program Agreementa€ means that
certain Program Marketing and Servicing Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2019, by and between FEB and the Company, as amended,
restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.-17-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€eFederal Funds
Effective Ratea€ means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight
Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding
Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent
from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.4€ceFifth Amendment Advanced€ means the Advance funded by the
Lenders to the Borrower on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date.a€ceFifth Amendment Effective Dated€ means March 23, 2021.a€ceFifth
Amendment Funding Datea€ means March 30, 2021. 4€ceFifth Amendment Original Issue Discounta€ has the meaning assigned to such term in
Section 2.02(d)(ii).a€ceFinancial Covenantsa€ means the covenants set forth in Article VII.a€eFinWisea€ means FinWise Bank.a€ceFinWise
Accountsa€ means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at FinWise or any other depository institution, in each
case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or subject to an account control agreement in favor of FinWise as security for the
Companyd€™s and OppWina€™ s obligations to FinWise under the FinWise Documents.a€ceFinWise Documentsa€ means (a) the FinWise Program
Agreement, and (b) the FinWise Purchase and Sale Agreement, and the other documents related thereto.a€ceFinWise Program Agreementa€
means that certain Loan Program Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and between FinWise and the Company, as amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceFinWise Purchase and Sale Agreementa€ means that certain Loan Receivable Sale
Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, among FinWise, the Company and OppWin, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified



from time to time.a€ceFirst Offer Noticea€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.15(a).a€ceFloora€ means, initially (as of the
Eleventh Amendment Effective Date), two percent (2.00%) per annum.a€ceGAAP&€ means generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America.-18-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€0eGLB Acta€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section
11.17. &€eGovernmental Actionsa€ means any and all consents, approvals, permits, orders, authorizations, waivers, exceptions, variances,
exemptions or licenses of, or registrations, declarations or filings with, any Governmental Authority required under any Governmental
Rules.d€eGovernmental Authoritya€ means the government of the United States of America, or of any other nation, or any political subdivision
thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity of the foregoing
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to
government.d€ceGovernmental Rulesa€ means any and all laws, statutes, codes, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, writs, decrees and
injunctions, of any Governmental Authority and any and all legally binding conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements and judgments of any
Governmental Authority.a€ceGranta€ means mortgage, pledge, bargain, sell, warrant, alienate, remise, release, convey, assign, transfer, create
and grant a lien upon and a security interest in and right of set-off against, deposit, set over and confirm pursuant to the Security Documents. A
Grant of the Collateral or of any other agreement or instrument shall include all rights, powers and options (but none of the obligations) of the
granting party thereunder, including the immediate and continuing right to claim for, collect, receive and give receipt for principal and interest
payments in respect of the Collateral and all other moneys payable thereunder, to give and receive notices and other communications, to make
waivers or other agreements, to exercise all rights and options, to bring a Proceeding in the name of the granting party or otherwise, and
generally to do and receive anything that the granting party is or may be entitled to do or receive thereunder or with respect
thereto.a€eGuaranteea€ of or by any Person (the d€ceguarantora€) means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing
or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the a€ceprimary obligora€) in any
manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or
supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase
of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such
Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition
or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation, or (d) as an account party in
respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation; provided, that, the term Guarantee shall not
include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.a€ceGuarantora€ means each Subsidiary of the Company other
than Excluded Subsidiaries that are not Borrowers.-19-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€ceGuarantya€ shall mean any
senior secured guaranty of the Obligations executed by a Guarantor from time to time in favor of Administrative Agent for its benefit and for the
ratable benefit of Lenders, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent.a€ceIndebtednessa€ of any Person means,
without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures,
notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of business) upon which
interest charges are customarily paid, (d) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to
property acquired by such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding
accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not more than sixty (60) days past due), (f) all Indebtedness of others
secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property
owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed (in which case non-recourse
Indebtedness, for the purpose of this clause (f), shall be limited to the fair market value of the property subject to such Lien), (g) all Guarantees by
such Person of Indebtedness of others, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person
as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, and (j) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect
of bankersa€™ acceptances. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in
which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Persona€™s ownership interest in or other
relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.d€ceIndemnified
Partya€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(c).a€ceIndemnified Taxesa€ means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed
on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower under a Basic Document and (b) to the extent not
otherwise described in (a), Other Taxes.a€celndemnifying Partya€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(c).&€ceIndemniteea€
has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(b).a€ceIndependent Auditorsa€ shall mean RSM US LLP or any other nationally-
recognized accounting firm that is mutually agreeable to Administrative Agent and Borrower.a€celIntellectual Property Security Agreementa€
means any intellectual property security agreement, executed by Borrower and/or Guarantor in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit
of the Lenders, as amended or modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and this Agreement.a€ceIntercreditor
Agreementa€ means any intercreditor agreement executed by and among Administrative Agent and any other Persons.-20-[OppLoans] Conformed
Credit Agreement#227178428a€eInterest Rated€ means the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate plus ten percent (10.00%).a€eKey Man Trigger Eventa€
shall occur at any time when [***] are no longer employed by the Company; provided that to the extent [***] holds the title of a€cedirectora€ the
employment requirement of this definition with respect to [***] only shall be satisfied; provided, further that, following the departure of any of the
Persons in this definition, the Company will have ninety (90) calendar days to appoint a new officer to the Company that is approved by
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) before a Key Man Trigger Event shall have been
deemed to occur.a€ceLendersa€ means the Persons listed on Schedule I and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto pursuant to
an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a Lender hereunder pursuant to an Assignment and
Assumption.a€ceLiend€ means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or
security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title
retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset, and (c)
in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.a€eeLiquiditya€ means, as of any
date of determination, (i) unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries, plus (ii) an amount equal to
90% of the unpaid principal balance of unencumbered Eligible Receivables owned by a Borrower or a Guarantor. &€ceLoan Databasea€ means the
databases, platforms and systems maintained by the Servicer with respect to the Receivables, which provides, on a loan-by-loan basis, up-to-date
information regarding all activities with respect to the Receivables, including but not limited to originations, payments, charge-offs and
recoveries.a€ceManagement Fee Agreementa€ means that certain Management Fee Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2020, by and between
Borrower and SCG. a€ccManagement Fee Subordination Agreementa€ means that certain Management Fee Subordination Agreement among
Administrative Agent, Borrower and SCG, with respect to the management fees payable by Borrowers to SCG, pursuant to the Management Fee
Agreement and as in Section 6.01(n), in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent, as the same may be amended, restated,
supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.a€ceMaterial Adverse Effecta€ means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material
adverse effect upon, the business, assets, operations or financial condition of Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (b) a material
impairment of the ability of the Borrower or any of the Guarantors to perform any of their respective material obligations under this Agreement or
any of the other Basic Documents to which it is a party, or (c) a material adverse effect upon the -21-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428rights of, or benefits available to, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement or any of the other
Basic Documents.d€ceMaterial Modificationa€ means, with respect to the Receivables, any modification of a contract that would (a) forgive any
scheduled repayment, (b) reduce the interest rate, (c) reduce the unpaid principal balance of the Receivable, or (d) be materially adverse to
Administrative Agent and the Lenders.a€ceMaterial Terma€ means, with respect to any agreement evidencing Indebtedness, any terms or
provisions governing or setting forth the mechanics with respect to the following (including, without limitation, any applicable definitions, exhibits
and schedules):(a)A A A A the aggregate principal loan or commitment amount with respect to such Indebtedness; (b)A A A A the applicable
interest or the fees with respect to such Indebtedness;(c)A A A A the applicable payment schedule (including principal, interest and/or fees) with
respect to such Indebtedness; (d)A A A A the collateral provided as security for any such Indebtedness; (e)AAAA any additional credit support
(including, without limitation, any guaranty or indemnity agreement) provided by the applicable debtor or its Affiliates with respect to any such
Indebtedness; (f)A A A A any provisions related to the priority of payments or lien priority with respect to such Indebtedness; or(g)A A A A the
definition of a€ceadvance ratea€, a€ceborrowing basea€ or any similar definition with respect to such Indebtedness.a€ceMaturity Datea€ means
September 30, 2025.a8€ceMaximum Loan Amounta€ shall mean a principal amount equal to $50,000,000.4€ceMinimum Tangible Net Wortha€ shall
mean, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the sum of (i) $105,000,000 and (ii) the greater of (x) zero and (y) the product of (a)
fifty percent (50%) and (b) the difference between (A) the cumulative amount of pre-tax income generated by the Company on a consolidated basis
since December 31, 2020 and (B) the cumulative amount of (1) Tax Distributions made since December 31, 2020, plus (2) cash Taxes paid directly
by the Company since December 31, 2020.4€eMonthly Covenant Reporta€ means a monthly collateral and performance report substantially in
the form of Exhibit F hereto.-22-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€ccMonthly Vintage Poola€ means, each pool of
Receivables originated by an Originator during any calendar month; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, any Receivable that is



subsequently sold or repurchased, shall remain in the applicable Monthly Vintage Pool(s) notwithstanding such sale or

repurchase.d€eMoodya€ ™ sa€ means Moodya€™s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor thereto.a€ceNet Insurance Proceedsa€ means an
amount equal to: (a) any Cash payments or proceeds received by the Borrower or the Servicer in respect of any covered loss under any policy of
insurance specified in Section 5.07(b), minus (b) any actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred or to be incurred by the Borrower or the
Servicer in connection with the adjustment or settlement of any claims of the Borrower or the Servicer in respect thereof.d€ceNet Liquidation
Proceedsa€ means, all amounts received in connection with a Receivable after such Receivable was first identified as a Charged-Off Receivable,
minus the reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Servicer in connection with the collection of such Receivable, including reasonable
collection agency fees and the reasonable cost of legal counsel in connection with the enforcement of such Receivable; provided, however, that the
a€:eNet Liquation Proceedsa€ with respect to any Receivable shall not be less than zero.a€eNon-Defaulting Lendera€ has the meaning assigned
to such term in Section 2.04(b).4€0eNPIa€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.17. &€ceObligationsa€ means all present and
future indebtedness, loans, advances, costs, debts, liabilities and other liabilities and obligations (of any kind or nature, howsoever created, arising
or evidenced, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, or due or to become due) of the Borrower to the Lenders or the Administrative
Agent arising under this Agreement, or under any other Basic Document including, without limitation, all liability for principal of and interest on
the Advances, additional interest, fees incurred pursuant to Section 2.08, fees incurred pursuant to Section 5.04, fees payable in connection with
an extension of the Term Loan Termination Date, expense reimbursements, indemnifications and other amounts due or to become due by the
Borrower to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, the Promissory Notes and/or any other Basic Document, including all
expenses of Lenders or the Administrative Agent payable pursuant to Section 11.03 and all obligations of Borrower to Administrative Agent or
Lenders to perform acts or refrain from taking any action in connection with the Basic Documents, and shall include, with respect to each of the
foregoing, interest, fees and other obligations that accrue after maturity, or after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of
any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding relating to the Borrower or any Guarantor, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition
interest, fees, or other amounts is allowed in such proceeding, whether or not evidenced by any note, guaranty or other instrument, whether or
not for the payment of money, whether arising by reason of an extension of credit, opening of a letter of credit, loan, equipment lease, guarantee,
or in any other manner, whether arising out of overdrafts or deposit or other accounts or electronic funds transfers (whether through automated
clearing houses or otherwise) or out of the Administrative Agenta€™s or any Lendera€™s non-receipt of or inability to collect funds or otherwise
not being made whole in -23-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428connection with any depository transfer, check or other similar
arrangements, whether direct or indirect (including those acquired by assignment or participation), joint or several, due or to become due, now
existing or hereafter arising, regardless of how such indebtedness or liabilities arise or by what agreement or instrument they may be
evidenced.a€oeObligora€ means, with respect to any Receivable, the person or persons obligated to make payments with respect to such
Receivable, including any guarantor thereof but excluding any merchant.4€0eOFACA€ shall mean the U.S. Department of Treasurya€™s Office of
Foreign Asset Control.a€ceOfficera€™s Certificated€ means a certificate signed by any Authorized Officer of the Borrower or Guarantor.
a€0e0pCo Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratioa€ means, as of any Determination Date, the quotient of (x) the outstanding principal amounts of
Advances as of such date divided by (y) Tangible Net Worth as of such date.a€ceOperating Accounta€ means that certain deposit account in the
name of Borrower maintained at Bank of America, N.A. with the account number ending in 2806, or such other deposit account designated from
time to time by Borrower in a written notice to Administrative Agent.a€ceOpportunity Financial Scorea€ means the internal credit score assigned
to an Obligor by the Company in accordance with the Credit Policies.a€eOppWina€ means OppWin, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company.a€aeOriginal Issue Discounta€ shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.02(d).a€ceOrigination Feesa€ means a prepaid finance
charge that is either paid by the Obligor at the time of origination, withheld from the proceeds included in the unpaid principal balance of a
Receivable or paid by the Obligor over the term of the Receivable in accordance with the contract.a€ceOriginatora€ means the Company, Bank
Partner or any other originator approved by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion (which approval shall be subject to external counsel
and regulatory review).a€oeOther Connection Taxesa€ means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former
connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such Recipient having executed,
delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged
in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Basic Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Advance or Basic Document).-24-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€ceOther Taxesa€ means any and all present or future stamp or documentary Taxes arising
from any payment made under this Agreement or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, any Basic
Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment.a€ceParticipanta€ has the meaning
assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).a€ceParticipant Registera€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).4€cePayment
Datea€ means (i) prior to the Second Amendment Effective Date, the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each calendar month (or, if any such day is
not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), the first of which shall be the first such day after the Closing Date, (ii) from and after the
Second Amendment Effective Date, the third (3rd) Business Day of each calendar month and (iii) the Term Loan Termination Date.a€cePerfection
Certificatea€ means the Perfection Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit I to the Security Agreement.d€cePermitted Discretiona€ means a
determination or judgment made in good faith in the exercise of commercially reasonable (from the perspective of a secured lender) credit or
business judgment.4€cePermitted Indebtednessa€ means:(i)A A A A the Obligations;(ii)A A A A any Indebtedness existing as of the date hereof and
listed on Schedule 1.01 hereof;(iii)A A A A Indebtedness of OppWin solely to the extent required to comply with its obligations under the FinWise
Documents;(iv)A A A A Indebtedness in respect of the Approved SPV Facilities and Purchase and Sale Agreements;(v)A A A A [Reserved];

(vi)A A A A [Reserved];(vii)A A A A Indebtedness which represents extensions, renewals, refinancings or replacements (such Indebtedness being
so extended, renewed, refinanced or replaced being referred to herein as the d€ceRefinance Indebtednessa€) of any of the Indebtedness described
in clauses (i) through (vi) above (such Indebtedness, the 4€ceOriginal Indebtednessa€), provided that (x) such extension, renewal, refinancing or
replacement shall not increase the principal amount of the Original Indebtedness, and (y) if such Original Indebtedness was subordinated to the
Obligations, then such Refinance Indebtedness must be -25-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428subject to subordination terms
and conditions that are at least as favorable to the Administrative Agent and Lenders as those that were applicable to the Original Indebtedness;
(vii)A A A A purchase money Indebtedness and Capltal Lease Obligations of the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[***] in
the aggregate at any one time outstanding;(ix)A A A A obligations of the Credit Parties arising out of interest rate, foreign currency, and
commodity hedging agreements entered into with financial institutions in connection with bona fide hedging activities in the ordinary course of

business and not for speculative purposes;(x)A A A A [Reserved]; (xi)A A A A endorsement of items for deposit or collection of commercial paper
received in the ordinary course of business;(xii)A A A A Indebtedness in respect of (i) workersa€™ compensation claims, unemployment insurance
and other types of social security and employee health and disability benefits, or casualty-liability insurance, payment obligations in connection
with self-insurance or similar requirements, and (ii) tenders, completion guarantees, statutory obligations, surety, environmental or appeal bonds,
bids, leases, government contracts, contracts (other than for borrowed money), performance bonds or other obligations of a like nature;

(xiii)A A A A to the extent constituting Indebtedness, Indebtedness arising from agreements of the Credit Parties providing for the indemnification,
adjustment of purchase price, earn-out, royalty, milestone or similar obligations, in each case assumed with the acquisition or disposition of any
business or Person permitted hereunder;(xiv)A A A A Indebtedness incurred by any Credit Party consisting of the financing of insurance premiums
in the ordinary course of business in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[***] at any time;(xv)A A A A Indebtedness incurred in the
ordinary course of business in respect of netting services, overdraft protections, employee credit card programs and other similar services in
connection with cash management and deposit accounts, Indebtedness in connection with drafts payable for payroll and other ordinary course
expense items, and Indebtedness owed to depository banks for returned items incurred in the ordinary course of business;(xvi)A A A A to the
extent constituting Indebtedness, Indebtedness representing any taxes, assessments or governmental charges to the extent such taxes are being
-26-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428contested in good faith and adequate reserves have been provided therefor in
conformity with GAAP; and(xvii)A A A A unsecured indebtedness of the Credit Parties not otherwise permitted by this Section in an aggregate
principal amount not to exceed $[***] at any one time outstanding.A€cePermitted Investmentsa€ means each of the following:(i)A A A A Cash
Equivalents;(ii)A A A A investments in money market funds rated 4€ceAAAMAE or 4€eAAAM GA€ by S&P and 4€ceAaad€ or 4€eP14€ by

Moodya€™ s (which may be managed by the Administrative Agent or its Affiliates); and(iii)A A A A investments approved in writing by the
Administrative Agent;provided, that, (A) no instrument described above is permitted to evidence either the right to receive (1) only interest with
respect to obligations underlying such instrument or (2) both principal and interest payments derived from obligations underlying such instrument
and the interest and principal payments with respect to such instrument provided a yield to maturity at par greater than 120% of the yield to
maturity at par of the underlying obligations; (B) no instrument described above may be purchased at a price greater than par if such instrument
may be prepaid or called at a price less than its purchase price prior to stated maturity; and (C) in no event shall Permitted Investments include
any obligation that is not denominated in Dollars.Each of the Permitted Investments may be purchased by or through the Administrative Agent or
through an Affiliate of the Administrative Agent.a€cePermitted Liend€ has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security
Agreement.a€cePersond€ means any person or entity, including any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture,

association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, governmental entity or other entity of any nature, whether or not a legal



entity.a€cePledge Agreementa€ shall mean, individually and collectively, any pledge agreements executed on or subsequent to the Closing Date by
any Person to secure the Obligations.a€cePortfolio Documentsa€ means with respect to each Receivable, each contract or other agreement or
document executed and delivered by the related Obligor (including, without limitation, any future receivable sales agreement or other similar
documents) to or for the benefit of Originator or any subsequent transferee thereof, including renewals, extensions, modifications and
amendments thereof.a€ePrepayment Additional Interesta€ shall mean additional interest payable to Administrative Agent pursuant to Section
2.08 upon any Prepayment Date in an amount equal to, -27-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428if such Prepayment Date occurs
(a) after the twenty-four month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date but on or prior to the thirty month anniversary of the Fifth
Amendment Funding Date, [***] of the then applicable prepaid Advances, (b) after the thirty month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding
Date but on or prior to the thirty-three month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, [***] of the then applicable prepaid Advances,
and (c) after the thirty-three month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, zero.d€cePrepayment Datea€ has the meaning assigned to
such term in Section 2.07(a)(i).a€ceProceedinga€ means any ESG Issue or any other suit in equity, action at law or other judicial or administrative
proceeding.d€ceProgram Agreementa€ means that certain Program Agreement dated as of August 1, 2017, by and among Opportunity Financial,
LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC, and Administrative Agent, as amended on the Closing Date, as may be further amended, restated,
supplemented or modified from time to time.ad€cePromissory Notea€ and a&€cePromissory Notesa€ have the meanings assigned to such term in
Section 2.06(f).a€mProtective Advancea€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.02(c).a4€Pro Rata Sharea€ of any amount means,
with respect to any Lender, a fraction (expressed as a percentage) (a) at any time before the expiration of the Term Loan Draw Period, the
numerator of which is the Term Loan Commitment of such Lender and the denominator of which is the aggregate amount of the Term Loan
Commitments of all the Lenders, and (b) at any time on and after the expiration of the Term Loan Draw Period, the numerator of which is the
aggregate unpaid principal amount of the Advances made by such Lender and the denominator of which is the aggregate unpaid principal amount
of all Advances at such time. For purposes of determining Pro Rata Share, a Defaulting Lendera€™s Term Loan Commitment shall be deemed to
equal only the portion of such Term Loan Commitment actually funded by it.a€cePurchase and Sale Agreementa€ means the Bank Partner
Purchase and Sale Agreement and the Program Agreement.a€ceQualified Change of Controla€ means a change of control of ultimate beneficial
ownership of at least 50.1% of the voting Equity Interests of the Company.a€ceReceivablesa€ means unsecured consumer installment loans and
lines of credit.a€ceReceivables Documentsa€ means, collectively, the Servicing Agreement, the Backup Servicing Agreement and the Purchase and
Sale Agreement, in each case, as amended, amended and restated, and in effect from time to time.a€eRecipientd€ means (i) the Administrative
Agent or (ii) any Lender, as applicable.-28-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€ccRegistera€ has the meaning assigned to such
term in Section 11.04(c).a€ceRegulatory Trigger Eventa€ means (a) the commencement by any Governmental Authority of any formal inquiry or
investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding, against any Credit Party,
any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator, challenging such Persona€™s authority to originate, hold, own,
service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of any jurisdiction, or otherwise alleging any noncompliance by any Credit
Party, any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator with such jurisdictiona€™s applicable laws related to
originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing such Receivable or otherwise related to such Receivable, which inquiry, investigation, legal
action or proceeding (i) is not released or terminated in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion within [***]
calendar days of the earlier of any Credit Partya€™s knowledge or receipt of written notice thereof and (ii) could reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, or (b) the issuance or entering of any stay, order,
judgment, cease and desist order, injunction, temporary restraining order, or other judicial or non-judicial sanction, order or ruling against any
Credit Party, any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator related in any way to the originating, holding,
pledging, servicing or enforcing of any Receivable or rendering the Purchase and Sale Agreement unenforceable in such jurisdiction, the effect of
which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided,
that, in each case, upon the favorable resolution of such inquiry, investigation, action or proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such
action or proceeding or settlement of such action or proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed
by written notice from the Administrative Agent, such Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such
determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United
States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.a€ceRelated Partiesa€ means, with respect to any specified Person, such
Persona€™s Affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such Persona€™s
Affiliates.a€ceRelevant Governmental Bodya€ means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, or any successor thereto.a€ceReplacement Lendera€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(c).a€ceReplacement
Noticed€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(c).a€eRequired Deficiency Deposita€ shall have the meaning assigned to it in
Section 2.07(b).-29-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€eRequired Lendersa€ means, at any time, the Administrative Agent,
and Lenders holding aggregate Pro Rata Shares of Advances representing more than 51% of the total Advances outstanding hereunder at such
time; provided that, for any Determination Date on which there are no Advances then outstanding hereunder, &€ceRequired Lendersa€ shall mean
the Administrative Agent, and Lenders holding aggregate Pro Rata Shares of unused Term Loan Commitments representing more than 51% of the
total unused Term Loan Commitments at such time; and provided, further, that the Pro Rata Share of Advances and unused Term Loan
Commitments held by any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining Required Lenders at any time.d€eS&Pa€ means Standard &
Poora€™s Rating Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., or any successor thereto.a€ceSCG&€ means TCS GROUP, L.L.C. d/b/a
Schwartz Capital Group, an Illinois limited liability company.a€ceScheduled Receivable Paymenta€ means, for any Collection Period and for any
Receivable, the amount indicated in the contract relating to such Receivable as required to be paid by the Obligor in such Collection Period. If
after the Closing Date the Obligora€™ s obligation under such Receivable with respect to a Collection Period has been modified so as to differ from
the amount specified in such Receivable as a result of (a) a Bankruptcy Event as to which the Obligor is a debtor, (b) the application of the
Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, or (c) modifications or extensions of the Receivable permitted by the Portfolio Documents, the Scheduled
Receivable Payment with respect to such Collection Period shall refer to the Obligora€™s payment obligation with respect to such Collection
Period as so modified and such modification shall be reflected in the Loan Database pursuant to the terms of the applicable Servicing
Agreement.a€ceSecond Amendment Effective Datea€ means May 31, 2019.4€0eSecurities Acta€ means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
from time to time, and any successor statute.d€ceSecurity Agreementa€ means, individually and collectively, any security agreements executed on
or subsequent to the Closing Date by any Person to secure the Obligations.a€ceSecurity Documentsa€ means, collectively, the Security
Agreement, each Pledge Agreement, each Guaranty, the Intellectual Property Security Agreement, each Control Agreement, all Uniform
Commercial Code financing statements filed with respect to any Collateral, and all other assignments, pledge agreements, security agreements,
control agreements and other instruments executed and delivered on or after the date hereof by any Credit Party pursuant to the Security
Agreement or otherwise providing or relating to any collateral security for any of the Secured Obligations under and as defined in the Security
Agreement.a€ceServicera€ means a servicer under any Approved SPV Facility.-30-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428&€meServicing Agreementa€ means a servicing agreement executed in connection with any Approved SPV
Facility.a€oeServicing Policya€ means servicing, collections and payment plan policies of the Servicer, as such policies may be amended from time
to time in compliance with a Servicing Agreement.a€ceSimilarly Situated Bank Partnera€ means any financial institution or other company
reasonably similar to any Bank Partner.a€ceSimilarly Situated Companya€ means any financial institution or other company reasonably similar to
the Company.d€0eSOFR&€ means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for such
Business Day published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administratora€™s Website on the immediately succeeding Business
Day.a€0eSOFR Administratora€ means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing
rate).4€@SOFR Administratora€™s Websitea€ means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from
time to time.a€0eSPAC Transactiona€ means the transactions contemplated by and in connection with the Business Combination Agreement.
a€0eSPAC Warrantsa€ means warrants to purchase shares of the Company that were issued solely in connection with the SPAC
Transaction.a€ceSpecified Bank Partner Statea€ means each of Illinois, Maine, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Mexico, Pennsylvania or
Washington.a€ceSpecified Regulatory Changea€ means a legal or regulatory change, the effect of which is to materially and adversely impair the
ability of any Credit Party or Bank Partner to originate, own, hold, pledge, service, collect or enforce the pledged Receivables or similar
receivables.d€ceSpecified Vintage Poola€ means each Vintage Pool with respect to which each Monthly Vintage Pool in such Vintage Pool is at
least one (1) calendar month old (as measured from the last day of such Monthly Vintage Pool); provided, however, no Vintage Pool with respect to
which, both (a) each Monthly Vintage Pool in such Vintage Pool is more than twelve (12) calendar months old (as measured from the last day of
such Monthly Vintage Pool) and (b) the aggregate current UPB of all Receivables in such Vintage Pool is less than ten percent (10%) of the
aggregate original UPB of all Receivables (as measured at the time of origination of such Receivables) in such Vintage Pool, shall be a Specified
Vintage Pool.-31-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428a€meStatea€ means any one of the states of the United States of America or



the District of Columbia. &4€ceSubsidiarya€ means, with respect to any Person (the a€ceparenta€) at any date, any other corporation, limited
liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the
equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as
of such date, owned, controlled or held by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of
the parent, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or
more subsidiaries of the parent. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the term &€ceSubsidiarya€ shall not include any Person that
constitutes an investment held by the Borrower in the ordinary course of business and that is not, under GAAP, consolidated on the financial
statements of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. Unless otherwise specified, &€ceSubsidiaryda€ means a Subsidiary of the Borrower.a€ceTangible
Net Wortha€ means, without duplication, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance
with GAAP, an amount equal to the difference between (i) the sum of the aggregate value of (x) membera€™s equity plus (y) SPAC Warrants
liability and (ii) the intangible assets of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries. a€ceTax Distributionsa€ has the meaning assigned to such
term in Section 6.01(g).4€ceTaxesa€ means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings,
including, without limitation, all penalties, interest, additions to tax, expenses, costs and fees, imposed by any Governmental
Authority.d€ceTerma€ means, the period from the Closing Date and ending on the Term Loan Termination Date.d€ceTerm Loan Commitmenta€ or
d€eTerm Loan Commitmentsa€ means (a) as to any Lender, the aggregate commitment of such Lender to make Advances, expressed as an
amount representing the maximum aggregate principal amount of such Lendera€™s credit exposure hereunder, as set forth on Schedule I, as the
same may be reduced or increased from time to time pursuant to assignments or participations by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 11.04,
and (b) as to all Lenders, the aggregate Term Loan Commitments of all Lenders to make Advances in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed
the Maximum Loan Amount; provided, that, in no event shall the aggregate Term Loan Commitments exceed $50,000,000.4€ceTerm Loan Draw
Perioda€ means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date.a€ceTerm Loan Termination
Dated€ means the earliest to occur of (a) the Maturity Date, (b) the date on which the Term Loan Commitments are terminated and the Advances
then outstanding have been declared due and payable in whole pursuant to Article IX and (c) subject to Section 2.07, the date on which the
Obligations (other than contingent indemnification -32-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#2271784280bligations to the extent no claim
giving rise thereto has been asserted) have been paid in full in immediately available funds or such earlier date set forth in Section
12.01.4€eTerm SOFR Ratea€ means, as of the applicable date of determination, for an interest period of one (1) month, the forward-looking term
rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body; provided, if such rate is less than the applicable
Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be such Floor for this Agreement.d€ceThird Party Claim&€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section
11.03(c).a€ceTransactionsa€ means the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents to
which it is a party, the making of Advances hereunder, and the use by the Borrower of the proceeds of the Advances in accordance with the terms
hereof.a€ceTransfereed€ has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(b).a€ceTwelfth Amendment Effective Dated€ means September
13, 2024.a€0eUCCa€ means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York.a€ceUncured Defaulting Lendera€ means a
Lender that is a Defaulting Lender for a period of forty-five (45) consecutive calendar days or more.a€eVintage Poola€ means a group of three
Monthly Vintage Pools in a common calendar quarter.a€ceWarrant Agreementa€ means a Warrant Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit
E-1 or Exhibit-2 attached hereto.a€ceWarrantsa€ means warrants in respect of the Equity Interests of Borrower, acquired by Administrative Agent
or any of its Affiliates from time to time on or after the Closing Date in accordance with the terms of the Warrant Agreement.a€ceWaterfall
Accounta€ means that certain deposit account in the name of the Company maintained at Cash Management Bank with account number ending in
1201 and any replacement accounts thereof, or, following the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, such other deposit
account designated from time to time by Administrative Agent in a written notice to Borrower.Section 1.02A A A A Terms Generally. The
definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any
pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words a€ceincludea€, a€ceincludesa€ and a€ceincludinga€
shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase a&€cewithout limitationa€. The word a€cewilla€ shall be construed to have the same meaning and
effect as the word &€oeshalla€. Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other
document herein shall be construed as referring to such -33-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428agreement, instrument or other
document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or
modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Persona€™s successors and assigns, (c)
the words a€cehereina€, &€ochereofa€ and a€cehereundera€, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its
entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to
refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement, and (e) the words d€ceasseta€ and a€cepropertya€ shall be
construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities,
accounts and contract rights.Section 1.03A A A A Accounting Terms; GAAP; Pro Forma Basis. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all
terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time. If, after the date of this
Agreement, there shall occur any change in GAAP from those used in the preparation of the financial statements referred to in SectionA 5.11 and
such change shall result in a change in the method of calculation of any financial covenant, standard or term found in this Agreement, either the
Borrower or the Required Lenders may by notice to the Lenders and the Borrower, respectively, require that the Lenders and the Borrower
negotiate in good faith to amend such covenants, standards, and terms so as equitably to reflect such change in accounting principles, with the
desired result being that the criteria for evaluating the financial condition of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be the same as if such change
had not been made. No delay by the Borrower or the Required Lenders in requiring such negotiation shall limit their right to so require such a
negotiation at any time after such a change in accounting principles. Until any such covenant, standard, or term is amended in accordance with
this Section, financial covenants shall be computed and determined in accordance with GAAP in effect prior to such change in accounting
principles. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement or any other Basic Document (but to the extent applicable, subject to the
proviso in the definition of Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio), with respect to any determination of the financial covenants, EBITDA,
Tangible Net Worth, the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, the Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio and the Opco Debt to
Tangible Net Worth Ratio, in the case of any acquisition (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Bitty Acquisition), income statement items
(whether positive or negative) attributable to the property or Person subject to such transaction shall be included as of the first day of the
applicable calculation period with respect to any test or covenant for which the relevant determination is being made.ARTICLE IITHE
CREDITSSection 2.01A A A A Term Loan Commitments. (a) During the Term Loan Draw Period, Lenders made, from time to time, Advances (each
a a€ceDraw Period Advancea€ and, collectively, the &€ceDraw Period Advancesa€) to Borrower, which Draw Period Advances remain outstanding
as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date in the aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000. Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary
effective as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, (i) no additional Advances (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, the Fifth -34-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Amendment Advance, Protective Advances and/or Administrative Agent Advances) shall be made or
requested, (ii) the existing Draw Period Advances shall be repaid as provided in Section 2.06, and (iii) once paid pursuant to the preceding clause
(ii) above, no portion of such existing Draw Period Advances may be re-borrowed.(b) Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, including,
without limitation satisfaction or waiver in writing by Administrative Agent of all conditions set forth in Article IV hereof, each Lender severally
agrees to make an Advance in an amount equal to the undrawn portion of such Lenderda€™s respective Term Loan Commitment to Borrower (i.e.
such Lendera€™s Term Loan Commitment after giving effect to its Draw Period Advances) in an aggregate amount equal to $35,000,000 on the
Fifth Amendment Funding Date (collectively, the a€ceFifth Amendment Advancea€). After giving effect to the Fifth Amendment Advance, the
aggregate principal amount of Advances outstanding hereunder shall be $50,000,000. Each Lendera€™s portion of the Fifth Amendment Advance
shall be made by deposit into such deposit accounts identified by the Borrower in the related borrowing request; provided, that under no
circumstances shall the aggregate outstanding amount of all Advances made as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date exceed the aggregate Term
Loan Commitments. For the avoidance of doubt, after the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, Borrower shall have no ability to request further
Advances hereunder. Once repaid, no portion of the Advances may be re-borrowed.Section 2. 02A A A A Advances, Etc.(a)A A A A Obligations of
Lenders. Each Advance shall be made by the Lenders ratably, in accordance with their respective Term Loan Commitments; provided, that, such
Advances shall be made ratably by the Lenders in accordance with their respective Term Loan Commitments for such month, unless any Lender
shall be a Defaulting Lender with respect to the applicable Advance, in which case the Non-Defaulting Lenders shall fund Advances solely to the
extent expressly required by Section 2.04(b). The failure of any Lender to make any Advance required to be made by it shall not relieve any other
Lender of its obligations hereunder.(b)A A A A Type of Advances. Advances shall be denominated in Dollars.(c)A A A A Protective Advances. The
Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, either directly, or through one or more of its Affiliates, from time to time in Administrative
Agenta€™s Permitted Discretion to make additional Advances (each a a€ceProtective Advancea€) to the Borrower, or any other Person for the
benefit of the Borrower, in respect of all or any Advances that such Administrative Agent deems necessary or desirable, in each case, in
Administrative Agenta€™s Permitted Discretion (i) to pay any amount chargeable to the Borrower pursuant to the terms of this Agreement that is
not paid by the Borrower on the date such payment is due in accordance with this Agreement, and (ii) following the occurrence and during the



continuation of a Default, (x) to preserve or protect the Collateral, or any portion thereof or (y) to enhance the likelihood of repayment of the
obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement. Any Protective Advances, together with interest thereon, as provided herein, shall be repaid
and allocated to the Administrative Agent. -35-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(d)A A A A Original Issue Discount. (i) The
funded amount of each Draw Period Advance was reduced by an original issue discount in the amount of [***], which original issue discount was
retained by the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (the &€ceOriginal Issue Discounta€), and has been deemed to be fully
earned and nonrefundable as of the date of each Draw Period Advance, provided, that notwithstanding such deduction of Original Issue Discount
from the funded amount of each Draw Period Advance, Borrower shall be obligated to pay the full amount of such Advance, together with interest
accruing on the full amount of each Draw Period Advance, in each case, without giving effect to such deduction of Original Issue Discount, on the
dates and times provided for payments of principal and interest hereunder.(ii) The funded amount of the Fifth Amendment Advance was reduced
by an original issue discount in the amount of $1,450,000.00, which original issue discount was retained by the Administrative Agent, for the
ratable benefit of the Lenders (the a€ceFifth Amendment Original Issue Discountd€), and has been deemed to be fully earned and nonrefundable
as of the date of such Advance, provided, that notwithstanding such deduction of Fifth Amendment Original Issue Discount from the funded
amount of such Advance, Borrower shall be obligated to pay the full amount of such Advance, together with interest accruing on the full amount of
such Advance, in each case, without giving effect to such deduction of Original Issue Discount, on the dates and times provided for payments of
principal and interest hereunder.(e)A A A A Advances. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all Advances hereunder and all other
amounts or Obligations from time to time owing to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent hereunder or under the other Basic Documents shall
constitute one general obligation of the Borrower and are secured by the Administrative Agenta€™s Lien on all Collateral as set forth more
specifically in the Security Agreement.Section 2.03A A A A Requests for Advances.(a)A A A A Notice by the Borrower. To request an Advance, the
Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such request in writing via an Advance Request in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto not
later than 1:00 p.m., New York time, at least two (2) Business Days before the date of the proposed Advance. Each such Advance Request shall be
irrevocable. (b)A A A A Content of Advance Requests. Each Advance Request shall comply with Section 2.02 and specify the following information:

(i)A A A A the amount of the requested Advance;(ii)A A A A the date of such Advance, which shall be a Business Day;(iii))A A A A a certification that
the use of proceeds of such Advance complies with Section 5.09 of this Agreement; and(iv)A A A A a reaffirmation of the representations and
warranties contained herein. -36-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(c)A A A A Notice by Administrative Agent to Lenders.
Upon receipt of an Advance Request by Administrative Agent, Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of the
amount of such Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share of such Advance; provided, that if Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower in writing of any
inaccuracies or misrepresentations in such Advance Request or the related Borrowing Base Certificate, Administrative Agent shall only advise
each Lender of the details of such Advance Request after the receipt of an updated Advance Request or Borrowing Base Certificate correcting any
such inaccuracy or misrepresentation.Section 2.04A A A A Funding of Advances.(a)A A A A Funding Borrower. So long as the conditions set forth
in Sections 4.02 and 4.03, as applicable, are satisfied or waived by Administrative Agent, each Lender shall make its respective Pro Rata Share of
such Advance to be made by it hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Operating Account
by close of business, on the day such Advance is requested pursuant to the Advance Request, whereupon, such funds may be withdrawn from time
to time by the Borrower from the Operating Account to be used by the Borrower in accordance with Section 5.09.(b)A A A A Funding of Defaulting
Lenders. If any Lender shall become a Defaulting Lender, the other Lenders (each, a &€eNon-Defaulting Lendera€) shall fund such Defaulting
Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share of such Advance, in accordance with each Non-Defaulting Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share, in each case, in accordance
with Section 2.04(a), to the extent such funding would not cause such Non-Defaulting Lender to exceed its Term Loan Commitment. In such event,
and provided funds shall have been advanced in accordance with Section 2.04(a), such Defaulting Lender agrees immediately to pay to each Non-
Defaulting Lender the amount so funded by such Non-Defaulting Lender, with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such
amount was funded by such Non-Defaulting Lender to, but excluding, the date of payment to each such Non-Defaulting Lender, at the rate per
annum equal to the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus two percent (2%). If, at a later date, such Defaulting Lender pays the amount of its failed
Pro Rata Share of the applicable Advance to the Non-Defaulting Lenders, together with interest as provided above, then such amount attributable
to the principal of the applicable Advance shall constitute such Defaulting Lendera€™s funding of its Pro Rata Share of the applicable Advance.
Each Lendera€™s funded portion of any Advance is intended to be equal at all times to such Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share of such Advance and the
foregoing shall not relieve any Lender of its obligations hereunder. The failure of any Lender to fund its Pro Rata Share of any Advance shall not
relieve any other Lender of its obligation to fund its Pro Rata Share of such Advance. Conversely, no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of
another Lender to fund such other Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share of an Advance except in the circumstances expressly set forth in this Section
2.04(b).(c)A A A A Uncured Defaulting Lender Commitment Assignment. A Non-Defaulting Lender who is not then an Affiliate of an Uncured
Defaulting Lender shall have the right, but not the obligation, to acquire and assume its Pro Rata Share of an Uncured Defaulting Lendera€™s
then remaining Term Loan Commitment. Immediately upon receiving written notice from such Non--37-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428Defaulting Lender that it desires to acquire its Pro Rata Share of such Uncured Defaulting Lendera€™s then remaining
Term Loan Commitment, the Uncured Defaulting Lender shall assign, in accordance with this Agreement, all or part, as the case may be, of its
Term Loan Commitment and other rights and obligations under this Agreement and all other Basic Documents to such Non-Defaulting Lender (the
d€meReplacement Lendera€).If no Non-Defaulting Lender elects to acquire and assume its Pro Rata Share of such Uncured Defaulting Lendera€™s
then remaining Term Loan Commitment as set forth in the immediately preceding paragraph within thirty (30) calendar days of such Defaulting
Lender becoming an Uncured Defaulting Lender, then the Borrower may, by notice (a &€ceReplacement Noticea€) in writing to the Administrative
Agent and the Uncured Defaulting Lender, (i) request such Uncured Defaulting Lender to cooperate with the Borrower in obtaining a
Replacement Lender for such Uncured Defaulting Lender; or (ii) propose a Replacement Lender. If a Replacement Lender shall be accepted by the
Administrative Agent who, at the time of determination, is neither an Uncured Defaulting Lender nor an Affiliate of an Uncured Defaulting Lender,
then such Uncured Defaulting Lender shall assign its then remaining Term Loan Commitment and other rights and obligations related to
unfunded Term Loan Commitments under this Agreement and all other Basic Documents to such Replacement Lender.In either case, following the
consummation of the assignment and assumption of the Uncured Defaulting Lendera€™s remaining Term Loan Commitment pursuant to one of
the two immediately preceding paragraphs in this Section 2.04(c), any remaining Term Loan Commitment of such Uncured Defaulting Lender
shall not terminate, but shall be reduced proportionately to reflect any such assignments and assumptions, and such Uncured Defaulting Lender
shall continue to be a &€ceLendera€ hereunder with its Term Loan Commitment and Pro Rata Share eliminated to reflect such assignments and
assumptions. Upon the effective date of such assignment(s) and assumption(s) such Replacement Lender shall, if not already a Lender, become a
d€meLendera€ for all purposes under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents. The assignment and assumption contemplated by this
paragraph shall modify the ownership of obligations related to unfunded Term Loan Commitments only and shall not modify the Uncured
Defaulting Lendera€™ s rights and obligations, including, without limitation, all indemnity obligations hereunder, with respect to Advances
previously funded.(d)A A A A Defaulting Lender Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if any Lender
becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until such time as such Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent permitted by applicable
Governmental Rules:(i)A A A A Waivers and Amendments. Such Defaulting Lendera€™s right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or
consent with respect to this Agreement shall be restricted as set forth in the definition of Required Lenders.(ii)A A A A Defaulting Lender
Waterfall. Any Collections, fees, interest, or other amounts received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender
(whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant -38-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428to Article IX or otherwise), shall
be applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such
Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent hereunder; second, (so long as no Default or Event of Default then exists), to the funding of any
Advance in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its Pro Rata Share thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by
the Administrative Agent; third, if so determined by the Administrative Agent, to be held in the Waterfall Account and released in order to satisfy
such Defaulting Lendera€™s potential future funding obligations with respect to Advances under this Agreement; fourth, to the payment of any
amounts owing to the Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against such Defaulting
Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lendera€™s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; fifth, so long as no Default or Event of Default
then exists, to the payment of any amounts owing to Borrower as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by
Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lendera€™ s breach of its obligations under this Agreement; and sixth, to
such Defaulting Lender to the extent such Defaulting Lender is entitled to such amounts pursuant to clause (d)(iii) below or as otherwise directed
by a court of competent jurisdiction.(iii)A A A A Certain Fees. Each Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive its Pro Rata Share of fees,
Prepayment Additional Interest and other applicable amounts hereunder only with respect to (A) Advances, with respect to which, such Lender is
a not a Defaulting Lender and (B) any period during which such Lender is not a Defaulting Lender, and only to the extent accruing hereunder
during such period.(e)A A A A Defaulting Lender Cure. If the Administrative Agent agrees in writing that a Lender is no longer a Defaulting
Lender, the Administrative Agent will so notify the parties hereto; provided, that no adjustments will be made retroactively with respect to fees,
Prepayment Additional Interest, or original interest discount accrued, or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrower while that Lender was a
Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from



Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lendera€™s having been a
Defaulting Lender.Section 2. 05A A A A Termination of the Term Loan Commitments.(a)A A A A Scheduled Termination. The Term Loan
Commitments shall terminate on the Term Loan Termination Date.(b)A A A A No Voluntary Termination by the Borrower. The Borrower may not
terminate this Agreement or reduce or terminate any portion of the Term Loan Commitments prior to the Term Loan Termination Date without
the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent and -39-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428each Lender whose Term
Loan Commitment would be reduced or terminated except as provided in Section 2.07.Section 2.06A A A A Repayment of Advances; Evidence of
Debt.(a)A A A A Repayment. From and after the Twelfth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower shall repay the principal amount of the
Advances to the Administrative Agent, for the accounts of the Lenders, in installment amounts of $20,000,000 on the last day of the fiscal quarter
ending on March 31, 2025, and $10,000,000 on the last day of each subsequent fiscal quarter. If not previously paid in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement, the Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay the outstanding principal amount of all Advances (and any applicable
amounts consolidated into and comprising such Advances), together with interest as provided herein, to the Administrative Agent, for the
accounts of the Lenders, on the Term Loan Termination Date. Any and all other amounts or Obligations owing hereunder, if not otherwise
specified herein, shall be due and payable in full in cash on the Term Loan Termination Date.(b)A A A A Reserved.(c)A A A A Releases. Upon
payment in full of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim has been asserted) by the Borrower and
the termination of all Term Loan Commitments pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, all Liens granted to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders pursuant to the Basic Documents or the Receivables Documents to secure the Obligations shall be automatically terminated and released,
and Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall, at the sole expense of the Borrower, authorize the filing of any termination statements, lien
releases, discharges of security interests, and other similar discharge or release documents (and if applicable in recordable form) as are
reasonably required and requested to evidence release, as of record, of the Liens and all notices of security interests and liens previously filed
with respect to the applicable Obligations hereunder.(d)A A A A Maintenance of Records by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent shall
maintain records, in which it shall record: (i) the amount of each Advance made hereunder, (ii) the amount of principal or interest due and payable
or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder, and (iii) the amount of any sum received by Administrative Agent
hereunder for accounts of the Lenders and each Lendera€™s Pro Rata Share thereof.(e)A A A A Effect of Entries. The entries made in the records
maintained pursuant to Section 2.06(d) shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the Obligations recorded therein; provided,
that, the failure of Administrative Agent to maintain such records, or any error therein, shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the
Borrower to repay the Advances and other Obligations in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.(f)A A A A Promissory Notes. All Advances
made pursuant to this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rates specified herein, shall, if requested by a Lender, be further
evidenced by those certain promissory notes, in an aggregate maximum principal amount equal to the amount of the Term Loan Commitment, as
then in effect, each made by the Borrower payable to -40-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428the order of the applicable
Lender, in the maximum amount of such Lendera€™s Term Loan Commitment, and delivered by Borrower to such Lender (each, a &€cePromissory

Notea€ and collectively, the &€cePromissory Notesa€).Section 2.07A A A A Prepayment of Advances.(a)A A A A Optional Prepayments.

(i)A A A A Subject to Section 2.08, Borrower may voluntarily prepay, in whole or in part, the principal balance of the outstanding Advances plus
accrued and unpaid interest at any time, so long as Borrower shall have identified such prepayment date (the &€cePrepayment Datea€), given
Administrative Agent prior written notice in advance of such proposed Prepayment Date in compliance with Section 2.07(d) below (or such other
notice as the Administrative Agent may agree in its sole discretion), and paid the Prepayment Additional Interest on or before such Prepayment
Date; provided any prepayment in part shall be in minimum amounts of $10,000,000 and increments of $10,000,000 thereof (or such other amount
as the Administrative Agent may agree to in its sole discretion). (ii)A A A A In the event of any resignation of the Administrative Agent pursuant to
Article X(g) or any assignment by any Lender pursuant to Section 11.04(b), so long as such successor Administrative Agent or assignee Lender is
not an Affiliate of the resigning Administrative Agent or assigning Lender (other than a Defaulting Lender or an Affiliate thereof), and so long as
no Event of Default is then continuing, Borrower shall have the right to voluntarily (A) prepay, without any premium or penalty, the principal
balance of the outstanding Advances in an amount equal to (x) in the event of any resignation of the Administrative Agent pursuant to Article X(g),
the entire outstanding principal balance of the Advances hereunder or (y) in the event of an assignment pursuant to Section 11.04(b), the amount
being assigned plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest, and (B) repurchase the Warrants or, in the event that the Warrant has been
exercised in whole or in part, the Shares (as defined in the Warrant Agreement) issued upon the exercise thereof, in the same proportion as the
principal amount so prepaid bears to the Maximum Loan Amount for a repurchase price equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Warrant
Agreement) of the Shares underlying such repurchased Warrants or the Fair Market Value of the Shares, as applicable. (b)A A A A Mandatory
Prepayments. In no event shall the sum of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Advances exceed the Borrowing Base. If at any time
and for any reason, the outstanding unpaid principal balance of the Advances exceeds the Borrowing Base (including due to any Eligible
Receivables thereafter failing to meet the eligibility criteria and becoming ineligible Receivables), then Borrower shall without the necessity of any
notice or demand, whether or not a Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing, deposit an amount -41-[OppLoans] Conformed
Credit Agreement#227178428equal to the difference between the then aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Advances and the
Borrowing Base (a &€eRequired Deficiency Deposita€) into the Facility Reserve Account in an amount equal to such excess, together with any
accrued but unpaid interest thereon. Any such amounts deposited into the Facility Reserve Account by Borrower may be returned to Borrower by
Administrative Agent upon Borrowera€™s request so long as (i) the pro forma Borrowing Base after giving effect to such return would not result
in a Required Deficiency Deposit, as evidenced by delivery to Administrative Agent of an updated Borrowing Base Certificate and (ii) (x) no
monetary or material non-monetary Default in relation to the Events of Default specified in Article IX(a), (b), (d), (g), (h), (i), (q) or (s) and (y) no
Event of Default are in effect at the time of such request.(c)A A A A Reserved.(d)A A A A Notices, Etc. The Borrower shall notify the Administrative
Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy or email) of any prepayment hereunder, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York time, at least five (5)
Business Days before the Prepayment Date. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the Prepayment Date and the principal amount
of the Advances to be prepaid on such date and, on such date, such amounts shall become due. Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the
Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof.Section 2.08A A A A Prepayment Additional Interest; Certain Fees.

(a)A A A A Prepayment Additional Interest. Any prepayment of the Advances, shall be accompanied by the applicable Prepayment Additional
Interest. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Prepayment Additional Interest is a reasonable projection of the Lendersa€™ actual
damages in the event of the early payment of the Advances and is not a penalty. For the avoidance of doubt, Prepayment Additional Interest shall
be paid upon any automatic or other acceleration of the Term Loan Termination Date, including, without limitation, any automatic or contractual
acceleration upon the commencement of a case or proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code by, or with respect to, Borrower, or resulting from any
other Bankruptcy Event, and, for the avoidance of doubt in connection with any Prepayment Date.(b)A A A A Administrative Agency Fee. The
Borrower agrees to pay the Administrative Agent, for its own account, a non-refundable, fully-earned administrative agency fee in the amount of
$[***], per fiscal quarter, payable on the Closing Date and quarterly, in advance, thereafter on each Payment Date of the first calendar month of a
fiscal quarter, while any Obligations are outstanding.(c)A A A A Payment of Additional Interest and Fees. All Prepayment Additional Interest and
fees payable hereunder shall be cumulative and shall be owed independent of the other amounts owing pursuant to this Agreement and paid on
the dates due, in Dollars and in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and Administrative
Agent entitled thereto. Prepayment Additional Interest and fees paid, once incurred, shall not be refundable, reversible or subject to set-off or

counterclaim under any circumstances.-42-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Section 2.09A A A A Interest.

(a)A A A A Advances. The outstanding principal amount of all Advances shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Interest Rate from the
date the same are funded to the Borrower (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be the date any such amount is funded to the Borrower
pursuant to an Advance). (b)A A A A Default Interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event
of Default, (i) the outstanding principal amount of all Advances and (ii) any accrued, but unpaid, interest and fees and any other Obligations that
are not timely paid (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable bankruptcy laws, whether or
not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest or other amounts is allowed in such proceeding) shall bear interest, after as well as before
judgment, at a rate per annum equal to the Interest Rate plus three percent (3.00%) from the date of the occurrence of the Event of Default until
the date no Event of Default is continuing.(c)A A A A Payment of Interest. Accrued interest on the outstanding Obligations relating to each
Advance shall be payable in arrears on (i) each Payment Date, with respect to all interest that has accrued and is unpaid as of the end of the
calendar month immediately preceding such Payment Date, and (ii) on the Term Loan Termination Date, with respect to all accrued and unpaid
interest. For the avoidance of doubt, on the first Payment Date following the Second Amendment Effective Date, the interest accrual period shall
consist of the period from the prior Payment Date until the end of the calendar month immediately preceding such Payment Date.

(d)A A A A [Reserved]. (e)A A A A Computation. All interest and, pursuant to Section 2.08(c), fees hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a
year of 360 days, and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed.Section 2.10A A A A [Reserved]. Section

2.11A A A A Taxes.(a)A A A A Any and all payments by or on account of any obligations of Borrower to a Recipient under any Basic Document shall
be made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, Taxes, imposed by any Governmental Authority, except as required by
Applicable Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable withholding agent) requires the deduction or



withholding of any Tax from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such
deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with
Applicable Law.(b)A A A A In addition, Borrower shall pay to the relevant Governmental Authority any Other Taxes, or at the option of the
Administrative Agent, timely reimburse it for the payment of any Other Taxes. -43-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit

Agreement#227178428(c)A A A A Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless each Lender and Administrative Agent for the full amount of any
and all Indemnified Taxes (including any Indemnified Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this Section 2.11) paid or
payable by such Lender or Administrative Agent and any reasonable expense (other than any penalties, interest, additions, and expenses that
accrue both after the 180th day after the receipt by Administrative Agent or such Lender of written notice of the assertion of such Indemnified
Taxes and before the date that Administrative Agent or such Lender provides Borrower with a certificate relating thereto pursuant to Section
2.11(n)) arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally asserted by the relevant
Governmental Authority. Payments under this indemnification shall be made within 10 days from the date any Lender or Administrative Agent
makes written demand therefor.(d)A A A A Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent, withinA 10A days after demand
therefor, for ()A any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the
Administrative Agent for such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so), (ii)A any Taxes attributable to such
Lendera€™s failure to comply with the provisions of SectionA 11.04(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register and (ii)A any
Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in connection with any Basic
Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or
asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the
Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any
and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Basic Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from
any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraphA (d). (e)A A A A If Borrower shall be required by
Applicable Law to deduct or withhold any Indemnified Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable hereunder to any Lender or Administrative
Agent, then the sum payable shall be increased to the extent necessary so that after making all required deductions or withholdings (including
deductions or withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.11(e)), such Lender or Administrative Agent, as the case
may be, receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been made. As soon as practicable
after any payment by Borrower to any Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.11, Borrower shall furnish to Administrative Agent the
original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such
payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.(f)A A A A Each Lender (or Transferee) that is not
a citizen or resident of the United States of America, a corporation, partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the
United States (or any jurisdiction thereof), or any estate or trust that is subject to federal income taxation regardless of the source of its income or
is otherwise a a€ceforeign persona€ within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1441-1(c) (a &4€ceNon-U.S. Lendera€) shall deliver to -44-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Borrower and Administrative Agent two (2) executed copies of each applicable U.S. Internal
Revenue Service Form W-8BEN, Form W-8BEN-E, Form W-8IMY and/or Form W-8ECI, or any subsequent versions thereof or successors thereto,
properly completed and duly executed by such Non-U.S. Lender claiming complete exemption from United States federal withholding tax on all
payments by Borrower under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents. Such forms shall be delivered by each Non-U.S. Lender on or before
the date it becomes a party to this Agreement, and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative
Agent. In addition, each Non-U.S. Lender shall deliver such forms promptly upon the expiration, obsolescence or invalidity of any form previously
delivered by such Non-U.S. Lender. In addition to properly completing and duly executing Forms W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E or W-8IMY (or any
subsequent versions thereof or successor thereto), if such Non-U.S. Lender is claiming an exemption from withholding of United States Federal
income tax under Section 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code, such Lender hereby represents and warrants that (A)A it is not a &€cebanka€ within the
meaning of Section 881(c) of the Code, (B)A it is not subject to regulatory or other legal requirements as a bank in any jurisdiction, (C)A it has not
been treated as a bank for purposes of any tax, securities law or other filing or submission made to any governmental securities law or other legal
requirements, (D)A it is not a &€0e10 percent shareholdera€ within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code of Borrower, (E)A it is not a
controlled foreign corporation receiving interest from a related person within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code and (F)A none of
the interest arising from this Agreement constitutes contingent interest within the meaning of Section 871(h)(4) or Section 881(c)(4) of the Code
and such Non-U.S. Lender agrees that it shall provide Administrative Agent, and Administrative Agent shall provide to Borrower with prompt
notice at any time after becoming a Lender hereunder that it can no longer make the foregoing representations and warranties. Each Lender who
makes an assignment pursuant to Section 11.04 where the assignment and assumption agreement is not delivered to Borrower shall indemnify
and agree to hold Administrative Agent, Borrower and the other Lenders harmless from and against any United States federal withholding tax,
interest and penalties that would not have been imposed but for (i)A the failure of the Affiliate that received such assignment under Section 11.04
to comply with this Section 2.11(f) or (ii)A the failure of such Lender to withhold and pay such tax at the proper rate in the event such Affiliate
does not comply with this Section 2.11(f) (or complies with Section 2.11(f) but delivers forms indicating it is entitled to a reduced rate of such tax).
(g)A A A A Borrower will not be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of United States federal income tax pursuant to this Section
2.11 to any Lender or Administrative Agent or to indemnify any Lender or Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 2.11(c) to the extent that

(i)A the obligation to pay such additional amounts would not have arisen but for a failure by such Lender to comply with its obligations under this
Section 2.11 for any reason; (ii)A with respect to a Lender, the obligation to withhold amounts with respect to United Stated federal income tax
existed on the date such Lender became a party to this Agreement or, with respect to payments to a lending office newly designated by a Lender
(a &€eNew Lending Officea€), the date such Lender designated such New Lending Office with respect to the applicable Advance or Term Loan
Commitment; provided, however, that this clause (ii) shall not apply to the extent the additional amounts any Lender (or Transferee) through a
New Lending Office, would be entitled to receive (without regard to this clause (ii)) do not exceed the additional amounts that the Person making
-45-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428the transfer, or Lender (or Transferor) making the designation of such New Lending
Office, would have been entitled to receive in the absence of such transfer or designation; (iii)A the Internal Revenue Service has determined
(which determination shall be final and non-appealable) that such Lender or Administrative Agent is treated as a 4€oeconduit entitya€ within the
meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.881-3 or any successor provision; provided, however, nothing contained in this clause (iii) shall
preclude the payment of additional amounts or indemnity payments by Borrower to the person for whom the &€ceconduit entitya€ is acting; or
(iv)A such Lender is claiming an exemption from withholding of United States Federal income tax under Sections 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code but
is unable at any time to make the representations and warranties set forth in clauses (A) 4€“ (F) of Section 2.11(f).(h)A A A A Any Lender that is a
United States Person within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code (a &€aeU.S. Lendera€) shall deliver to Borrower and Administrative
Agent (i)A a properly prepared and duly executed U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-9, or any subsequent versions thereof or successors
thereto, certifying that such Lender is entitled to receive any and all payments under this Agreement and each other Basic Document free and
clear from withholding of United States federal income taxes and (ii)A such other reasonable documentation as will enable Borrower and/or
Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements.

(i)A A A A Each Lender agrees to provide Borrower and the Administrative Agent, upon the reasonable request of Borrower, such other forms or
documents as may be reasonably required under Applicable Law in order to establish an exemption from or eligibility for a reduction in the rate or
imposition of Taxes, provided that a Non-U.S. Lender shall not be required to deliver any form pursuant to this Section 2.11(i) (other than such
documentation set forth in Section 2.11(f), (h) and (i)) if, in the Lendera€™s reasonable judgment, such completion, execution or submission would
subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.
()A A A A If a payment made to a Lender under any Basic Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such
Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the
Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such
time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by Applicable Law (including as
prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the
Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to
determine that such Lender has complied with such Lendera€™s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold
from such payment. Solely for purposes of this paragraph (j), 8€eFATCAA€ shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this
Agreement.(k)A A A A If Borrower is required to pay additional amounts to or for the account of any Lender or Administrative Agent pursuant to
this Section 2.11, then such Lender or -46-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Administrative Agent shall use its reasonable
efforts (consistent with legal and regulatory restrictions) to file any certificate or document reasonably requested by Borrower or to designate a
lending office from a different jurisdiction (if such a lending office exists), if requested by the Borrower, so as to eliminate or reduce any such
additional payments by Borrower which may accrue in the future if such filing or changes in the reasonable judgment of such Lender or
Administrative Agent, would not require such Lender to disclose information such Lender reasonably deems confidential and is not otherwise



materially disadvantageous to such Lender or Administrative Agent.(1)A A A A If Administrative Agent or a Lender, in its reasonable judgment,
receives a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by Borrower or with respect to which Borrower has paid additional amounts
pursuant to this Section 2.11, it shall promptly pay to Borrower an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments
made, and additional amounts paid, by Borrower under this Section 2.11 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund) and any interest
paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund, provided, that Borrower, upon the request of Administrative Agent or
such Lender, shall repay the amount paid over to Borrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental
Authority) to Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay the applicable refund to
such Governmental Authority.(m)A A A A Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Administrative Agent is required by law to deduct or
withhold any Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes or any other Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable to any Lender by Borrower or
Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent shall not be required to make any gross-up payment to or in respect of such Lender, except to the
extent that a corresponding gross-up payment is actually received by Administrative Agent from Borrower.(n)A A A A Any Lender claiming
reimbursement or compensation pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall deliver to Borrower (with a copy to Administrative Agent) a certificate setting
forth in reasonable detail the amount payable to such Lender hereunder and such certificate shall be conclusive and binding on Borrower in the
absence of manifest error.(0)A A A A Each Lender and Transferee agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered pursuant to this
Section 2.11 expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.(p)A A A A Each Person that shall become a Participant pursuant to Section
11.04 shall, on or before the date of the effectiveness of the related transfer, be required to provide all of the forms, certifications and statements
required pursuant to Sections 2.11(f), (h) and (i), and shall make the representations and warranties set forth in clauses (A) a€“ (F) of Section
2.11(f), provided that the obligations of such Participant pursuant to Sections 2.11(f), (h) and (i) shall be determined as if such Participant were a
Lender except that such Participant shall furnish all such required forms, certifications and statements to the Lender from which the related
participation shall have been purchased.-47-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(q)A A A A Defined Terms. For purposes of this
Section, the term 4€ceApplicable Lawa€ includes FATCA.(r)A A A A Each partya€™s obligations in this Section 2.11 shall survive the resignation
or replacement of the Administrative Agent or the payment of all other Obligations.Section 2. 12A A A A Payments Generally; Application of
Payments; Sharing of Set-offs.(a)A A A A Payments by the Borrower. The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder
(whether under Section 2.11, or otherwise) or under any other Basic Document (except to the extent otherwise provided therein) prior to 2:00
p.m., New York time, on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set-off or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time
on any date shall be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such
payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent or as expressly provided in the relevant Basic Document and payments pursuant to Section
2.11 and Section 11.03, which shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments
received by it for account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof. If any payment hereunder shall be
due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, in the case of any
payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All amounts owing under this Agreement or under
any other Basic Document (except to the extent otherwise provided therein) are payable in Dollars.(b)A A A A Application of Payments. All
payments (other than pursuant to Section 2.07(a) and interest payments under Section 2.09(c)) hereunder shall be applied to the Obligations in
such order as Administrative Agent may determine in its Permitted Discretion.(c)A A A A Pro Rata Treatment. Except to the extent otherwise
provided herein: (i)A all payments hereunder, including without limitation, the Prepayment Additional Interest and fees required pursuant to
Section 2.08 (other than the Administrative Agency Fee under Section 2.08(b)) shall be made for the ratable account of the Lenders based on their
respective Pro Rata Share of the Advances giving rise thereto, (ii) each termination or reduction of the amount of the Term Loan Commitments
shall be applied to the respective Term Loan Commitments of the Lenders, pro rata, according to the amounts of their respective Term Loan
Commitments, (iii) each Advance shall be allocated pro rata among the Lenders according to the amounts of their respective Term Loan
Commitments at the time of such Advance, and (iv) each payment or prepayment of principal (and any associated Prepayment Additional Interest
pursuant to Section 2.08(a)), or payment of interest shall be made for account of the Lenders pro rata in accordance with each such Lendera€™s
Pro Rata Share of the unpaid principal amount of the Advances.(d)A A A A Sharing of Payments by Lenders. If any Lender shall, by exercising any
right of set-off or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on or fees with respect to any of the
Advances resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of its Pro Rata Share of Advances and accrued interest thereon then
due to such Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face -48-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428value) participations in the Advances funded by other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such
payments shall be shared by the Lenders; provided, that, (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving
rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest,
and (ii) the provisions of this Section 2.12(d) shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance
with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in
any of its Advances to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this Section
2.12(d) shall apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable Governmental
Rules, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of set-off and
counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such
participation. ARTICLE IIIREPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIESSection 3.01A A A A Representations and Warranties of the Credit Parties.
Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule attached hereto as Schedule 3.01, each Credit Party hereby makes the following representations
and warranties to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, and the Lenders shall be deemed to have
relied on such representations and warranties in making the Fifth Amendment Advance on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date:

(a)A A A A Organization and Qualification. It has been duly organized and is validly existing and in good standing under its jurisdiction of
organization, with requisite power and authority to own its properties and to transact the business in which it is now engaged, including to enter
into and perform its obligations under each Basic Document and each Receivables Document to which it is a party, and, except where the failure
to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing (or is exempt
from such requirements) in each State of the United States where the nature of its business requires it to be so qualified.(b)A A A A No Conflict.
The execution, delivery and performance by it of its obligations under each Basic Document and each Receivables Document to which it is a party
and the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated will not conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of, or
constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than any Lien created by the Basic Documents) upon any of the
property or assets of the Borrower pursuant to the terms of, any of its organizational documents or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan
agreement or other agreement or instrument to which it or of its Subsidiaries is bound or to which any of its property or assets is subject, nor will
such action result in any violation of the provisions of any Governmental Rule applicable to it or any of its properties, in each case, where such
conflict, breach, default, Lien or violation, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.-49-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(c)A A A A Authorization and Enforceability. Each of the Basic Documents and Receivables
Documents to which the Borrower is a party has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and (assuming due authorization,
execution and delivery by each other party thereto) is a valid and legally binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in
accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or
other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such
enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law). (d)A A A A No Violation. It is not in violation of its organizational documents or in
default under any agreement, indenture or instrument, which violation or default, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected
to have a Material Adverse Effect.(e)A A A A Compliance with Law. It (DA is in compliance with all Applicable Laws, and (ii)A is not in violation of
any order of any Governmental Authority or other board or tribunal, except, in the case of both (i) and (ii), where noncompliance or violation could
not reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect. Except as could not reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a
Material Adverse Effect, neither Borrower nor any of its respective ERISA Affiliates has established or maintains or contributes (or has an
obligation to contribute) to, or otherwise has any liability with respect to, any a€ceemployee benefit plana€ that is covered by Title IV of ERISA or
Section 412 of the Code. There are no ESG Issues pending, individually or in the aggregate, that could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.(f)A A A A Governmental Action. No Governmental Action is required for (i) the execution, delivery and performance by any Credit
Party, or compliance by such Credit Party with, any of the Basic Documents to which it is a party or (ii) the consummation of the transactions
required of the Borrower by any Basic Document to which it is a party except such as shall have been obtained before the date hereof, other than
the filing or recording of financing statements, instruments of assignment and other similar documents necessary in connection with the
perfection of the security interest created under the Basic Documents.(g)A A A A Licenses. It possesses the licenses, certificates, authorities or
permits issued by its respective state, federal or foreign regulatory agencies or bodies necessary to conduct the business now operated by it
except where the failure to obtain or maintain the same could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material



Adverse Effect, and has not received any written notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any such license, certificate,
authority or permit, which revocation or modification, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect.(h)A A A A Litigation. As of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, there are no actions or proceedings against, or investigations of,
any Credit Party currently pending with regard to which any such Credit Party has received service of process and no action or proceeding
against, or investigation of, any such Credit Party is, to the knowledge of such Credit Party, threatened (in writing) or otherwise pending before
any Governmental Authority, which, in each case, if -50-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428adversely determined, individually
or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.(i)A A A A Labor. No Credit Party has been involved in any
labor dispute, strike, walkout or union organization which could reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.

()A A A A Investment Company Act. No Credit Party is required to register as an 4€ceinvestment companya€ as such term is defined in the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.(k)A A A A No Insolvency Proceeding. No order for relief under the Bankruptcy Code (or any similar
insolvency proceeding) has been entered with respect to any Credit Party.(1)A A A A Title. It has good and valid title to, and it is the sole owner of,
the Collateral and the Administrative Agent has a perfected Lien in the Collateral (or, with respect to any Collateral consisting of Equity Interests
in Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers, second-priority Lien in such Collateral), free and clear of any other Lien other than any Permitted Lien.
(m)A A A A Intellectual Property. No Credit Party owns, licenses, utilizes, or is a party to, any patents, patent applications, registered trademarks,
trademark applications, registered service marks, service mark applications, registered copyrights, domain name registrations, copyright
applications, trade secrets, trade names, software (other than mass marketed, commercially available software) or licenses of intellectual property
or other registrations or applications for registration of intellectual property. No Credit Party is in breach of or default under the provisions of any
license agreement, domain name registration or other agreement related to intellectual property, which breach or default would reasonably be
expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.(n)A A A A Disclosure. None of the Basic Documents to which any Credit Party is a
party, nor any certificate, statement, report or other document prepared by any Credit Party and furnished or to be furnished by it pursuant to any
of the Basic Documents to which it is a party or in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, contains any untrue statement of
material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the material statements contained herein or therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not materially misleading; provided that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders acknowledge that as to any
projections furnished to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, each Credit Party only represents that the same were prepared on the basis of
information and estimates such Credit Party believed to be reasonable at the time.(0)A A A A Affiliated Agreements. No Credit Party is a party to
any contracts or agreements with any of its Affiliates on terms and conditions which are less favorable to such Credit Party than would be usual
and customary in similar contracts or agreements between Persons that are not Affiliates, except as disclosed to Administrative Agent in writing
and as expressly permitted in Section 6.01(n).-51-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(p)A A A A Brokers. No brokera€™s or
finder&€™s fee, commission or compensation will be payable in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the
other Basic Documents.(q)A A A A Chief Executive Offices. The principal place of business and chief executive offices of Borrower is located at 130
East Randolph Street, Suite 3300, Chicago, Illinois 60601, or such other address as shall be designated by the Borrower in a written notice to the
Administrative Agent.(r)A A A A Tax Returns; Taxes. Each Credit Party has timely filed or caused to be timely filed all federal and material state,
local and, if applicable, foreign tax returns which are required to be filed by such Credit Party, and has paid or caused to be paid all taxes due and
owing by it, other than any taxes or assessments, (i) the validity of which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings timely
instituted and diligently pursued and with respect to which such Credit Party has set aside adequate reserves on its books in accordance with
GAAP or (ii) the failure of which to pay could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. (s)A A A A Insurance. As of the
Fifth Amendment Funding Date, Borrower has in full force and effect such insurance policies as are listed on Schedule 3.01.(t)A A A A Financial
Statements. All financial statements and financial information relating to Credit Parties that have been or may hereafter be delivered to
Administrative Agent by any such Credit Party (a) are consistent in all material respects with the books of account and records of the Credit
Parties, (b) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, on a consistent basis throughout the indicated periods, except that the unaudited
financial statements contain no footnotes or year-end adjustments, and (c) present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial
condition, assets and liabilities and results of operations of Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis at the dates and for the relevant
periods indicated in accordance with GAAP on a basis consistently applied. No Credit Party has any material obligations or liabilities of any kind
required to be disclosed therein that are not disclosed in such financial statements, and since the date of the most recent financial statements
submitted to Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement, there has not occurred any Material Adverse Effect or, to Borrowera€™s
knowledge, any other event or condition that could reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.(u)A A A A Anti-
Terrorism; OFAC. (i)A A A A No Credit Party is and no Person controlling or controlled by any Credit Party, nor any Person having a beneficial
interest in any Credit Party, nor any Person for whom any Credit Party is acting as agent or nominee in connection with this transaction
(&€ceTransaction Personsa€) (1) is a Person whose property or interest in property is blocked or subject to blocking pursuant to Section 1 of
Executive Order 13224 of September 23, 2001 Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or
Support Terrorism (66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (2001)), (2) engages in any dealings or transactions prohibited by Section 2 of such executive order, or is
otherwise -52-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428associated with any such Person in any manner violative of Section 2 of such
executive order, or (3) is a Person on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons. No Credit Party is in violation of the
limitations or prohibitions under any other OFAC regulation or executive order.(ii))A A A A Borrower shall not use, and shall ensure that its
Subsidiaries and Affiliates, and their respective Related Parties do not use, any part of the proceeds of the Advances, directly or indirectly, for any
payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting
in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage, in violation of the United States Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.(iii)A A A A Borrower acknowledges by executing this Agreement that Lender has notified Borrower,
that, pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, Administrative Agent is required to obtain, verify and record such information as may be
necessary to identify Borrower (including, without limitation, the name and address of Borrower) in accordance with the Patriot Act.

(v)A A A A Use of Proceeds. Borrower shall not use the proceeds of any Advance made hereunder (i) for a purpose that violates or would be
inconsistent with Regulations T, U or X promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System from time to time or (ii) to acquire
any security in any transaction in violation of Section 13 or 14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.Section 3. 02A A A A Reserved. Section
3.03A A A A Financial Condition. Each Credit Party represents and warrants, that on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date: (a)A A A A it is not
subject to a Bankruptcy Event and has no reason to believe that its insolvency is imminent; and(b)A A A A (i) the value of the Companya€™s and
its Subsidiariesa€™ assets (on a consolidated basis), will exceed the debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, of the Company
and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis), (ii) the Company and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) (x) will be able to pay their debts and
liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and liabilities mature, (y) will not have unreasonably small capital with which to
conduct the business in which they are engaged as such business is now conducted and is proposed to be conducted following the Fifth
Amendment Funding Date and, (z) will not be rendered insolvent by the execution and delivery of any of the Basic Documents to which they are a
party or the assumption of any of its obligations thereunder.-53-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428ARTICLE
IVCONDITIONSSection 4.01A A A A Closing Date. The obligations of the Lenders to make Advances hereunder shall not become effective until the
date on which the Administrative Agent shall have received each of the following documents, each of which shall be reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent (and to the extent specified below, to each Lender) in form and substance (or such condition shall have been waived in
accordance with Section 11.02):(a)A A A A Documents. A duly executed counterpart of each of the Basic Documents (including, without limitation
a Guaranty and a Pledge Agreement for each Subsidiary of Borrower that is not an Excluded Subsidiary), and each and every document or
certification required to be delivered by any Credit Party in connection with the execution of any of the Basic Documents, and all Schedules and
Exhibits thereto (including, without limitation, a list of Receivables to be attached hereto as Schedule II) and each such document shall be in full
force and effect. (b)A A A A Performance by the Borrower. An Officera€™ s Certificate from Borrower, dated the Closing Date, certifying (i) that all
the terms, covenants, agreements and conditions of this Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents to be complied with and performed by
the Borrower on or before the Closing Date, including compliance with the Financial Covenants, have been complied with and performed in all
material respects, and (ii) that each of the representations and warranties of the Borrower made in this Agreement and each of the other Basic
Documents are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier or later
time). (c)A A A A Organization Documents. Copies of the Borrowera€™s articles of formation and operating agreement (or comparable
organizational documents) and any amendments thereto, copies of the certificate of good standing from the officer of the secretary of state of the
jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower, and copies of resolutions of the Borrowera€™ s governing body authorizing the transactions
contemplated by each of the Basic Documents to which the Borrower is a party, all certified by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower.

(d)A A A A Opinions of Counsel. Counsel to the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent customary favorable opinions with
respect to corporate authority, enforceability, perfection and other customary matters (as reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent in its
discretion) dated as of the Closing Date.(e)A A A A Diligence. Administrative Agent shall have completed examinations, the results of which shall
be satisfactory in form and substance to Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, of Borrower, including, without limitation, (i)A an examination



of background checks with respect to the managers, officers and owners of Borrower and (ii) an examination of the Collateral, and Borrower shall
have demonstrated to Administrative Agenta€™s satisfaction, in its sole discretion, that (x) no operations of Borrower are the subject of any
governmental investigation, evaluation or any remedial action which would be reasonably expected to result in it being unable to perform its
obligations in connection with these transactions, and (y)A Borrower -54-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428has no liabilities or
obligations (whether contingent or otherwise), other than the Obligations, that are deemed material by Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion;
it being understood and agreed that this condition shall be deemed satisfied upon the execution of this Agreement by the Administrative Agent.
(A A A A Collateral Access Agreements. With respect to the chief executive office of the Borrower, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain
an agreement executed in favor of Administrative Agent by each Person who owns or occupies any such premises subordinating any Lien that such
Person may ever have with respect to any of the Collateral and authorizing the Administrative Agent from time to time to enter upon the premises
and to inspect, remove or sell the Collateral from such premises.(g)A A A A Insurance. Copies of the Borrowera€™s liability and property
insurance certificates, together with any endorsements required pursuant to Section 5.07(a).(h)A A A A Approvals and Consents. Copies of all
material Governmental Actions of all Governmental Authorities required with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Basic Documents
and Receivables Documents and the documents related thereto.(i)A A A A Deposit Accounts. Borrower shall have opened the Waterfall Account
and Facility Reserve Account with Cash Management Bank and Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed Control Agreements with
the Cash Management Bank or other applicable banks in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent granting
Administrative Agent springing control over the Operating Account and full dominion over the Waterfall Account and Facility Reserve Account;
provided that, to the extent the Control Agreement with respect to the Operating Account cannot be obtained as of the Closing Date, Borrower
shall deliver such Control Agreement within thirty (30) days of the Closing Date.(j)A A A A Lien Searches. All in form and substance satisfactory to
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, Administrative Agent shall have received (i) a report of UCC financing statement, bankruptcy, tax and
judgment lien searches performed with respect to Borrower in each jurisdiction determined by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, and
such report shall show no Liens on the Collateral (other than Permitted Liens), (ii)A each document (including, without limitation, any UCC
financing statement) required by any Basic Document or under law or requested by Administrative Agent to be filed, registered or recorded to
create, in favor of Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and the other Lenders, a perfected security interest upon the Collateral, and

(iii)A evidence of each such filing, registration or recordation and of the payment by Borrower of any necessary fee, tax or expense relating
thereto. (k)A A A A Pledged Equity Interests. Receipt by Administrative Agent of (i) any certificates representing the membership or Equity
Interests pledged pursuant to any Pledge Agreement (other than any Equity Interests in Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers), together with an
undated stock power or assignment separate from certificate for each membership interest or shares, as applicable, executed in blank by an
authorized officer of the pledgor thereof and (ii) each promissory note (if any) pledged to Administrative Agent pursuant to any Pledge -55-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Agreement endorsed in blank (or accompanied by an executed transfer form in blank) by
the pledgor thereof.(I)A A A A Programmatic Documents. The Closing Date amendment to the Program Agreement in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent and each other document required to be executed in connection therewith. (m)A A A A [Reserved].
(n)A A A A Perfection Certificates. A Perfection Certificate with respect to the Borrower and, if applicable, each Guarantor, dated the Closing
Date, and duly executed by the Borrower as contemplated by the Security Agreement.(0)A AAA Compliance With Laws. Administrative Agent
shall be reasonably satisfied that Borrower is in compliance in all material respects with all Applicable Laws.The obligation of each Lender to
make its initial extension of credit hereunder is also subject to the payment by the Borrower of such fees as the Borrower shall have agreed to pay
to any Lender or the Administrative Agent in connection herewith, including the reasonable fees and expenses of regulatory counsel and one
primary outside counsel to the Administrative Agent, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the other Basic Documents and the extensions of credit hereunder, to the extent invoiced at least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing
Date.Section 4.02A A A A Each Credit Extension Date. The obligation of each Lender to make its Pro Rata Share of any Advance on any Credit
Extension Date, including with respect to any Advance to be made on the Closing Date and with respect to the Fifth Amendment Advance on the
Fifth Amendment Funding Date, is additionally subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:(a)A A A A each of the representations and
warranties of the Credit Parties made in this Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects
(except for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of such
Credit Extension Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time);(b)A A A A at the time of and immediately after giving effect to
such Advance no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; :(c)A A A A the Administrative Agent shall have received (i) an
Advance Request in accordance with Section 2.03, which request shall include a Credit Extension Date and show that after giving effect to the
requested Advance, it will not exceed the Maximum Loan Amount, (ii) a Borrowing Base Certificate for such Advance with all necessary
supporting documentation executed by an Authorized Officer of Borrower, (iii) a Receivables Report from the Backup Servicer with regards to the
Receivables to be pledged pursuant to such Advance, and (iv) solely to the extent necessary to correct any inaccuracy or misrepresentation in any
Advance Request or -56-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Borrowing Base Certificate, such additional information as may be
reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent in writing;(d)A A A A a Bankruptcy Event shall not have occurred with respect to the Borrower;
(e)A A A A such proposed Credit Extension Date shall be during the Term Loan Draw Period and the Term Loan Termination Date shall not have
occurred;(f)A A A A the Borrower shall have taken any action reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders required to
maintain the ownership interest of the Borrower in the Collateral and the first-priority, perfected security interest of the Administrative Agent in
the Collateral (or, with respect to Collateral consisting of Equity Interests in the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers, second priority interest in
such Collateral); and(g)A A A A the Borrower shall have issued to Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the applicable Lenders, pursuant to the
terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants.Each Advance Request shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by the
Borrower on the date thereof and on the date of the funding of the related Advance, as to the matters specified in the foregoing clauses (a)
through (g). The Administrative Agent shall determine, in its sole discretion, whether each of the above conditions have been satisfied.Section
4.03A A A A Fifth Amendment Funding Date. The obligation of each Lender to make its Pro Rata Share of the Fifth Amendment Advance on the
Fifth Amendment Funding Date, is additionally subject to the satisfaction of the following condition: (a)A A A A Borrower shall have paid (or
caused to be paid) to Administrative Agent, on behalf of itself and Lenders, the Fifth Amendment Original Issue Discount and all other reasonable
and documented fees, costs and expenses due and owing to Administrative Agent, Lenders and any of their Affiliates as of Fifth Amendment
Funding Date under this Agreement. All fees, costs, expenses and other amounts payable under this Section 4.03(a) shall be non-refundable and
fully earned upon Administrative Agenta€™ s receipt of such fees, costs, expenses or amounts. ARTICLE VAFFIRMATIVE COVENANTSUntil the
Term Loan Commitments have expired or been terminated and the principal of and interest on the Advances and other Obligations payable
hereunder shall have been paid in full in cash, each Credit Party covenants and agrees with the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that:Section
5.01A A A A Annual Statement as to Compliance. The Company will deliver to the Administrative Agent and each Lender, within one hundred
twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company (commencing with the first fiscal year ending after the date -57-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428hereof), an Officera€™ s Certificate stating, as to the Authorized Officer signing such Officera€™s

Certificate, that:(a)A A A A a review of the activities of the Credit Parties, as applicable, during such year and of its performance under this
Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents has been made under such Authorized Officera€™ s supervision; and(b)A A A A to the best of
such Authorized Officera€™s knowledge, based on such review, the Credit Parties, have complied in all material respects with all conditions and
covenants applicable to such Persons under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents throughout such year and that no Default has
occurred and is continuing, or, if there has been a Default, specifying each such Default known to such Authorized Officer and the nature and

status thereof.Section 5.02A A A A Notices of Certain Events; Information. The Credit Parties will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each
Lender prompt written notice of the following: (a)A A A A Defaults. As soon as possible and in any event within two (2) Business Days after any
Authorized Officer of any Credit Party obtains, or reasonably should have obtained, knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of
Default hereunder, or any event that has resulted in or is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or any default or event of default
by any Credit Party or Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower under any Approved SPV Facility.(b)A A A A Litigation. Promptly upon any Authorized
Officer of any Credit Party obtaining actual knowledge of (i) the institution of, or threat (in writing) of, any Proceeding against a Credit Party or
the Bank Partner (in the case of the Bank Partner, solely with respect to the Receivables, the origination of the Receivables or the sale of the
Receivables to OppWin) not previously disclosed in writing by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent that, if adversely determined, is
reasonably likely to result in liability of any Credit Party in an aggregate amount in excess of $[***], (ii) any material development in any
Proceeding against any Credit Party (other than Borrower) that, if adversely determined, is reasonably likely to result in a judgment in an amount
in excess of $[***], or seeks to enjoin or otherwise prevent the consummation of, or to recover any damages or obtain relief as a result of, the
transactions contemplated hereby, written notice thereof together with such other information as may be reasonably available to the Credit
Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to evaluate such matters or (iii) any material development in any Proceeding against the
Bank Partner that, if adversely determined, is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, written notice thereof together with such
other information as may be reasonably available to the Credit Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to reasonably evaluate
such matters. (c)A A A A Changes in Address. Promptly and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the occurrence thereof, written notice



of a change in address of the chief executive office or place of organization of any Credit Party.(d)A A A A Material Notices. Promptly and in any
event within five (5) Business Days following the delivery of any material notices, other than material notices that have already been -58-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428provided to Administrative Agent in writing, to an Approved SPV Agent by an Approved
Subsidiary SPV Borrower.(e)A A A A Other Information. Such information (including financial information), documents, records or reports with
respect to the Collateral as the Administrative Agent, on behalf of any Lender, may from time to time reasonably request and which are reasonably
available to the Credit Parties.Section 5.03A A A A Existence, Licenses, Etc.(a)A A A A Existence, Rights and Franchises, Etc. Subject to Section
5.03(b), each Credit Party will keep in full effect its existence, rights and franchises under the laws of the State of its organization (unless it
becomes or any successor hereunder becomes organized under the laws of any other State or of the United States of America, in which case such
Person will keep in full effect its existence, rights and franchises under the laws of such other jurisdiction) and will obtain and preserve its
qualification to do business in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is or shall be necessary to protect the validity and enforceability of this
Agreement and the other Basic Documents to which it is a party and the Collateral, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; for the avoidance of doubt, (x) each Credit Party may merge or
consolidate with and into, or be dissolved or liquidated into, any other Credit Party or any Subsidiary of any Credit Party, so long as (i)A in the
case of any such merger, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation involving the Borrower, the Borrower is the surviving or continuing entity of any
such merger, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation and (ii)A if such transaction involves a Credit Party, a Credit Party shall be the surviving or
continuing entity of any such merger, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation and, (y) the Credit Parties may consummate the SPAC Transaction.
Each Credit Party shall comply in all material respects with the covenants contained in its operating agreement.(b)A A A A Licenses. Each Credit
Party shall at all times possess all material licenses, certificates, authorities or permits issued by the appropriate state, federal or foreign
regulatory agencies or bodies necessary to conduct the business now operated by such Credit Party or as contemplated by the other Basic
Documents, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.Section 5. 04A A A A Access to
Information.(a)A A A A The Company shall, during regular business hours, upon reasonable prior written notice, permit the Administrative Agent,
or its agents or representatives to (i) examine all books, records and other documents (including computer tapes and disks) in the possession or
under the control of the Company or its Subsidiaries relating to the Collateral, the Basic Documents or the Receivables Documents, as may be
reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent, and (ii) visit the offices and property of the Company or its Subsidiaries for the purpose of
examining such materials described in clause (i) above; provided, however, that prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Administrative
Agent, its agents and representatives shall, collectively, -59-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#2271784280only be permitted to perform
such examinations and visits set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) up to two (2) times in any consecutive twelve-month period.(b)A A A A The Credit
Parties agrees to pay any and all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses actually incurred by the Administrative
Agent, its agents and representatives in connection with such examinations, inspections, physical counts and other valuations in accordance with
Section 11.03 of this Agreement.(c)A A A A The Company agrees to provide Administrative Agent with copies of board meeting minutes and
materials in accordance with Section 6(b) of that certain Preferred Share Warrant executed between the Company and Administrative Agent on
the Closing Date, at all times (i) during the term of this Agreement or (ii) so long as Administrative Agent either owns Equity Interests in the
Company or holds outstanding Warrants to purchase Equity Interests of the Company.Section 5.05A A A A Ownership and Security Interests;
Further Assurances. Each Credit Party will take all action necessary to maintain the (i) respective ownership interests of such Credit Party or its
Subsidiaries in the Collateral and (ii) Administrative Agenta€™s security interest in the Collateral and the other items pledged to the
Administrative Agent pursuant to the Security Documents, except to the extent that, (x) in the reasonable business judgement of such Person,
such property is no longer necessary for the proper conduct of business of such Person and (y) the disposition of any such property is permitted
pursuant to Section 6.01(a).Section 5.06A A A A Reserved.Section 5.07A A A A Performance of Obligations. (a)A A A A Insurance. Borrower shall
keep all of its insurable properties and assets adequately insured in all material respects against losses, damages and hazards as are customarily
insured against by businesses of similar size engaging in similar activities or lines of business or owning similar assets or properties and at least
the minimum amount required by this Agreement or applicable law; all such insurance policies and coverage levels shall (a) be in such amounts as
are insured by Persons similarly situated and operating like properties, (b) name Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and the other
Lenders, as a loss payee or additional insured thereunder, as applicable, and (c) expressly provide that such insurance policies cannot be
terminated without thirty (30) calendar daysa€™ prior written notice to Administrative Agent.(b)A A A A Reserved.(c)A A A A Amendments to
Material Agreements. The Credit Parties shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary of the Credit Parties, without the prior written consent of
the Administrative Agent, to make (i) any amendment or modification, that would be materially adverse to Administrative Agent and/or the
Lenders or modifies any Material Term, to any Indebtedness under an Approved SPV Facility, (ii) any amendment or modification to any Bank
Partner Program which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) any amendment or modification to the Bitty Purchase
Documents which could reasonably be -60-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or
(iv) any amendment or modification to the Company Operating Agreement that would be materially adverse to Administrative Agent and the
Lenders.(d)A A A A Amendments of Collateral Documents; Waivers. Each Credit Party agrees (i) that it will not, without the prior written consent
of the Administrative Agent, amend, modify, waive, supplement, terminate or surrender, or agree to any amendment, modification, supplement,
termination, waiver or surrender of, the terms of any Collateral in a manner materially adverse to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders; and
(ii) that no such amendment shall increase or reduce in any manner the amount of, or accelerate or delay the timing of, distributions that are
required to be made for the benefit of the Lenders. If any such amendment, modification, supplement or waiver shall so be consented to by the
Administrative Agent, each Credit Party agrees, promptly following a request by the Administrative Agent to do so, to deliver executed copies of
such amendment, modification, supplement or waiver and to take such other actions as may be required pursuant to Section 5.10.Section

5.08A A A A Treatment of Advances as Debt for All Purposes. Borrower shall treat the Advances as indebtedness for all purposes.Section

5.09A A A A Use of Proceeds. On and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower used the proceeds of the Advances solely to (a)
repay in full certain Indebtedness, including accrued but unpaid interest thereon, (b) repay in full the outstanding letters of credit listed on
Schedule 5.09 hereof totaling $[***] in the aggregate, and (c) fund working capital, expenses in connection with the transactions contemplated by
the Basic Documents or for other general corporate purposes.Section 5.10A A A A Further Assurances. The Credit Parties will take such action
from time to time as shall be requested by the Administrative Agent to effectuate the purposes and objectives of this Agreement. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, each such Person, will from time to time execute and deliver all such supplements and amendments hereto and all
such financing statements, continuation statements, instruments of further assurance and other instruments, and will take such other action
necessary or advisable to:(a)A A A A provide further assurance with respect to the Grant of all or any portion of the Collateral;(b)A A A A maintain
or preserve the lien and security interest (and the priority thereof) of this Agreement or carry out more effectively the purposes hereof;

(c)A A A A perfect, publish notice of or protect the » validity of any Grant made or to be made by the Security Documents;(d)A A A A enforce any
rights with respect to the Collateral; and(e)A A A A preserve and defend title to the Collateral and the rights of the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders in such Collateral against the claims of all Persons and parties.-61-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Section

5.11A A A A Financial Statements and Projections of the Company. The Borrower shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders the following financial information:(a)A A A A as soon as available and in any event within one hundred and twenty (120)
days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company, audited consolidated and consolidating balance sheets and statements of income, cash flows
and changes in shareholdersa€™ equity as of the end of and for such fiscal year audited by Independent Auditors; (b)A A A A as soon as available
and in any event within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal month of the Company, unaudited consolidated and consolidating balance
sheet and statement of income as of the end of and for the portion of such fiscal year then ended;(c)A A A A as soon as available and no later than
thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal year, the Company shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Administrative Agent, the projected
budget of the Company and its Subsidiaries; and (d)A A A A at all times prior to the consummation of the SPAC Transaction, as soon as available
and in any event within fifteen (15) days following the filing thereof, the Company shall provide to Administrative Agent copies of each U.S.
federal income tax return or information return or report filed by the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries.Each of the financial statements
referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above shall have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (subject to year-end adjustments in the case of interim
statements) and shall be accompanied by a certification substantially in the form of Exhibit F pursuant to which (i) such financial statements shall
be certified by an Authorized Officer of the Company and (ii) the Company shall set forth a calculation of its compliance with the Financial
Covenants. The consolidating financial statements referred to in clause (a) above shall be accompanied by a statement of the Independent
Auditors for the Company to the effect that such consolidating statements have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied to the audits of
the corresponding consolidated financial statements and are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to such consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The Borrower shall promptly furnish or cause to be furnished to the Administrative Agent any other financial
information regarding Borrower reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent.Section 5.12A A A A [Reserved]. Section

5.13A A A A Borrowing Base Certificate. (i) On or prior to the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each calendar month (or, if any such day is not a
Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), (ii) concurrently with the delivery of a borrowing base certificate to any lender under an

Approved SPV Facility, and (iii) upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, at any other time, promptly upon request



by Administrative Agent, Borrower shall submit an up to date Borrowing Base Certificate along with necessary supporting documentation to
Administrative Agent.-62-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Section 5.14A A A A Monthly Covenant Report. On or prior to the
fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each calendar month (or, if any such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), Borrower will
provide to Administrative Agent, with respect to the immediately preceding month, (i) the Monthly Covenant Report and (ii) any servicer
certificates delivered pursuant to the Approved SPV Facilities.Section 5.15A A A A Compliance with Organization Documents and Laws. Each
Credit Party hereby covenants and agrees that until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms, it will comply in all respects with
(i) the provisions of its organizational documents in effect from time to time and (ii) all Applicable Laws.Section 5.16A A A A True Books. Borrower
shall (a) keep true, complete and accurate (in accordance with GAAP, except for the omission of footnotes and year-end adjustments in interim
financial statements) books of record and account in accordance with commercially reasonable business practices in which true and correct
entries are made of all of its dealings and transactions in all material respects; and (b) set up and maintain on its books such reserves as may be
required by GAAP with respect to doubtful accounts and all taxes, assessments, charges, levies and claims and with respect to its business.Section
5.17A A A A Payment of Taxes. Borrower shall pay all Taxes imposed upon it or any of its properties or assets or in respect of any of its income,
businesses or franchises before any penalty or fine accrues thereon, and all claims (including claims for labor, services, materials and supplies) for
sums that have become due and payable and that by law have or may become a Lien upon any of its properties or assets, prior to the time when
any penalty or fine shall be incurred with respect thereto except where the failure to do so could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; provided, that no such Tax or claim need be paid if the validity of such Tax or claim is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings timely instituted and diligently pursued and with respect to which Borrower has set aside
adequate reserves on its books in accordance with GAAP.ARTICLE VINEGATIVE COVENANTSSection 6.01A A A A Negative Covenants of the
Credit Parties. Until the Term Loan Commitments have expired or terminated and the principal of and interest on each Advance and all fees and
other Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted) payable
hereunder have been paid in full in cash, each Credit Party covenants and agrees with the Lenders and the Administrative Agent that it will not,
without the prior written consent of Administrative Agent:(a)A A A A except as expressly permitted by the Basic Documents, sell, transfer,
exchange or otherwise dispose of any of its properties or assets, including those included in any part of the Collateral, unless directed to do so by
the Administrative Agent on behalf of the Lenders as permitted herein; provided, however, that this Section shall not apply to nor operate to
prevent:(i)A A A A the sale or lease of inventory in the ordinary course of business;-63-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit

Agreement#227178428(ii)A A A A the sale of delinquent notes or accounts receivable in the ordinary course of business for purposes of collection

only (and not for the purpose of any bulk sale or securitization transaction);(iii)A A A A the sale of Receivables to any Approved Subsidiary SPV
Borrower in the ordinary course of the Borrowera€™s business; (1V)A A A A the sale of Receivables or participation interests therein pursuant to
the transactions contemplated by the Program Agreement;(v)A A A A the sale of receivables or participation interests with respect to merchant
cash advances in the ordinary course of the Credit Partiesa€™ business;(vi)A A A A the sale, transfer or other disposition of any tangible personal
property that, in the reasonable business judgment of such Credit Party, has become obsolete or worn out, and which is disposed of in the
ordinary course of business; (vii)A A A A dispositions resulting from any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of
eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of any Credit Party;(viii)A A A A terminations of leases by any
Credit Party in the ordinary course of business that do not interfere in any material respect with the business of any such Credit Party;

(ix)A A A A any sale, transfer, assignment, disposition, abandonment or lapse of intellectual property that is no longer commercially practicable,
usable or desirable in the conduct of business, in the ordinary course of business; and(x)A A A A the sale, transfer or other disposition of any
Property of any Credit Party (including any sale or transfer of Property as part of a sale and leaseback transaction) aggregating not more than
$[***] during any fiscal year of the Credit Parties. (b)A A A A [reserved];(c)A A A A Engage in any business or activity other than its business as
presently conducted, which shall include, for the avoidance of doubt, the business of Opportunity Financial SMB, LLC, Opportunity Financial SMB
Holdings, LLC and the entities acquired pursuant to the Bitty Purchase Agreement as conducted on the date the Bitty Acquisition was
consummated and on each subsequent date on which additional portions of the entities acquired under the Bitty Purchase Agreement are
acquired (and, in each case, reasonable extensions thereof and any business or businesses ancillary or complementary thereto, including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the financing of credit card receivables, salary deduction loans and merchant cash advances) except as expressly permitted by
this Agreement, the other Basic Documents and the Receivables -64-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Documents, other than
in connection with, or relating to, the Advances pursuant to this Agreement; (d)A A A A dissolve or liquidate in whole or in part or merge or
consolidate with any other Person except as provided in Section 5.03(a);(e)A A A A permit the validity or effectiveness of any Bank Partner
Program to be impaired or permit any Person to be released from any covenants or obligations under any Bank Partner Program, except (i) as may
expressly be permitted hereby or thereby or (ii) as could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse
Effect;(f)A A A A except as provided in the Basic Documents, permit any Lien to be created on or extend to or otherwise arise upon or burden the
Collateral or any part thereof or any interest therein or the proceeds thereof, except for Permitted Liens;(g)A A A A (A) Pay any dividend or make
any distribution (by reduction of capital or otherwise), including, without limitation any dividend or distribution for the payment of management
fees permitted under clause (n) below, whether in cash, property, securities or a combination thereof, to any owner of a beneficial interest in such
Credit Party with respect to any ownership or Equity Interest or security in or of such Credit Party, (B) redeem, purchase, retire or otherwise
acquire for value any such ownership or Equity Interest or security, or (C) set aside or otherwise segregate any amounts for any such purpose,
unless in the case of each of the foregoing, (i) no Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom, and (ii) such distribution would not cause
the Tangible Net Worth as calculated after giving effect to such dividend, distribution, redemption, repurchase, retirement or payment to be less
than the Minimum Tangible Net Worth, provided that:(i)A A A A to the extent no Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom, each
Credit Party may: (x) pay dividends or make distributions to its equity holders solely for the purpose of repurchasing Equity Interests of departing
employees or independent contractors or to satisfy withholding tax obligations; (y) make cash payments in connection with an &€ceExchangeéa€ (as
defined in the Company A&R LLCA (as defined in the Business Combination Agreement)); and (z) make distributions as contemplated by the Tax
Receivable Agreement (as defined in the Business Combination Agreement); and(ii)A A A A each Credit Party may (x) pay dividends or make
distributions during any fiscal year in amounts necessary to allow each of its members or its beneficial owner to make payments in respect of its
federal income tax liability (and, if applicable, state income tax liability) attributable to its allocable share of the Borrowera€™s taxable income
(determined in accordance with the Code) (including estimated tax payments determined in good faith by the Borrower which are required to be
made by its members with respect thereto) so long as the Borrower is treated as a partnership or other pass through entity (including a
disregarded entity) for -65-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428federal income tax purposes (collectively, a€ceTax
Distributionséd€); provided that, at all times prior to the consummation of the SPAC Transaction, no later than five (5) Business Days prior to
making any Tax Distribution, the Borrower, as the case may be, shall have delivered to Administrative Agent a certificate duly executed and
completed by a financial officer of the Borrower stating the amount of the Tax Distribution and containing a schedule, in reasonable detail, setting
forth the calculation thereof; and (y) make distributions of Cash, Equity Interests, or other property contributed to the Company in connection and
in furtherance of the consummation of the SPAC Transaction, in each case with respect to this clause (y), within fifteen (15) calendar days of the
consummation of the SPAC Transaction.For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not restrict Credit Parties from making expenditures
related to capital, working capital, marketing and other general corporate purposes, and shall not restrict dividends and distributions made by any
Credit Party (other than the Borrower) to any other Credit Party.(h)A A A A except as otherwise permitted under the terms hereof, enter into,
assume or otherwise be bound or obligated under any agreement creating or evidencing Indebtedness, other than Permitted Indebtedness;

(i)A A A A [reserved];(j)A A A A form any Subsidiary after the Closing Date unless, within thirty (30) days after such Subsidiary is formed, (x) such
Subsidiary (other than any Excluded Subsidiary) at Administrative Agenta€™s discretion, becomes a Guarantor with respect to the Obligations
and executes a Guaranty in favor of Administrative Agent, (y) such Person pledges to Administrative Agent all of the Equity Interests of such
Subsidiary (which in the case of any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, may be junior in priority to the applicable Approved SPV Agent) pursuant
to a Pledge Agreement in order to secure the Obligations and (z) Administrative Agent shall have received all documents, including without
limitation, legal opinions and appraisals it may reasonably require to establish compliance with each of the foregoing conditions in connection
therewith; (k)A A A A No Credit Party shall, and no Credit Party shall permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (a) be or become a Person whose property
or interests in property are blocked or subject to blocking pursuant to Section 1 of Executive Order 13224 of September 23, 2001 Blocking
Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit or Support Terrorism (66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (2001)), (b)
engage in any dealings or transactions prohibited by Section 2 of such executive order, or otherwise be associated with any such Person in any
manner violative of Section 2 of such executive order, or (c) otherwise become a Person on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked
Persons in violation of the limitations or prohibitions under any other OFAC regulation or executive order;-66-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428(1)A AAA permit the FinWise Accounts to (i) have funds in excess of the amounts required under the FinWise Documents
or (ii) be used for any purpose other than to secure the Companya€™s and OppWina€™s obligations under the FinWise Documents;

(m)A A A A [reserved];(n)A A A A enter into or consummate any transaction of any kind with any of its Affiliates other than (i) the transactions
contemplated hereby, by the other Basic Documents and by the Bitty Purchase Agreement, (ii) to the extent not otherwise prohibited under this



Agreement, other transactions upon fair and reasonable terms materially no less favorable to such Credit Party than would be obtained in a
comparable arms-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate, (iii) transactions set forth on Schedule 6.01(n), (iv) such Credit Partya€™s
obligations under the Approved SPV Facilities and the Purchase and Sale Agreements to which it is a party, (v) such Credit Partya€™s investment
in Subsidiaries and otherwise in the ordinary course of its business, (vi) transactions permitted pursuant to Sections 6.01(a)(iii) and Section
6.01(g) and (vii) subject to the terms and conditions of the Management Fee Subordination Agreement, the payment of management fees,
indemnity obligations and expenses as contemplated by the Management Fee Agreement so long as no Event of Default then exists or would result
therefrom and the OpCo Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio as calculated both before and after giving effect to such payment would not be greater
than [**];(0)A A A A permit any changes in the registered capital or any variation of rights, privileges or preferences of any Equity Interests of
any Credit Party which would materially and adversely affect the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent under this Agreement;

(p)A A A A permit any Credit Party to make or authorize any changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy in a manner
adverse to the interests of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under the Basic Documents without the prior written consent of the
Administrative Agent. The Credit Parties shall provide the Administrative Agent with at least ten (10) Business Daysa€™ prior written notice of
any other changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing Policy that do not require the consent of the Administrative Agent;
and(q)A A A A permit any sale, transfer or other disposition of fifty percent (50%) or more of the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis, except as permitted by the Basic Documents or by operation of the Receivables Documents or the Program
Agreement.ARTICLE VIIFINANCIAL COVENANTSSection 7.01A A A A Maximum Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth. As of the last day of
each calendar month, Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio for the immediately preceding three calendar
months to be greater than [***¥].Section 7.02A A A A Minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of each calendar
month, Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the immediately preceding six calendar months to be less
than [***]; provided, that, -67-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio for the immediately preceding six calendar months to be less than the ratio next to the corresponding calendar month in the table
set forth below as of the last day of such calendar month if Liquidity on such day is greater than or equal to (i) $[***] if such day occurs on or prior
to July 31, 2022, and (ii) $[***], if such day occurs after July 31, 2022.Calendar MonthMinimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage RatioJuly
2022[**]August 2022[***]September 2022[***]October 2022[***]November 2022[***]December 2022[***1]anuary 2023[***]February
2023[***]March 2023[**¥]April 2023[***]May 2023, and each calendar month thereafter[***]Section 7.03A A A A Minimum Liquidity. As of the last
day of each calendar month, Borrower shall not permit Liquidity to be (i) less than $[***] if such day occurs on or prior to July 31, 2022, and (ii)
less than $[***], if such day occurs after July 31, 2022.ARTICLE VIIICASH MANAGEMENTSection 8.01A A A A Reserved.Section

8.02A A A A Location of Waterfall Account. The Waterfall Account shall be maintained with Cash Management Bank (or any other bank approved
by Administrative Agent -68-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428in its Permitted Discretion) and subject to a Control Agreement
in 4€oeblockeda€ form, granting Administrative Agent sole control over funds on deposit in the Waterfall Account. If at any time the Waterfall
Account ceases to be an Eligible Deposit Account, then the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, as applicable, shall, within ten (10) Business
Days (A) establish a new Waterfall Account with a Designated Depository Institution or another depository institution selected by the
Administrative Agent (and acceptable to the Required Lenders) as an Eligible Deposit Account, (B) terminate the Waterfall Account that no longer
constitutes an Eligible Deposit Account, and (C) transfer any cash and investments from such ineligible Waterfall Account to such new Waterfall
Account. The Administrative Agent will inform the Borrower in writing of any such transfer to a new Waterfall Account.Section 8.03A A A A Cash
Management.(a)A A A A At all times during the Term, Borrower shall maintain all cash in Deposit Accounts which are subject to a Control
Agreement.(b)A A A A Borrower shall cause all amounts in any Deposit Account of Borrower, maintained with BMO Bank N.A., within thirty (30)
days of the opening thereof, to be swept daily to either (i) the applicable collection account with respect to an Approved SPV Facility or (ii) a
Deposit Account over which Administrative Agent has a Control Agreement.(c)A A A A Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an
Event of Default, Borrower shall maintain all cash in the Waterfall Account and shall cause each Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower to deposit, or
cause to be deposited (without duplication), into the Waterfall Account all distributions to the Borrower from any such Approved Subsidiary SPV
Borrower; and(d)A A A A Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, if Borrower receives any such amounts directly
or in any manner other than via a deposit to the Waterfall Account, the Borrower shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, to the Waterfall Account
all such amounts received within two (2) Business Days after receipt thereof.Section 8.04A A A A Payments Upon Event of Default.

(a)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, and upon
receipt of written notice from Administrative Agent, all amounts received by the Borrowers from Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers in
accordance with the provisions of the respective Approved SPV Facilities governing priority of payments with respect to Collections, shall be
directly deposited into the Waterfall Account to be applied to the Obligations in such order as determined by Administrative Agent in its sole
discretion; and(b)A A A A Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent shall have the
immediate right to direct and to apply all amounts, including without limitation, all funds in the Waterfall Account, proceeds of Collateral,
prepayments, and other amounts received by the Administrative Agent of every description otherwise payable to the Borrower, to the Obligations
in such order and in such manner as the Administrative Agent -69-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428shall elect in its sole
discretion; provided, so long as no Event of Default then exists, Administrative Agent shall permit Borrower to use available funds in the Waterfall
Account, to the extent thereof, to make Tax Distributions pursuant to Section 6.01(g).Section 8.05A A A A No Set-Off. Borrower absolutely and
unconditionally promises to pay, when due and payable pursuant hereto, principal, interest and all other amounts and Obligations payable,
hereunder or under any other Basic Document, without any right of rescission and without any deduction whatsoever, including any deduction for
set-off, recoupment or counterclaim, notwithstanding any damage to, defects in or destruction of the Collateral or any other event, including
obsolescence of any property or improvements. Except as expressly provided for herein, Borrower hereby irrevocably waives set-off, recoupment,
demand, presentment, protest, and all notices and demands of any description, and the pleading of any statute of limitations as a defense to any
demand under this Agreement and any other Basic Document, all to the extent permitted by Governmental Rules. Each Advance shall be due and
payable in full, if not earlier in accordance with this Agreement, on the Term Loan Termination Date.Notwithstanding that the outstanding
Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted) owing to the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereunder and the other Basic Documents have been paid in full, the Administrative Agent and the
Borrower shall continue to maintain the Waterfall Account hereunder until this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with its
terms.Section 8.06A A A A Waterfall Account; Waterfall Account Property.(a)A A A A Control of Waterfall Account. The Waterfall Account has been
pledged by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent under the Security Agreement and shall be subject to the Lien granted pursuant to the
Security Agreement. The Administrative Agent shall possess all right, title and interest in and to all funds on deposit from time to time in the
Waterfall Account and in all proceeds thereof (including all income thereon) and all such funds, investments, proceeds and income shall be part of
the Collateral.(b)A A A A Certain Waterfall Account Matters. Funds held in the Waterfall Account may be invested (to the extent practicable and
consistent with any requirements of the Code) in Permitted Investments by or at the direction of the Borrower; provided that, at all times, the
Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, shall have a first-priority perfected security interest in all funds and Permitted Investments in
the Waterfall Account. In any case, funds in the Waterfall Account must be available for withdrawal without penalty, and any Permitted
Investments must mature or otherwise be available for withdrawal, one (1) Business Day prior to the next Payment Date and shall not (subject to
Section 8.02) be sold or disposed of prior to its maturity. All interest and any other investment earnings on amounts or investments held in the
Waterfall Account shall be retained by the Borrower.-70-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(c)A AAATIf any losses are realized
in connection with any investment in the Waterfall Account pursuant to this Agreement, then the Borrower shall deposit the amount of such losses
(to the extent not offset by income from other investments in the Waterfall Account) into such Waterfall Account promptly upon receipt of written
notice from the Administrative Agent describing the realization of such loss.(d)A A A A Administrative Agent Not Liable. The Administrative Agent
shall not in any way be held liable by reason of any insufficiency in any Waterfall Account held by the Administrative Agent resulting from any
investment loss on any Permitted Investment included therein. ARTICLE IXEVENTS OF DEFAULTIf any of the following events (a€ceEvents of
Defaulta€) shall occur and be continuing (whatever the reason for such Event of Default and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be
effected by operation of Governmental Rules or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any
administrative or governmental body):(a)A A A A failure by Borrower to make payment of any interest on any Advance or any fees required to be
made pursuant to any Basic Document when due and payable pursuant to the Basic Documents, which failure is not fully cured within two (2)
Business Days; or(b)A A A A failure by Borrower to make payment of any installment of the principal, including any Required Deficiency Deposit,
required to be made pursuant to this Agreement of any Advance, which failure is not fully cured within two (2) Business Days; or(c)A A A A default
in the observance or performance of any covenant or agreement of Borrower under any Basic Document (or any disavowal or repudiation of any
such Basic Document) to which it is a party (other than a covenant or agreement, a default in the observance or performance of which is
elsewhere in this Article specifically dealt with), or any representation or warranty of Borrower made in any Basic Document to which it is a party
or in any certificate or other writing delivered pursuant thereto or in connection therewith proving to have been incorrect in any material respect
as of the time when the same shall have been made, and the circumstance or condition in respect of which such misrepresentation or warranty



was incorrect or that gave rise to such covenant or agreement breach shall not have been eliminated or otherwise cured to the satisfaction of the
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, for a period of fifteen (15) days (provided that, the grace period for defaults that could not
reasonably be cured within fifteen (15) days shall be thirty (30) days) after the earlier of (i) the date written notice has been given to Borrower, as
applicable, by the Administrative Agent or any Lender specifying such default or incorrect representation or warranty and stating that such notice
is a notice of Default hereunder and (ii) the date Borrower has knowledge of such default or inaccurate representation and warranty requiring it to
be remedied; or(d)A A A A (i) the failure by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to make payments when due on Indebtedness in excess of
$[***], or (ii) the occurrence of any event which causes or may -71-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428reasonably be expected
to cause a default in the observance or performance of any covenant or agreement of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries made in, or the
acceleration, upon default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of, (x) the Receivables Documents or (y) any repurchase agreement, loan and
security agreement, any agreement executed in connection with an Approved SPV Facility or other similar credit facility agreement entered into
by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, only if the applicable agreement evidences Indebtedness in excess of $[***];

or(e)A A A A the occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect; or(f)A A A A [reserved]; or(g)A A A A the filing of a decree or order for relief by a court
having jurisdiction over Borrower or with respect to all or substantially all of the Collateral in an involuntary case under any applicable federal or
state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar Governmental Rules now or hereafter in effect, or the appointing of a receiver, liquidator, assignee,
custodian, trustee, sequestrator or similar official of Borrower, or for all or substantially all of the Collateral, or the ordering of the winding-up or
liquidation of the affairs of Borrower, and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days;
or(h)A A A A the commencement by Borrower pursuant to a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or under any applicable federal or state
bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar Governmental Rules now or hereafter in effect, or the consent by Borrower to the entry of an order for
relief in an involuntary case under any such Governmental Rules, or the consent by Borrower to the appointment or taking possession by a
receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator or similar official of Borrower or for any substantial part of the Collateral, or the
making by Borrower of any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the failure by Borrower generally to pay its respective debts as such

debts become due, or the taking of any action by Borrower in furtherance of any of the foregoing; or(i)A A A A the insolvency of Borrower;

or(j)A A A A solely to the extent that Receivables originated under a Bank Partner Program is greater than [***] of the total Receivables originated
by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the trailing twelve (12) month period, the failure by the Company to maintain in full force and effect
such Bank Partner Program, unless, within sixty (60) days following termination of the such Bank Partner Program, the Company or another
Borrower enters into (i) another Bank Partner Program, (ii) is already party to such a program at the time of termination of such Bank Partner
Program, or (iii) a replacement origination channel arrangement which is reasonably expected to generate an equivalent number of originations as
the terminated Bank Partner Program, as determined by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; or(k)A A A A any adverse regulatory, civil or
criminal judgement is rendered in favor of or by a Governmental Authority against the Borrower, and results in a Material Adverse Effect on the
financial condition of Borrower; or-72-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(1)A A A A any money judgment, writ or warrant of
attachment or similar process involving Borrower or any other Credit Party, in the aggregate at any time an amount in excess of $[***] with
respect to all Credit Parties, to the extent not adequately covered by insurance as to which a solvent and unaffiliated insurance company has not
denied coverage, shall be entered or filed against such Credit Party or any of their respective assets and (A) shall remain, or any Lien in
connection with any of the foregoing shall remain, undischarged, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days (or in any event
later than five (5) days prior to the date of any proposed sale thereunder in connection with any enforcement proceedings commenced by a
creditor upon such judgment, writ, warrant of attachment or similar process), or (B) a decree or order is entered for the appointment of a
receiver, liquidator, sequestrator, trustee, or custodian assignee for the benefit of creditors (or other officer having similar powers) over such
assets; or(m)A A A A any formal enforcement order or criminal complaint relating to financial crimes or major felonies is brought by a
Governmental Authority against Borrower, which has not been dismissed or satisfied or of which the Borrower has not been found not guilty
within sixty (60) days of the filing of such order or complaint, provided, however, that no Event of Default under this clause (m) shall be deemed to

be continuing if at any time the Borrower is found not guilty under such order or complaint; or(n)A A A A a Key Man Trigger Event shall occur;

or(o)A A A A [reserved]; or(p)A A A A a Change of Control shall occur; or(q)A A A A default in the observance or performance of any Financial
Covenant; or(r)A A A A default in observance or performance of Article VIII; or(s)A A A A the failure by Borrower to repay on any Payment Date to
Administrative Agent the full amount of any Protective Advance outstanding on such date, together with interest thereon, as provided in this
Agreement, which failure is not remedied by payment within ten (10) Business Days of the date such payment was due; or(t)A A A A the
occurrence and continuation of an event of default under the Program Agreement or any other documents executed in connection therewith,
which default shall not have been cured or waived within any applicable grace period; or(u)A A A A [reserved]; or(v)A A A A the occurrence of a
Specified Regulatory Change; or(w)A A A A the occurrence of an event of default by a Servicer pursuant to the applicable Servicing Agreement
which results in the removal of the Servicer; or(x)A A A A at any time after the execution and delivery thereof, (i) this Agreement or any Security
Document ceases to be in full force and effect (other than by reason of a release of -73-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428Collateral in accordance with the terms thereof or the satisfaction in full of the Obligations in accordance with the terms
hereof) or shall be declared null and void or the enforceability thereof shall be impaired in any material respect, or the Administrative Agent shall
not have or shall cease to have a valid and perfected Lien in any material portion of the Collateral purported to be covered by the Security
Documents with the priority required by the relevant Security Document, in each case for any reason other than the failure of the Administrative
Agent to take any action within its control, or (ii) any of the Basic Documents, for any reason, other than the satisfaction in full of all Obligations
(other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), shall cease to be in full force and effect
(other than in accordance with its terms) or shall be declared to be null and void or a party thereto, as the case may be, shall repudiate its
obligations thereunder or shall contest the validity or enforceability of any such Basic Document in writing; or(y)A A A A the auditord€™s opinion
accompanying the audited financial statements of any Credit Party delivered hereunder is qualified in any manner and the Administrative Agent
has notified the Credit Parties in writing that such qualification constitutes an Event of Default; or(z)A A A A a material exception in any audit
conducted pursuant to Section 5.11 which is not cured within ten (10) Business Days of the earlier to occur of an Authorized Officer of the
applicable Credit Party having knowledge thereof or an Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party receiving written notice thereof from the
Administrative Agent; or(aa)A A A A a final, decree or order is entered by an administrative body (including, without limitation, an administrative
order of the CFPB) or by a court of competent jurisdiction, whether or not such decree or order is appealable or is being appealed, in connection
with a CFPB proceeding brought against any Credit Party or one or more of its Subsidiaries (i) for the payment of a€cerestitution,a€
d€medisgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment,a€ a€cerefund of moneys or return of real propertya€ and/or &€cepayment of damages or
other monetary relief,a€ or any similar characterization (other than for civil monetary penalties), (ii) for the payment of civil monetary penalties,
or (iii) pursuant to which a Credit Party or one or more of its Subsidiaries consent or agree to remedies, whether conduct or monetary-based, in
connection with allegations by such administrative body, in such decree or order, resulting from (or relate to remediation of) unfair, deceptive or
abusive acts or practices by such Credit Party or any such Subsidiary, whether or not such Credit Party or such Subsidiary admits that such acts
or practices were, in fact, unfair, deceptive or abusive; which, in the case of either (i), (ii), or (iii) above, results in a Material Adverse Effect;
or(bb)A A A A the occurrence of any Regulatory Trigger Event;then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower
described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may,
and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, take either or both of the following actions, at the same or different
times: (i) terminate the Term Loan Commitments, and thereupon the Term Loan Commitments shall terminate immediately, and (ii) declare the
unpaid principal amount of each Advance then outstanding to be due and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so -74-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428declared to be due and payable may thereafter be declared to be due and payable so long as
such Event of Default is continuing, which Event of Default, for the avoidance of doubt, shall automatically be deemed to be continuing upon the
expiry of any applicable cure period expressly provided for hereunder (if any), and the making by Administrative Agent of a notice to Borrower
hereunder with respect to the occurrence of such Event of Default), and thereupon the principal of each unpaid Advance so declared to be due and
payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other Obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and
payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and in
case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of this Article, the Term Loan Commitments shall automatically
terminate and the principal of the then outstanding Obligations, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other Obligations of the
Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all
of which are hereby waived by the Borrower. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article IX (other than upon an event with
respect to the Borrower described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of this Article IX, or at any time the Administrative Agent or the Lenders are stayed or
otherwise prevented by applicable Governmental Rules from giving notice hereunder), Borrower shall have the right to cure any Event of Default
at any time prior to a notice thereof (which notice accelerates the Advances) becoming effective pursuant to Section 11.01.ARTICLE XTHE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT(a)A A A A Each Lender hereby designates and appoints Midtown Madison Management LLC as the administrative
agent under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes Midtown Madison Management LLC,



as Administrative Agent for such Lender, to take such action or to refrain from taking such action on its behalf under the provisions of this
Agreement and the other Basic Documents and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are delegated to Administrative Agent by the
terms of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Administrative
Agent agrees to act as such on the conditions contained in this Article X. The provisions of this Article X are solely for the benefit of Administrative
Agent and Lenders, and neither Borrower nor its Affiliates shall have any rights as third-party beneficiaries of any of the provisions of this Article
X other than as provided in this Article X. Administrative Agent may perform any of its duties hereunder, or under the Basic Documents, by or
through its agents, employees or sub-agents.(b)A A A A In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement, Administrative Agent is
acting solely on behalf of Lenders, and its duties are administrative in nature, and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed, any
obligation toward or relationship of agency or trust with or for Lenders, other than as expressly set forth herein and in the other Basic Documents,
or Borrower or its Affiliates. Administrative Agent shall have no duties, obligations or responsibilities except those expressly set forth in this
Agreement or in the other Basic Documents. Administrative Agent shall not have by reason of this Agreement or any other Basic -75-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender. Each Lender shall make its own
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of Borrower and Guarantors in connection with the extension of credit hereunder
and shall make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of Borrower and Guarantors. Except for information, notices, reports and other
documents expressly required to be furnished to Lenders by Administrative Agent hereunder or given to Administrative Agent for the account of,
or with copies for, Lenders, Administrative Agent shall have no duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any
Lender with any credit or other information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before the Closing Date or at any time or
times thereafter. If Administrative Agent seeks the consent or approval of any Lenders to the taking or refraining from taking any action
hereunder, then Administrative Agent shall send prior written notice thereof to each Lender. Administrative Agent shall promptly notify each
Lender in writing any time that the applicable percentage of Lenders have instructed Administrative Agent to act or refrain from acting pursuant
hereto.(c)A A A A Neither Administrative Agent nor any of its officers, directors, managers, members, equity owners, employees, attorneys or
agents shall be liable to any Lender for any action lawfully taken or omitted by them hereunder or under any of the other Basic Documents, or in
connection herewith or therewith; provided, that the foregoing shall not prevent Administrative Agent from being liable to the extent of its own
gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction on a final and nonappealable basis. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Administrative Agent shall be obligated on the terms set forth herein for performance of its express duties and obligations hereunder.
Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any apportionment or distribution of payments made by it in good faith, and if any such apportionment
or distribution is subsequently determined to have been made in error, the sole recourse of any Lender to whom payment was due but not made
shall be to recover from the other Lenders any payment in excess of the amount to which they are determined to be entitled (and such other
Lenders hereby agree promptly to return to such Lender any such erroneous payments received by them). In performing its functions and duties
hereunder, Administrative Agent shall exercise the same care which it would in dealing with loans for its own account. Administrative Agent shall
not be responsible to any Lender for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by Borrower herein or for the execution,
effectiveness, genuineness, validity, enforceability, collectability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents, the
Receivables Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, or for the financial condition of Borrower or Guarantors. Administrative Agent
shall not be required to make any inquiry concerning either the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions, or conditions of this
Agreement or any of the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents or the financial condition of Borrower or Guarantors, or the existence or
possible existence of any Default or Event of Default. Administrative Agent may at any time request instructions from Lenders with respect to any
actions or approvals which by the terms of this Agreement or of any of the other Basic Documents Administrative Agent is permitted or required
to take or to grant, and Administrative Agent shall be absolutely entitled to refrain from taking any action or to withhold any approval and shall
not be under any liability whatsoever to any Person for refraining from taking any action or withholding any approval under any of the Basic
Documents until it shall have received such instructions from the -76-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428applicable percentage
of Lenders. Without limiting the foregoing, no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against Administrative Agent as a result of
Administrative Agent acting or refraining from acting under this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents in accordance with the
instructions of the applicable percentage of Lenders and, notwithstanding the instructions of Lenders, Administrative Agent shall have no
obligation to take any action if it, in good faith, believes that such action exposes Administrative Agent or any of its officers, directors, managers,
members, equity owners, employees, attorneys or agents to any personal liability unless Administrative Agent receives an indemnification
satisfactory to it from Lenders with respect to such action.(d)A A A A Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any written notices,
statements, certificates, orders or other documents or any telephone message or other communication (including any writing, telecopy, email or
other electronic communication) believed by it in good faith to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper
Person, and with respect to all matters pertaining to this Agreement, any of the other Basic Documents, or any of the Receivables Documents and
its duties hereunder or thereunder, upon advice of legal counsel, independent accountants and other experts selected by Administrative Agent in
its sole discretion.(e)A A A A Each Lender, severally and not (i) jointly or (ii) jointly and severally, agrees to reimburse and indemnify and hold
harmless Administrative Agent and its officers, directors, managers, members, equity owners, employees, attorneys and agents (to the extent not
reimbursed by Borrower), ratably according to their respective Pro Rata Share in effect on the date on which indemnification is sought under this
subsection of the total outstanding Obligations (or, if indemnification is sought after the date upon which the Advances shall have been paid in full,
ratably in accordance with their Pro Rata Share immediately prior to such date of the total outstanding Obligations), from and against any and all
liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses, advances, or disbursements of any kind or nature
whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against Administrative Agent or any of its officers, directors, managers, members,
equity owners, employees, attorneys or agents in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents or any
action taken or omitted by Administrative Agent under this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents; provided, however, that no Lender
shall be liable for the payment of any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses,
advances or disbursements to the extent resulting from Administrative Agenta€™ s gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction on a final and non-appealable basis. The obligations of Lenders under this Article X shall survive the payment in
full of the Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.(f)A A A A With respect to the Advances made by it, if any, Midtown Madison
Management LLC and its successors as Administrative Agent shall have, and may exercise, the same rights and powers under the Basic
Documents, and is subject to the same obligations and liabilities, as and to the extent set forth in the Basic Documents, as any other Lender. The
terms a€ceLendersa€ or a€ceRequired Lendersa€ or any similar terms shall include Administrative Agent in its individual -77-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428capacity as a Lender. Administrative Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to,
act as the financial advisor or in any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of lending, banking, trust, financial advisory or
other business with, Borrower, Guarantors, or any their Affiliates as if it were not acting as Administrative Agent pursuant hereto.

(9)A A A A Administrative Agent may resign from the performance of all or part of its functions and duties hereunder at any time by giving at least
thirty (30) calendar daysa€™ prior written notice to the Lenders and the Borrower if Administrative Agent and its Affiliates cease to be a Lender
hereunder pursuant to an assignment in accordance with Section 11.04. Such resignation shall take effect upon the acceptance by a successor
Administrative Agent of appointment pursuant to this Article X(g), or as otherwise provided below. Upon any such notice of resignation pursuant
to this Article X(g), Required Lenders shall appoint a successor Administrative Agent; provided, that such successor shall be an Eligible Assignee
hereunder. If a successor Administrative Agent shall not have been so appointed within such thirty (30) calendar day period, the retiring
Administrative Agent may, on behalf of Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, who shall serve as Administrative Agent until such
time as Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided above; provided that any such successor Administrative Agent
shall constitute an Eligible Assignee. If no successor Administrative Agent has been appointed pursuant to the foregoing within such thirty (30)
calendar day period, the resignation shall become effective and Required Lenders thereafter shall perform all the duties of Administrative Agent
hereunder, until such time, if any, as Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided above. Upon the acceptance of any
appointment as Administrative Agent under the Basic Documents by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor Administrative Agent shall
thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent and, upon the
earlier of such acceptance or the effective date of the retiring Administrative Agenta€™ s resignation, the retiring Administrative Agent shall be
discharged from its duties and obligations under the Basic Documents; provided that any indemnity rights or other rights in favor of such retiring
Administrative Agent shall continue after and survive such resignation and succession. After any retiring Administrative Agenta€™s resignation as
Administrative Agent under the Basic Documents, the provisions of this Article X shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be
taken by it while it was Administrative Agent under the Basic Documents. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent
shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor.(h)A A A A Each Lender
agrees that any action taken by Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders (or, where required by the express terms of this Agreement, a
greater number of Lenders) in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement or of the other Basic Documents relating to the Collateral, and
the exercise by Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders (or, where so required, such greater number of Lenders) of the powers set forth



herein or therein, together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto, shall be authorized and binding upon all of Lenders and
Administrative Agent. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Administrative Agent shall have the sole and exclusive right and authority
to (i) act as the disbursing and collecting agent for Lenders with respect to all payments and collections -78-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428arising in connection herewith and with the Basic Documents in connection with the Collateral; (ii) execute and deliver
each Basic Document relating to the Collateral and accept delivery of each such agreement delivered by the Borrower or any of its Affiliates; (iii)
act as collateral agent for Lenders for purposes of the perfection of all security interests and Liens created by such agreements and all other
purposes stated therein; (iv) manage, supervise and otherwise deal with the Collateral; (v) take such action as is necessary or desirable to
maintain the perfection and priority of the security interests and Liens created or purported to be created by the Basic Documents relating to the
Collateral; and (vi) except as may be otherwise specifically restricted by the terms hereof or of any other Basic Document, exercise all right and
remedies given to such Administrative Agent and Lenders with respect to the Collateral under the Basic Documents relating thereto, at law, or
otherwise. Lenders hereby irrevocably authorize Administrative Agent, at its option and in its discretion, to release any Lien granted to or held by
Administrative Agent, for the benefit the of Lenders, upon any Collateral covered by the Basic Documents (x) upon termination of this Agreement
and the payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving
rise thereto has been asserted); (y) constituting Collateral being sold or disposed of; or (z) constituting Collateral leased to Borrower under a lease
which has expired or been terminated in a transaction permitted under this Agreement or is about to expire and which has not been, and is not
intended by Borrower to be, renewed or extended. So long as no Event of Default then exists, upon receipt by Administrative Agent of
confirmation from the requisite percentage of Lenders of its authority to release any particular item or types of Collateral covered by this
Agreement or the other Basic Documents, and upon at least two (2) Business Daysa€™ prior written request by Borrower (which notice shall not
be required in connection with the release of the Liens granted pursuant to the Basic Documents on the Term Loan Termination Date upon
payment in full in cash of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim has been asserted)),
Administrative Agent shall authorize the release of the Liens granted to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders, herein or pursuant hereto upon such Collateral; provided, however, that Administrative Agent shall not be required to execute any
such document on terms which, in Administrative Agenta€™s opinion, would expose Administrative Agent to liability or create any obligation or
entail any consequence other than the release of such Liens without recourse or warranty (other than that such Collateral is free and clear, on the
date of such delivery, of any and all Liens arising from such Persona€™s own acts), and such release shall not in any manner discharge, affect or
impair the Obligations or any Liens upon (or obligations of Borrower in respect of) all interests retained by Borrower, including, without
limitation, the proceeds of any sale, all of which shall continue to constitute part of the Collateral covered by this Agreement or the Basic
Documents. Administrative Agent shall have no obligation whatsoever to any Lender or any other Person to assure that the Collateral covered by
this Agreement or the other Basic Documents exists or is owned by Borrower or is cared for, protected or insured or has been encumbered or that
the Liens granted to Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, herein or pursuant hereto have been properly or sufficiently or lawfully
created, perfected, protected, enforced or maintained or are entitled to any particular priority, or to exercise at all or in any particular manner or
under any duty of care, disclosure, or fidelity, or to continue exercising, any of the rights, authorities and powers granted or available to
Administrative Agent in this Article X(h) or in any of the Basic Documents; it being understood and agreed that in respect of the Collateral covered
by this -79-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Agreement or the other Basic Documents, or any act, omission or event related
thereto, Administrative Agent may act in any manner it may deem appropriate, in its discretion, given Administrative Agenta€™s own interest in
Collateral covered by this Agreement or the Basic Documents and Administrative Agent shall have no duty or liability whatsoever to any of the
other Lenders; provided, that Administrative Agent shall exercise the same care which it would in dealing with financial assets for its own
account.(i)A A A A Each Lender hereby appoints Administrative Agent as agent for the purpose of perfecting Lendersa€™ security interest in
Collateral which, in accordance with Article 9 of the UCC in any applicable jurisdiction, can be perfected only by possession. Should any Lender
(other than Administrative Agent) obtain possession of any such Collateral, such Lender shall hold such Collateral for purposes of perfecting a
security interest therein for the benefit of the Lenders, notify Administrative Agent thereof and, promptly upon Administrative Agenta€™s request
therefor, deliver such Collateral to Administrative Agent or otherwise act in respect thereof in accordance with Administrative Agenta€™s
instructions.(j)A A A A Each Lender agrees that it will not have any right individually to enforce or seek to enforce this Agreement or any other
Basic Document or to realize upon any Collateral security for the Advances or other Obligations; it being understood and agreed that such rights
and remedies may be exercised only by Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms of the Basic Documents.(k)A A A A In the event
Administrative Agent requests the consent of a Lender and does not receive a written denial thereof within five (5) Business Days after such
Lendera€™s receipt of such request, then such Lender will be deemed to have given such consent so long as such request contained a notice
stating that such failure to respond within five (5) Business Days would be deemed to be a consent by such Lender.(1)A A A A In the event
Administrative Agent requests the consent of a Lender in a situation where such Lendera€™s consent would be required and such consent is
denied, then Administrative Agent may, at its option, require such Lender to assign its interest in the Advance to Administrative Agent for a price
equal to the then outstanding principal amount thereof due such Lender plus accrued and unpaid interest and fees due such Lender, which
principal, interest and fees will be paid to the Lender when collected from Borrower. In the event that Administrative Agent elects to require any
Lender to assign its interest to Administrative Agent pursuant to this Article X(1), Administrative Agent will so notify such Lender in writing within
forty-five (45) days following such Lendera€™s denial, and such Lender will assign its interest to Administrative Agent no later than five (5)
calendar days following receipt of such notice.(m)A A A A As a matter of administrative convenience, as requested from time to time by a Lender,
Administrative Agent may, either directly, or through one or more of its Affiliates, on behalf of one or more Lenders, disburse funds to Borrower
for an Advance that is otherwise required to be funded pursuant to Section 2.04(a) by such Lender by advancing the amount thereof on behalf of
such Lender (on terms to be agreed upon between Administrative Agent and such Lender (each such advance, an a€ceAdministrative Agent
Advanceéa€)). With respect to each Administrative Agent Advance, Administrative Agent or its Affiliate(s) shall have, subject to the -80-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428agreed upon terms related to such Administrative Agent Advance, the right to set off against the
amounts of any payments or distributions to be made to such Lender hereunder, the entire amount of such Administrative Agent Advance,
together with any agreed upon interest or fees thereon, until such Administrative Agent Advance is paid in full. For the avoidance of doubt,
nothing in this Article X(m), or elsewhere in this Agreement or the other Basic Documents, including, without limitation, the provisions of this
Article X(m), shall be deemed to require Administrative Agent or its Affiliates to advance funds on behalf of any Lender, whether in the form of an
Administrative Agent Advance, or otherwise, or to relieve any Lender from such Lendera€™s obligation to fulfill its commitments hereunder, or to
prejudice any rights that Administrative Agent or Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender hereunder.
(n)A A A A If Administrative Agent pays an amount to a Lender under this Agreement in the belief or expectation that a related payment has been
or will be received by Administrative Agent from Borrower and such related payment is not received by Administrative Agent, then Administrative
Agent will be entitled to recover such amount from such Lender without interest, set-off, counterclaim or deduction of any kind.(0)A A A A If
Administrative Agent is, at any time, required by Governmental Rule to return any amount received by Administrative Agent under this Agreement
to Borrower, or to pay any such amount to any other Person (each such amount, an a€ceAvoided Transferd€), then, notwithstanding any other
term or condition of this Agreement, Administrative Agent will not be required to distribute any portion thereof to any Lender and shall promptly
deliver the amount of such Avoided Transfer to the Person entitled thereto, in accordance with the requirements of applicable Governmental
Rules.ARTICLE XIMISCELLANEOUSSection 11.01A A A A Notices.(a)A A A A Notices Generally. Unless otherwise specifically provided herein,
any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given to any Credit Party, the Lenders or the Administrative Agent shall be
sent to such Persond€™s address as set forth below or in the other relevant Basic Document. Each notice hereunder shall be in writing and may
be personally served, sent by telefacsimile, courier service or e-mail and shall be deemed to have been given when delivered in person or by
courier service and signed for against receipt thereof, or upon receipt of telefacsimile or e-mail:(i)A A A A if to the Borrower, to: Opportunity
Financial, LLC 130 East Randolph Street, Suite 3300 Chicago, Illinois 60601Attention: [***] Facsimile: [***]-81-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428Telephone: [**]Email: [***] with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:Sidley Austin LLP1001 Brickell Bay
DriveSuite 900Miami, Florida 33131 Attention: Joshua M. Samek, Esq.Telephone: 305-391-5210Email: jsamek@sidley.com;(ii)A A A A if to the
Administrative Agent, to:Midtown Madison Management, as Administrative AgentOne Rockefeller Plaza, 32nd FloorNew York, New York
10020Attention: David Aidi, PartnerFacsimile: 917-464-7350;with a copy to:Midtown Madison Management LLC, as Administrative AgentOne
Rockefeller Plaza, 32nd FloorNew York, New York 10020Attention: [***]Facsimile: [***]; and(iii)A A A A if to a Lender, to it at its address (or
telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.Any party hereto may change its address, telecopy number or email for notices and
other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto (or, in the case of any such change by a Lender, by notice to the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent).Section 11.02A A A A Waivers; Amendments.(a)A A A A No Deemed Waivers; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or
delay by the Administrative Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single
or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other
or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders
hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of this



Agreement or consent to any departure by Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective -82-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428unless the same shall be permitted under Section 11.02(b), and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the
specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of any Advances shall not be
construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such
Default at the time.(b)A A A A Amendments. Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may be waived, amended or modified except
pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by (a) the Borrower, (b) the Required Lenders (or the Administrative Agent acting
at the direction of the Required Lenders) or (c) if the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent are affected, the Administrative Agent; provided
that no such agreement, amendment, waiver, or modification that attempts to do any of the following shall be effective unless consented to by the
Lenders affected thereby referenced below (including, in each instance, any initial Lender that is a Defaulting Lender):(i)A A A A increase the
Term Loan Commitment of any Lender without the written consent of such Lender;(ii)A A A A reduce the principal amount of any Advance or
reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby; provided,
however, that only the consent of the Required Lenders shall be necessary to amend the default rate provided in Section 2.09(b) or to waive any
obligation of the Borrower to pay interest or fees at the default rate as set forth therein;(iii)A A A A postpone the scheduled date of payment of the
principal amount of any Advance, or any interest thereon, or any fees payable hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such
payment, or postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Term Loan Commitment, without the written consent of each Lender affected
thereby;(iv)A A A A change Section 2.12(d) without the consent of each Lender affected thereby;(v)A A A A change any of the provisions of this
Section or the definition of the term &€eRequired Lendersa€ or any other provision hereof specifying the number or percentage of Lenders
required to waive, amend or modify any rights hereunder or make any determination or grant any consent hereunder, without the written consent
of each Lender;(vi)A A A A release the Borrower from its Obligations under the Security Documents without the written consent of each Lender;
or(vii)A A A A without the written consent of each Lender, release all or substantially all of the collateral security or otherwise terminate all or
substantially all of the Liens under the Security Documents, agree to additional obligations -83-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428being secured by all or substantially all of the collateral security thereto, alter the relative priorities of the obligations
entitled to the Liens created under the Security Documents with respect to all or substantially all of the collateral security provided thereby,
except that no such consent shall be required, and the Administrative Agent is hereby authorized (and so agrees with the Borrower) to release any
Lien covering property (and to release any such guarantor) that is the subject of either a disposition of property permitted hereunder or a
disposition to which the Required Lenders have consented;and provided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect
the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, (1) no Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve or disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent
hereunder (and any amendment, waiver or consent which by its terms requires the consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender may be effected
with the consent of the applicable Lenders other than Defaulting Lenders), except that (x) the Term Loan Commitment of any Defaulting Lender
may not be increased or extended without the consent of such Lender and (y) any waiver, amendment or modification requiring the consent of all
Lenders or each affected Lender that by its terms affects any Defaulting Lender more adversely than other affected Lenders shall require the
consent of such Defaulting Lender, (2) if the Administrative Agent and the Borrower have jointly identified an obvious error or any error or
omission of a technical nature, in each case, in any provision of the Basic Documents, then the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall be
permitted to amend such provision, and (3) guarantees, collateral security documents and related documents executed by the Borrower or the
Guarantor in connection with this Agreement may be in a form reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent and may be amended,
supplemented or waived without the consent of any Lender if such amendment, supplement or waiver is delivered in order to (x) comply with local
law or advice of local counsel, (y) cure ambiguities, omissions, mistakes or defects or (z) cause such _guarantee, collateral security document or
other document to be consistent with this Agreement and the other Basic Documents.Section 11.03A A A A Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver.
(a)A A A A Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by the
Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, including all reasonable and documented due diligence costs, costs of asset validations, field examination,
appraisals and the reasonable and documented fees, charges and disbursements of regulatory counsel and one primary outside counsel for the
Administrative Agent, in connection with the preparation and administration of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents and the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred
by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, including the reasonable and documented -84-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428fees, charges and disbursements of one primary outside counsel for the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as a whole,
in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, including its
rights under this Section, or in connection with the Advances hereunder, including in connection with any workout, restructuring or negotiations
in respect thereof and (iii) all reasonable and documented costs, expenses, assessments and other charges actually incurred in connection with
any filing, registration, recording or perfection of any security interest contemplated by any Security Document or any other document referred to
therein. Any request for reimbursement of any of the costs and expenses in which the Borrower is required to reimburse a Person pursuant to this
Section 11.03(a) shall be accompanied by any invoice evidencing such cost or expense, which invoice shall be in reasonable form and substance in
respect of such cost or expense.(b)A A A A Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and each
Lender, and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an &€ceIndemniteea€) against, and hold each
Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the reasonable and documented fees,
charges and disbursements of a single counsel for the Indemnitees in each relevant jurisdiction (provided, that if the interests of the Indemnitees
conflict with regard to the representation, each Indemnitee having such a conflict shall be reimbursed for the reasonable fees, charges and
disbursements of its own counsel), incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the
execution or delivery of this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their
respective obligations hereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) the making of any
Advances or the use of the proceeds therefrom, or (iii) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the
foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such
indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses (x) are
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or
willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or (y) result from a claim brought by the Borrower against an Indemnitee for breach in bad faith of such
Indemnitee4d€™s obligations hereunder or under any other Basic Document, if the Borrower has obtained a final and nonappealable judgment in
its favor on such claim as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.(c)A A A A Procedure for Indemnification for Third Party Claims. If the
Indemnitee is seeking indemnification hereunder with respect to a third party claim (in such capacity, the a€ceIndemnified Partya€), it shall,
except to the extent prohibited by any Applicable Law, promptly notify the Borrower (in such capacity, the a€ceIndemnifying Partya€), in writing
(each, a a€ceClaim Noticea€), of any notice of the assertion by a third party of a claim or of the commencement by a third party of any legal
proceeding, arbitration or action, or if the Indemnified Party determines the existence of any such claim or the commencement by any third party
of any such legal proceeding, arbitration or action, whether or not the same shall have been asserted or initiated, in any case with respect to
which the Indemnifying Party is or may be obligated to provide -85-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428indemnification (a
a€ceThird Party Claima€), specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the Third Party Claim and, if known, the amount, or an estimate of the
amount, of the Third Party Claim, provided that failure to promptly give such notice shall only limit the liability of the Indemnifying Party to the
extent of the actual prejudice, if any, suffered by the Indemnifying Party as a result of such failure. The Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30)
calendar days after receipt of any Claim Notice to notify the Indemnified Party of the Indemnifying Partya€™s election to assume the defense of
the Third Party Claim. If the Indemnifying Party has assumed such defense, the Indemnifying Party will not be liable for any legal expenses
subsequently incurred by the Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of such claim. In the event that the Indemnifying Party elects to
assume the defense of a Third Party Claim as contemplated herein, the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in (but not control) the
defense of such claim and to employ counsel of its choice for such purpose at its sole expense unless (i)A the Indemnifying Party has agreed in
writing to pay such fees and expenses, or (ii)A the named parties to any such action, suit or proceeding (including any impleaded parties) include
both such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party and such Indemnified Party shall have been advised by its counsel that there are one or
more legal defenses available to it which are in conflict with those available to the Indemnifying Party and in the reasonable judgment of such
counsel it is advisable for the Indemnified Party to employ separate counsel in connection with such conflicting defenses (in which case the
Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume the defense of such action, suit or proceeding on behalf of the Indemnified Party solely in
connection with such conflicting defenses). If the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense of any Third Party Claim in accordance with
this SectionA 11.03(c), the Indemnified Party may continue to defend such claim at the sole cost and expense of the Indemnifying Party and the
Indemnifying Party may still participate in, but not control, the defense of such Third Party Claim at the Indemnifying Partya€™s cost and
expense; provided, however, that if the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense and control of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this



SectionA 11.03(c), the Indemnifying Party shall not be required to pay for more than one counsel for the Indemnified Party in connection with any
Third Party Claim and a single local counsel in each jurisdiction where local counsel is reasonably required. In the event that the Indemnified
Party assumes the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this SectionA 11.03(c), the Indemnified Party will not consent to a
settlement, compromise or discharge of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such claim, without the prior written consent of the
applicable Indemnifying Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). In the event that the Indemnifying Party
elects to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this SectionA 11.03(c), the Indemnifying Party shall not, without the prior
written consent of the Indemnified Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), consent to a settlement,
compromise or discharge of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, such claim, provided that the consent of the Indemnified Party is not so
required if the sole relief provided by such settlement, compromise, discharge or entry of any judgment consists of monetary obligations that are
paid by the Indemnifying Party and contains no admission of liability on the part of the Indemnified Party. In any such Third Party Claim, the party
responsible for the defense of such claim hereunder shall, to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, keep such other party informed
as to the status of such claim, including all settlement negotiations and offers. If the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense of such Third
Party Claim in accordance with this SectionA 11.03(c), the Indemnifying -86-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Party shall
make available to the Indemnified Party and its attorneys and other representatives all relevant books, records, documents and other materials
reasonably required by the Indemnified Party or its representatives and attorneys for use in contesting any Third Party Claim, and shall
reasonably cooperate with the Indemnified Party in the defense of all such claims; provided, however, that nothing in this SectionA 11.03(c) will
require the Indemnifying Party to provide information that could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the attorney-client privilege applicable to
any such information. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of such Third Party Claim in accordance with this SectionA 11.03(c), the
Indemnified Party shall make available to the Indemnifying Party and its attorneys and other representatives all relevant books, records,
documents and other materials reasonably required by the Indemnifying Party or its representatives and attorneys for use in contesting any Third
Party Claim, and shall reasonably cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in the defense of all such claims; provided, however, that nothing in this
SectionA 11.03(c) will require the Indemnified Party to provide information that could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the attorney-client
privilege applicable to any such information.(d)A A A A Reimbursement by Lenders. To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount
required to be paid by it to the Administrative Agent under Section (a), (b), or (c) of this Section 11.03, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the
Administrative Agent such Lendera€™s Applicable Percentage (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity
payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related
expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Administrative Agent in its capacity as such.(e)A A A A Waiver of
Consequential Damages, Etc. To the extent permitted by applicable Governmental Rules, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any
claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual
damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the
Transactions, any Advance or the use of the proceeds thereof.(f)A A A A Payments. All amounts due under this Section shall be payable promptly
after Borrowera€™s receipt of written demand therefor in accordance with this Section 11.03. (g)A A A A Limitation with respect to Taxes.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Taxes shall be indemnifiable by the Borrower only if and to the extent provided in
Section 2.11.Section 11.04A A A A Successors and Assigns.(a)A A A A Assignments Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may
not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender and the Administrative
Agent (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no Lender may assign or
otherwise transfer its rights or obligations -87-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428hereunder except in accordance with this
Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their
respective successors and assigns permitted hereby and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.(b)A A A A Assignments by Lenders.
(i)A A A A Assignments Generally. Subject to the conditions set forth in clause (A) below, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees all or a
portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of its Term Loan Commitment and the Advances at the time
owing to it) to one or more Persons (a a&€eTransfereea€) with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed)
of the Administrative Agent (provided such Administrative Agent at the time of such request is not or is not affiliated with a Defaulting Lender)
and prior written notice to the Borrower; provided, however, that no such consent shall be required with respect to an assignment by a Lender to
an Affiliate of such Lender. (A)A A A A Certain Conditions to Assignments. Assignments shall be subject to the following additional conditions:

1.A A A A except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the
assigning Lendera€™s Term Loan Commitment or Advances, the amount of the Term Loan Commitment or Advances of the assigning Lender
subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the
Administrative Agent) shall not be less than $3,000,000 unless the Administrative Agent otherwise consents;2.A A A A each partial assignment of
any Term Loan Commitments or Advances shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lendera€™ s rights and
obligations with respect to the applicable Advance under this Agreement in respect of such Term Loan Commitments and Advances;3.A A A A the
parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption in substantially the form of
Exhibit A, together with a processing and recordation fee of $3 500 (for which -88-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428no one
other than the assignor and the assignee shall be obligated);4.A A A A the assignee, if it shall not already be a Lender, shall deliver to the
Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire and a consent to the terms and provisions of the Agency Agreement; and5.A A A A so long
as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, no assignment shall be made to any Person that does not constitute an Eligible Assignee
without the prior written consent of Borrower.(B)A A A A Effectiveness of Assignments. Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to
Section 11.04(b)(ii), from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party
hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this
Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released
from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lendera€™s rights and
obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.11 and
Section 11.03); provided that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will
constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lendera€™s having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment
or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section shall be treated for purposes of this
Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with Section 11.04(c). (ii))A A A A Maintenance
of Registers by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at their offices in
New York, New York, a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of
the Lenders, and the Term Loan Commitments of, and principal amount of the Advances owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from
time to time (the &€ceRegistersa€ and each individually, a &€ceRegistera€). The entries in the Registers shall be conclusive absent manifest error,
and Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Registers pursuant to the terms
hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Registers shall be -89-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428available for inspection by the Borrower, and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time
upon reasonable prior notice.(iii)A A A A Acceptance of Assignments by Administrative Agent. Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment
and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assigneed€™s completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the
assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in Section 11.04(b) and any written consent to such
assignment required by Section 11.04(b), the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and send a copy of such
executed and accepted assignment (along with a copy of the Administrative Questionnaire) to the Administrative Agent to record the information
contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as
provided in this Section 11.04(b)(iii).(c)A A A A Participations. Any Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent,
sell participations to one or more banks, financial institutions, funds or other entities (a &€ceParticipanta€) in all or a portion of such Lendera€™s
rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents (including all or a portion of its Term Loan Commitments and the
Advances owing to it); provided that (i) such Lenderda€™s obligations under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents shall remain
unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (iii) Borrower,
the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lendera€™s
rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such
a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the other Basic Documents and to approve
any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other Basic Document; provided that such agreement or
instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver



described in the first proviso to Section 11.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to Section 11.04(d), the Borrower agrees that each
Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.11 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under
Section 2.11(f), (h) and (i)) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 2.11(f) and (h) shall be delivered to the
participating Lender) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to Section 11.04(b); provided,
however, that no participant shall be entitled to receive under Section 2.11 in excess of the amount that would have been payable under such
Section by the Borrower to the Lender granting its participation had such participation not been granted, and no Lender granting a participation
shall be entitled to receive payment under Section 2.11 in an amount which exceeds the sum of (A) the amount to which such Lender is entitled
under such Section with respect to any portion of any Advances owned by such Lender which is not subject to any participation, plus (B) the
aggregate amount to which its participants are entitled under Section 2.11 with respect to the amounts of their respective participations. Each
Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this -90-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428purpose as a non-fiduciary
agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated
interest) of each Participantd€™s interest in the Advances or other obligations under the Basic Documents (the &€ceParticipant Registera€);
provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any Participant
or any information relating to a Participanta€™s interest in any commitments, loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under any Basic
Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other
obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall
be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of
such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.(d)A A A A Limitations on Rights of Participants. A
Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.11 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive
with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrowera€™s
prior written consent.(e)A A A A Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights
under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any such pledge or assignment to a Federal Reserve Bank, and this Section
shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; provided that no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall
release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.()A A A A No
Assignments to the Borrower or Affiliates. Anything in this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, no Lender may assign or participate any
interest in any Advance held by it hereunder to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates or Subsidiaries without the prior consent of each
Lender.Section 11.05A A A A Survival. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower herein and in the
certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered to have been relied upon by the
other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of any Advances, regardless of any
investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice
or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force
and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Advance or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is
outstanding and unpaid and so long as the Term Loan Commitments have not expired or terminated. The provisions of Section 2.11, Section 11.03,
and Article X shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the
repayment of the Advances and the Term Loan Commitments or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof. For purposes of
determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section 4.01, each Lender that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed -91-
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matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or satisfactory to a Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall have
received notice from such Lender prior to the Closing Date specifying its objection thereto.Section 11.06A A A A Counterparts; Integration;
Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement and any separate letter agreements
with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent constitute the entire contract between and among the parties relating to the subject
matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof, including
that certain Non-binding Letter of Intent, dated as of August 7, 2018, executed by the Company. Except as provided in Section 4.01, this
Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have
received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page to this Agreement by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this
Agreement.Section 11.07A A A A Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall,
as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such
provision in any other jurisdiction. Section 11.08A A A A Right of Set-off. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each
Lender is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by Governmental Rules, to set off and apply any and
all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any time owing by such Lender to
or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the Obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this
Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such
Obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of
set-off) which such Lender may have. Each Lender agrees to notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent promptly after any such setoff and
application; provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application.Section 11.09A A A A Governing
Law; Jurisdiction; Etc. (@AAAA Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT, AND THE PERFORMANCE HEREOF, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW -92-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL
OBLIGATIONS LAW).(b)A A A A Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York
County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents, whether sounding in contract, tort, or otherwise, or
for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in
respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such State or, to the extent permitted by Governmental Rules, in such
Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in
other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Governmental Rules. (c)A A A A Waiver of Objection to Venue. Each
of the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and
effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or
relating to this Agreement in any court referred to in Section 11.09(b). Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent
permitted by Governmental Rules, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

(d)A A A A Service of Process. Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in
Section 11.01. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by
Governmental Rules.Section 11.10A A A A WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE GOVERNMENT RULES, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY
OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER
BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR
ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE
EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES
HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND
CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.Section 11.11A A A A Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for
convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in
interpreting, this Agreement.-93-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428Section 11.12A A A A USA PATRIOT Act. Each Lender
hereby notifies Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001,
as amended and modified from time to time)), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each of the foregoing Persons,
which information includes the name and address of such Persons and other information that will allow such Lender to identify such Persons in
accordance with said Act.Section 11.13A A A A Interest Savings Clause. It is the intent of the Borrower and the Lenders to conform strictly to all
applicable state and federal usury laws. All agreements between the Borrower and Lenders, whether now existing or hereafter arising and



whether written or oral, are hereby expressly limited so that in no contingency or event whatsoever, whether by reason of acceleration of the
maturity hereof or otherwise, shall the amount contracted for, charged, received or collected by Lenders for the use, forbearance, or detention of
the money loaned hereunder or otherwise, or for the payment or performance of any covenant or obligation contained herein or in any other
document evidencing, securing or pertaining to the Obligations evidenced hereby which may be legally deemed to be for the use, forbearance or
detention of money, exceed the maximum amount which the Borrower is legally entitled to contract for, charge, receive or collect under applicable
Governmental Rules. If from any circumstances whatsoever fulfillment of any provision hereof or of such other documents, at the time
performance of such provision shall be due, shall involve transcending the limit of validity prescribed by Governmental Rules, then the obligation
to be fulfilled shall be automatically reduced to the limit of such validity, and if from any such circumstance Lenders shall ever receive as interest
or otherwise an amount in excess of the maximum that can be legally collected, then such amount which would be excessive interest shall be
applied to the reduction of the principal indebtedness hereof and any other amounts due with respect to the Obligations evidenced hereby, but not
to the payment of interest and if such amount which would be excess interest exceeds the Obligations and all other non-interest indebtedness
described above, then such additional amount shall be refunded to the Borrower. In determining whether or not all sums paid or agreed to be paid
by the Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the Obligations hereunder to Lenders, under any specific contingency, exceeds the
maximum amount permitted by applicable Governmental Rules, the Borrower and Lenders shall to the maximum extent permitted under
applicable Governmental Rules, (a) treat all Obligations evidenced hereby as but a single extension of credit, (b) characterize any non-principal
payment as an expense, fee or premium rather than as sums paid or agreed to be paid by the Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the
Obligations evidenced hereby, (c) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effect thereof, and (d) amortize, prorate, allocate and spread in equal
parts, the total amount of such sums paid or agreed to be paid by the Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the Obligations to Lenders
evidenced hereby throughout the entire contemplated term of such Obligations so that the interest rate is uniform through the entire term of such
Obligations. The terms and provisions of this paragraph shall control and supersede every other provision hereof and all other agreements
between the Borrower and Lenders.Section 11.14A A A A Approvals. Unless expressly provided herein to the contrary, any approval, consent,
waiver or satisfaction of Administrative Agent with respect to any matter that -94-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428is the
subject of any Basic Document may be granted or withheld by Administrative Agent, as applicable, in its sole and absolute discretion.Section
11.15A A A A Right of First Offer.(a)A A A A Each Credit Party hereby agrees, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, if at any time prior to the
date that all of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted)
have been fully performed and indefeasibly paid in full in cash, Borrower, the Company, any Subsidiary of Borrower or the Company or, solely to
the extent the creation of such entities resulted in the practical circumvention of this Section 11.15, any Affiliates of the Company, intends to incur
(a) senior or junior debt financing or refinancing of the Advances from a third party lender or (b) with respect to Borrower, the Company or any
Subsidiary of Borrower or the Company, for any third party senior or junior debt financing of any type and with respect to any type of collateral or
any business unit (including, without limitation, any special purpose vehicle or asset-based financing in respect of Receivables) (any such
transaction described in clause (a) or (b), a &€ceFinancing Transactiona€), Borrower or Company shall, or shall cause such Affiliate or Subsidiary
to, in writing, promptly inform Administrative Agent (such writing to Administrative Agent is referred to herein as the a€ceFirst Offer Noticea€) of
such proposed Financing Transaction and, in such First Offer Notice, shall offer to Administrative Agent an option to prepare an offer to Borrower,
the Company such Subsidiary or such Affiliate with respect to such proposed Financing Transaction. Administrative Agenta€™ s right of first offer
shall grant Administrative Agent the right to, within ten (10) days after the receipt of such First Offer Notice, deliver a writing to Borrower and
Company (the a€eOffera€) stating that Administrative Agent and Lenders wish to provide financing in respect of such Financing Transaction and
setting forth the material economic terms of such Offer. Borrower, Company, such Subsidiaries or Affiliates shall have the right to accept or reject
any Offer from Administrative Agent, but each agrees that if any Offer is rejected, none of them shall enter into any Financing Transaction that
was the subject of an Offer with any third party on any material terms that are less favorable, taken as a whole, to Borrower, the Company, such
Subsidiaries or Affiliates than those offered by Administrative Agent in such Offer. If Administrative Agent shall have declined to exercise its right
to extend an Offer after receipt of a First Offer Notice, or shall have failed to respond to such First Offer Notice, or Borrower shall have rejected
an Offer from Administrative Agent, Borrower, the Company or such Affiliates shall be free to close such Financing Transaction; provided that, if
Borrower, the Company or such Affiliates shall have failed to so close such Financing Transaction within one hundred and eighty (180) days after
any such occurrence, then a new right of first offer for the benefit of Administrative Agent with respect to such Financing Transaction shall
immediately arise.(b)A A A A The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall not apply in connection with, and shall not survive, any
Qualified Change of Control.(c)A A A A The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall not apply at any time after extensions of credit under
this Agreement together with any extensions of credit under one more Financing Transactions totaling $[***] in the aggregate have been
funded.-95-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(d)A A A A The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall terminate
upon, and shall not survive, the payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the
extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted) and termination of all Term Loan Commitments.Section 11.16A A A A Joint and Several
Liability of Borrowers.(a)A A A A All Obligations are the joint and several Obligations of each Borrower, and each Borrower must make payment
upon the maturity of the Obligations by acceleration or otherwise, and this obligation and liability on the part of each Borrower is not affected by
any extensions, renewals, and forbearance granted by Administrative Agent to any Borrower, Administrative Agenta€™ s failure to give any
Borrower notice of borrowing or any other notice, Administrative Agenta€™s failure to pursue or preserve its rights against any Borrower, the
release by Borrower of any Collateral now or hereafter acquired from any Borrower, and any agreement by each Borrower to pay upon any notice
issued pursuant thereto is unconditional and unaffected by prior recourse by Administrative Agent to the other Borrowers or any Collateral for
each Borrowera€™s obligations or the lack thereof. Each Borrower waives all suretyship defenses. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that any and all actions, inactions, or omissions by any one or more, or all, of the Borrowers in
connection with, related to, or otherwise affecting any Basic Document are the obligations of, and inure to and are binding upon, each and all of
the Borrowers, jointly and severally.(b)A A A A Each covenant, agreement, obligation, representation and warranty of the Borrowers contained in
this Agreement is the joint and several undertaking of each Borrower. Each Borrower acknowledges that its obligations undertaken herein might
be construed to consist, at least in part, of the guarantee of Obligations of the other Borrowers and, in full recognition of that fact, each Borrower
consents and agrees that Administrative Agent may, at any time and from time-to-time without notice or demand, whether before or after any
actual or purported termination, repudiation, or revocation of this Agreement by any Borrower, and without affecting the enforceability or
continuing effectiveness of this Agreement as to any Borrower: (i) supplement, restate, modify, amend, increase, decrease, extend, renew, or
otherwise change the time for payment or the terms of this Agreement or any part thereof, including any increase or decrease of the rate(s) of
interest thereon; (ii) supplement, restate, modify, amend, increase, decrease or waive, or enter into or give any agreement, approval or consent
with respect to, this Agreement or any part thereof, or any of the Basic Documents, or any condition, covenant, default, remedy, right, -96-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428representation, or term thereof or thereunder; (iii) accept partial payments; (iv) during the
continuance of an Event of Default, release, reconvey, terminate, waive, abandon, fail to perfect, subordinate, exchange, substitute, transfer or
enforce any security or guarantees, and apply any security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof as Administrative Agent, in its sole
discretion determines; (v) release any Person or entity from any personal liability with respect to this Agreement or any part thereof; (vi) during
the continuance of an Event of Default, settle, release on terms satisfactory to Administrative Agent or by operation of applicable law or otherwise
liquidate or enforce any security or guaranty in any manner, consent to the transfer of any security and bid and purchase at any sale; or (vii)
consent to the merger, change or any other restructuring or termination of the corporate or partnership existence of any Borrower, or any other
Person or entity, and correspondingly restructure the Obligations, and any merger, change, restructuring or termination does not affect the
liability of any Borrower or the continuing effectiveness of this Agreement, or the enforceability of this Agreement with respect to all or any part
of the Obligations.(c)A A A A Each Borrower states and acknowledges that: (i) under this Agreement, the Borrowers desire to utilize their
borrowing potential on a consolidated basis to the same extent possible as if they were merged into a single corporate entity and that this
Agreement reflects the establishment of credit facilities that would not otherwise be available to the Borrowers if each Borrower were not jointly
and severally liable for payment of the Obligations; (ii) it has determined that it will benefit specifically and materially from the advances of credit
contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) it is both a condition precedent to Administrative Agenta€™ s obligations hereunder and a desire of the
Borrowers that each Borrower execute and deliver to Administrative Agent this Agreement; and (iv) the Borrowers have requested and bargained
for the structure and terms of and security for the advances contemplated by this Agreement. Each Borrower agrees if its joint and several liability
hereunder, or if any security interests securing the joint and several liability, would, but for the application of this Section, be unenforceable
under applicable law, then the joint and several liability and each security interests is valid and enforceable to the maximum extent that would not
cause the joint and several liability or security interests to be unenforceable under applicable law, and the joint and several liability and the
security interest is treated as having been automatically amended accordingly at all relevant times.(d)A A A A To the extent that any Borrower,
under this Agreement as a joint and several obligor, repays any of the Obligations constituting Loans made to another Borrower or other
Obligations incurred directly and primarily by any other Borrower (an a€ceAccommodation Paymenta€), then the Borrower -97-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428making an Accommodation Payment is entitled to contribution and indemnification from, and, be



reimbursed by, each of the other Borrowers in an amount, for each of the other Borrowers, equal to a fraction of the Accommodation Payment, the
numerator of which fraction is the other Borrowera€™s d€ceAllocable Amounta€ (as defined below) and the denominator of which is the sum of
the Allocable Amounts of all of the Borrowers. As of any date of determination, the a€ceAllocable Amounta€ of each Borrower is equal to the
maximum amount of liability for Accommodation Payments that could be asserted against that Borrower hereunder without (i) rendering that
Borrower a€ceinsolventa€ within the meaning of Section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act

(&€ UFTAA&E) or Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act (a4€ceUFCAA&€), (ii) leaving that Borrower with unreasonably small capital or
assets, within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 4 of the UFTA, or (iii) leaving that Borrower unable to pay its debts as
they become due within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code or Section 4 of the UFTA, or Section 5 of the UFCA. All rights and
claims of contribution, indemnification, and reimbursement under this Section are subordinate in right of payment to the prior payment in full of
the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim has been asserted). The provisions of this Section, to the
extent expressly inconsistent with any provision in any Basic Document, supersede the inconsistent provision.Section

11.17A A A A Confidentiality. This Agreement, the other Basic Documents and all information related to the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby is confidential and no party hereto or thereto shall disclose any or all of its content to any third party without the prior consent of the
Borrower other than any such information that becomes generally available to the public or becomes available to a party from a source other than
another party hereto that is not known to such recipient to be subject to confidentiality obligations; provided, that disclosure may be made by a
party to its Affiliates, managers, direct and indirect members, partners, officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors (including consultants,
accountants, attorneys and financial advisors), representatives, potential capital sources, potential lenders, and potential co-investors who
reasonably need to know such information for the purpose of evaluating the transactions described herein, or who otherwise reasonably need to
know such information (to prepare tax returns, for example) and so long as such parties have been instructed to keep such information
confidential; provided, further, that any party may disclose confidential information to the extent required by any Governmental Authority to
which such party is subject, or required by Applicable Law or valid legal process and if required to do so will exercise commercially reasonable
efforts to obtain assurances that confidential treatment will be afforded to such information. Each of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent
acknowledges that it may receive information pursuant to the Basic Documents with respect Receivables that contains non-public personally
identifiable information (&€ NPI&€) regarding Obligors as defined by Title V of the Gramma€‘Leacha€‘Bliley Act of 1999 and implementing
regulations, including the Federal Trade Commissiona€™s Rule Regarding Privacy of Consumer Financial Information (collectively, the -98-
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pursuant to the Basic Documents or from any other source, each such party agrees that such information will not be disclosed or made available
to any third party, agent or employee for any reason whatsoever, other than with respect to: (a) such Persona€™s authorized employees or agents
on a d€ceneed to knowa€ basis in order for such Person to perform its obligations or enforce its rights under the Basic Documents, provided that
such representatives are subject to a confidentiality agreement which shall be consistent with and no less restrictive than the provisions of this
Section 11.17; and (b) as required by Applicable Law or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement or the GLB Act regarding &€~ Privacya€™ of
NPI, either during the term of this Agreement or after the termination of this Agreement, provided that, prior to any disclosure of NPI as required
by Applicable Law, the applicable Lender or the Administrative Agent shall (i)A not disclose any such information until it has notified the Borrower
in writing of all actual or threatened legal compulsion of disclosure, and any actual legal obligation of disclosure promptly upon becoming so
obligated, and (ii) cooperate to the fullest extent possible with all lawful efforts by the Borrower to resist or limit disclosure. The Lender and the

Administrative Agent will not utilize NPI in any manner that violates any Applicable Law.Section 11.18A A A A Effect of Benchmark Transition
Event.(a)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Basic Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then, (x) if a
Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) of the definition of &€ceBenchmark Replacementa€ for such Benchmark
Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic Document in
respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party
to, this Agreement or any other Basic Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (2) of the definition
of a€ceBenchmark Replacementa€ for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all
purposes hereunder and under any Basic Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth
(5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Borrower and the Lenders without any amendment to
this Agreement or any other Basic Document, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Basic Document.
(b)A A A A In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right to make Benchmark
Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Basic Document, any
amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any
other party to this Agreement or any other Basic Document.(c)A A A A The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the
Lenders of (i) any occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement -99-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit
Agreement#227178428Date, (ii) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, (iii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement
Conforming Changes, (iv) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (d) below and (v) the commencement or
conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative Agent
pursuant to this Section 11.18, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of
an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent
manifest error and may be made in its sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Basic Document,
except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this Section 11.18.(d)A A A A Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any
other Basic Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current
Benchmark is a term rate (including Term SOFR) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information
service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory
supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for
such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the interest period formulation for any
Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to
clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or
(B) is not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark
Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the interest period formulation for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to
reinstate such previously removed tenor.(e)A A A A Upon the Borrowera€™s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability
Period, the Borrower may revoke any request for an Advance.(f)A A A A As used in this Section 11.18:4€ceAvailable Tenora€ means, as of any date
of determination and with respect to the then current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark or payment period for interest
calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to
this Agreement as of such date.a€eBenchmarka€ means, initially, the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event
and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the then-current Benchmark, then
d€meBenchmarka€ means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior
benchmark rate pursuant to clause (a) of this Section 11.18.a€ceBenchmark Replacementa€ means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative
set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:-100-[OppLoans]
Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(1)A A A A the sum of: (a) Daily Simple SOFR plus (b) 0.11%; (2)A A A A the sum of: (a) the alternate
benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current
Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark
rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention
for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated or bilateral credit
facilities at such time and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause
(1) or (2) above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and
the other Basic Documents.a€ceBenchmark Replacement Adjustmenta€ means, with respect to any replacement of the then current Benchmark
with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable interest period and Available Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark
Replacement, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative
value or zero) that has been selected by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving
due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body
on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or
method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement for such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted



Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated syndicated or bilateral credit facilities;a€ceBenchmark Replacement Conforming Changesa€
means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of
a€ceBusiness Daya€, timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment,
conversion or continuation notices, length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions and other technical, administrative or
operational matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark
Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if
the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative
Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration
as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Basic
Documents).d€ceBenchmark Replacement Datea€ means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:-101-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428(1)A A A A in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of
a€ceBenchmark Transition Event,&€ the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the
date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely
ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or(2)A A A A in the case of clause (3) of the definition of
a€ceBenchmark Transition Event,a€ the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.For the avoidance of doubt,
(i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any
determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the
d€meBenchmark Replacement Datea€ will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the applicable event
or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof).&€ceBenchmark Transition Eventa€ means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-
current Benchmark:(1)A A A A a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors
of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is
no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);(2)A A A A a public
statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in
the calculation thereof), the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with
jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for
such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such
Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide
all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or
publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
or)AAAAa public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no
longer representative.-102-[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428For the avoidance of doubt, a &4€ceBenchmark Transition
Eventa€ will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has
occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation
thereof).d€ceBenchmark Unavailability Perioda€ means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date has
occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic
Document in accordance with this Section 11.18 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current
Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic Document in accordance with this Section 11.18.a€ceCorresponding Tenora€ with
respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the
same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.a€ceDaily Simple SOFR&€ means, for any day, SOFR, with the
conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this
rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining a€ceDaily Simple SOFRa€ for business loans; provided, that if
the Administrative Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative
Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.a€ceISDA Definitionsa€ means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the
International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor
definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such
successor thereto.a€eReference Timea€ with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means the time determined by the
Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.a€ceTerm SOFRa€ means, for the applicable Corresponding Tenor as of the applicable Reference
Time, the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.a€ceUnadjusted
Benchmark Replacement&€ means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.-103-
[OppLoans] Conformed Credit Agreement#227178428ARTICLE XIITERMINATIONSection 12.01A A A A Termination.(a)A A A A Date of
Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the occurrence of the earlier of either: (i) the payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all
Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted); or (ii) the mutual
consent of the Borrower and all Lenders in writing and delivered to the Administrative Agent by the Borrower. Upon the occurrence of either of
the foregoing events described in this Section 12.01(a), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall authorize the filing of such documents as
set forth in Section 2.06(c).(b)A A A A Termination of the Borrower. Neither the Administrative Agent, Lenders nor the Borrower, shall be entitled
to revoke or terminate this Agreement except as contemplated herein.[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]-104-[OppLoans] Conformed
Credit Agreement#227178428IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date first above-
written. BORROWER:OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,as BorrowerBy: AAA A Name: AAAATitle: AAAA [SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT
AGREEMENT]JAGENT:MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,as Administrative AgentBy: A A A A Name: A A A A Title: A A A A [SIGNATURE
PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]LENDERS:ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND VII LP,as Lender By: A A A A Name: A A A A Title:

A A A A ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND (CAYMAN) VII LP,as Lender By: A A A A Name: A A A A Title:
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAI[SIGNATURE PAGE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT]DocumentExhibit
10.4[**] CERTAIN INFORMATION IN THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN EXCLUDED PURSUANT TO REGULATION S-K, ITEM 601(B)(10). SUCH
EXCLUDED INFORMATION IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR
CONFIDENTIAL.AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENTTHIS AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
(this &€ceAmendmenta€), dated as of September 26, 2024 (the a€eClosing Datea€) to that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 14, 2022, (as amended, restated supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the 4&€ceExisting Credit Agreementa€
and, as amended by this Amendment, the &€ceAmended Credit Agreementa€), among Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC (the a€ceBorrowera€),
Opportunity Financial, LLC (the &€ceCompanyéa€), as originator (in such capacity, the &€eOriginatora€), as servicer (in such capacity, the
a€ceServicera€) and as a Seller (as defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC (a€eOppWina€), as a Seller, UMB Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the &€ceAdministrative Agenta€) and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the a€ceCollateral Agenta€ and
together with the Administrative Agent, the a€eAgentsa€), Randolph Receivables LLC, as Castlelake Representative and as a Lender, and the
other Lenders party thereto from time to time (together with Randolph Receivables LLC, the a€eLendersa€, and each, individually, a
d€meLendera€). PRELIMINARY STATEMENTSWHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Originator, the Servicer and each Seller party thereto
(collectively, the a€ceCredit Partiesa€ and each, individually, a &€ ceCredit Partya€), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entered into the
Existing Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the &€ceFacilitya€) to the Borrower and the Borrower
agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a
first priority Lien on all of its assets; andWHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as more specifically set
forth herein on the terms and conditions set forth herein. NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable
consideration, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:AGREEMENT1.Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including
the recitals hereto, which are herein incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement,
unless otherwise stated.[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement4895-9585-3783v.8(a)amending Section 1.1 of
the Existing Credit Agreement by amending and restating the definition of &€ceAmortization Perioda€ in its entirety as follows:a€ceAmortization
Period" means the period beginning on the earliest to occur of (a) the Revolving Commitment Termination Date (but excluding such date), (b) the
scheduled expiration of the draw period under any Approved SPV Facility (as defined in the Atalaya Corporate Loan Agreement) (including the
Tranche B Revolving Commitment Termination Date (as defined in the Atalaya Revolving Credit Agreement)), solely to the extent that at least
thirty (30) days prior to the occurrence thereof, such date has not been extended to the Revolving Commitment Termination Date (or any date
thereafter), and (c) the scheduled Term Loan Termination Date (as defined in the Atalaya Corporate Loan Agreement), solely to the extent that at



least thirty (30) days prior to the occurrence thereof, such date has not been extended to the Revolving Commitment Termination Date (or any
date thereafter), and in each case, ending on the Termination Date.(b)amending Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement by amending and
restating the definition of &€ceTermination Datea€ in its entirety as follows:a€ceTermination Datea€ means the earliest to occur of (a) the Final
Maturity Date, (b) the scheduled maturity date of any Approved SPV Facility (as defined in the Atalaya Corporate Loan Agreement) (including the
Tranche B Final Maturity Date (as defined in the Atalaya Revolving Credit Agreement)), solely to the extent that at least thirty (30) days prior to
the occurrence thereof, such date has not been extended to the Final Maturity Date (or any date thereafter), (c) the scheduled Maturity Date (as
defined in the Atalaya Corporate Loan Agreement), solely to the extent that at least thirty (30) days prior to the occurrence thereof, such date has
not been extended to the Final Maturity Date (or any date thereafter), and (d) the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default and the
declaration of all outstanding Obligations to be due and payable pursuant to Section 7.1.(c)amending and restating Section 2.1(a)(i) of the Existing
Credit Agreement in its entirety to insert the word a€ceoutstandinga€ as follows:(i) A A A A During the Revolving Commitment Period, subject to
the terms and conditions hereof, each Lender agrees from time to time to make loans to the Borrower (each a a€eLoana€ and collectively, the
a€celoansa€) in an aggregate outstanding amount up to but not exceeding its Revolving Commitment.(d)amending and restating Section 2.7(e) of
the Existing Credit Agreement in its entirety as follows:2[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement(e) A A A A For
the avoidance of doubt, at no time shall the Borrower be permitted to prepay the Loans in-part. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the
repayment of the Loans (i) pursuant to Section 2.10(a)(iv) or otherwise out of Collections on a Settlement Date, (ii) that does not result in any
reduction or termination of Revolving Commitments, so long as the outstanding principal balance of the Loans being repaid equals or exceeds the
Minimum Utilization Threshold (as defined in the Fee Letter) after giving effect to such repayment, and (iii) to cure a Borrowing Base Deficiency,
in each case, shall not constitute a prepayment.(e)amending and restating Section 5.11(b) of the Existing Credit Agreement in its entirety as
follows:(b) A A A A Liquidity. The Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the last day of each calendar month shall maintain unrestricted
Cash and/or Cash Equivalents of at least $[***].2.Limitation of Amendments.(a)The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the
purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of
any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall not,
directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i)A impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agenta€™s or any Lendera€™s right at
any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other
related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend
or alter any provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of
dealing or other basis for altering any obligation of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent
or any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any consent
(deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit
Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or
representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit
Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document.(b)This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of
the Existing Credit Agreement .3[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement3.Representations and Warranties.
(a)Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the performance by it of the Amended Credit
Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this
Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit Agreement.(b)Each Credit Party represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended
Credit Agreement, as applicable, constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective terms
hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in equity or at law)
or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting creditorsa€™ rights generally.(c)Each Credit
Party (with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of the Existing Credit
Agreement are true and correct in all material respects after giving effect to this Amendment on and as of the date hereof as though made on and
as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of
Default exists (after giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.
4.Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the satisfaction of the following
conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:(a)The Administrative Agent shall have received this
Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties;(b)After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties
contained herein and in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except
for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the Closing
Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time); and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
(c)Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all other amounts required to be paid pursuant to the Amended Credit
Agreement on the Closing Date and all outstanding Permitted Expenses for which Borrower has received an invoice.5.Ratifications. The terms and
provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement
and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified and superseded by this Amendment and that on and after the date hereof all
references in the other Credit Documents to the a€ceCredit Agreement,a€ a€cethereto,a€ d€cethereof,a€ a€cethereundera€ or words of like import
referring to the Existing 4[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit AgreementCredit Agreement shall mean and refer to the
Amended Credit Agreement, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents are ratified and
confirmed as of the Closing Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower and the Company each hereby agrees that all Liens and
security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward
as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit
Agreement and the other Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with
their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other
similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is
considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).6.Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that this
Amendment constitutes a 4€ceCredit Document.a€ Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any
representation or warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false in any material respect
when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of
such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any
Lender of such falsity.7.Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the negotiation, preparation,
execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit Agreement.8.Severability. Any provision of this
Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the
invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.9.Successors and Assigns.
This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective successors and
permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior
written consent of the Administrative Agent.10.Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto
on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of
a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.5[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreementl1.No Waiver.
Nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as a waiver by the Agents or the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing
Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, or of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and the Agents, and
the failure of the Lenders and the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties of any provision
thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders
hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment and any
other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and any one or more of the Agents and the Lenders.12.Headings. Article and Section
headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken
into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.13.Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).14.Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT
CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND
SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER



THEREOF.15.Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.16.Agent Instruction. By its execution hereof, each undersigned Lender and the
Castlelake Representative hereby authorize and direct the Agents to execute and deliver this Amendment on the date hereof. [SIGNATURE PAGES
FOLLOWI]A A A A 6[OppFunding SPE IX] Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit AgreementIN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto
has executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written. OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE IX, LLC,as BorrowerBy: /s/ Todd Schwartz

Name: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEOOPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller By:

/s/ Todd Schwartz Name: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEOOPPWIN, LLC,as a Seller By: /s/ Todd SChV\{aIA‘tZA _ Name:
Todd SchwartzTitle: CEO[Signature Page to Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement (OppFunding IX)JA A A A UMB BANK, N.A.,as
Administrative Agent and Collateral AgentBy: /s/ Scott Rosevear Name: Scott RosevearTitle: Senior Vice

PresidentRANDOLPH RECEIVABLES LLCas Castlelake Representative and a LenderBy: CIO II INVESTMENTS USA LLC, its managing
memberBy: /s/ Ben ThompsonName: Ben ThompsonTitle: Vice President[Signature Page to Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement
(OppFunding IX)JACKNOWLEDGED AND CONSENTED TO:OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE III, LLC,as a GuarantorBy: /s/ Todd Schwartz

Name: Todd SchwartzTitle: CEO[Signature Page to Amendment No. 4 to Revolving Credit Agreement (OppFunding
IX)]IDocumentEXHIBIT 31.1CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERPURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
20021, Todd G. Schwartz, certify that:1.I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;2.Based on my knowledge, this report
does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my
knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™s other
certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:a)Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;b)Designed such internal control over financial
reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based
on such evaluation; andd)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™ s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™s other
certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrantd€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):a)All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb)Any fraud, whether or not
material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial
reporting.Date: NovemberA 7, 2024/s/ Todd G. SchwartzTodd G. SchwartzChief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)DocumentEXHIBIT
31.2CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICERPURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 20021, Pamela D.
Johnson, certify that:1.1 have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;2.Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;3.Based on my knowledge, the financial
statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;4.The registranta€™ s other certifying officer(s) and
I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:a)Designed
such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;b)Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such
internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;c)Evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
andd)Disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and5.The registranta€™s other certifying officer(s) and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit
committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):a)All significant deficiencies and material
weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; andb)Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves
management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™ s internal control over financial reporting.Date: NovemberA 7,
2024/s/ Pamela D. JohnsonPamela D. JohnsonChief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)A A A A DocumentEXHIBIT
32.1CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICERPURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (d4€ceCompanya€) for the quarterly
period ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (4€ceReporta€), I, Todd G.
Schwartz, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350, as adopted
pursuant to SectionA 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:1.The Report fully complies with the requirements of
SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.A signed original of this written statement required by
SectionA 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the
electronic version of this written statement required by SectionA 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the
foregoing certification except as required by law./s/ Todd G. SchwartzTodd G. SchwartzChief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)Date:
NovemberA 7, 2024The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. A§A 1350 and is not being filed
as a part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.DocumentEXHIBIT 32.2CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICERPURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TOSECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002In
connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (4€ceCompanya€) for the quarterly period ended SeptemberA 30, 2024, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (&€ceReporta€), I, Pamela D. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
and Accounting Officer) of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectionA 1350, as adopted pursuant to SectionA 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:1.The Report fully complies with the requirements of SectionA 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and2.The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.A signed original of this written statement required by SectionA 906, or other document authenticating,
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by
SectionA 906, has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission
or its staff upon request.The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law./s/
Pamela D. JohnsonPamela D. JohnsonChief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)A A A A Date: NovemberA 7, 2024The
foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. A§A 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report
or as a separate disclosure document.




